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BASE PROSPECTUS DATED 17 JULY 2020

Morgan Stanley

as issuer and guarantor of the Notes issued by Morgan Stanley B.V. and Morgan Stanley Finance LLC
(incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in the United States of America)

MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc
as issuer
(incorporated with limited liability in England and Wales)

MORGAN STANLEY B.V.
as issuer
(incorporated with limited liability in The Netherlands)
MORGAN STANLEY FINANCE LLC
as issuer
(formed under the laws of the State of Delaware in the United States of America)

€2,000,000,000
FRENCH LAW PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES

Under this €2,000,000,000 Programme for the issuance of notes (the Programme) described in this base prospectus (the Base Prospectus),
Morgan Stanley (Morgan Stanley), Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc (MSIP or MSI plc) and Morgan Stanley B.V. (MSBV) and
Morgan Stanley Finance LLC (MSFL and, together with Morgan Stanley, MSIP and MSBV, the Issuers and each, an Issuer) may offer from
time to time Notes (the Notes) denominated in any currency agreed by the relevant Issuer and the Distribution Agent (as defined below).

References herein to "this Base Prospectus" shall, where applicable, be deemed to be references to this Base Prospectus as supplemented or
amended from time to time. To the extent not set forth in this Base Prospectus, the specific terms of any Notes will be included in the
appropriate Final Terms.

The payment of all amounts due in respect of Notes issued by MSBV or MSFL will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Morgan
Stanley in its capacity as guarantor (the Guarantor) pursuant to a guarantee dated as of 17 July 2020 (the Guarantee). Payment of amounts
due in respect of Notes issued by MSIP will not be guaranteed by Morgan Stanley.

Morgan Stanley, MSBV and MSFL are offering the Notes on a continuing basis through MSIP (which may act in whole or in part through an
affiliate thereof) (the Distribution Agent), who has agreed to use reasonable efforts to solicit, directly or through an affiliate, offers to
subscribe or to purchase the Notes. Morgan Stanley, MSBV and MSFL may also sell Notes to the Distribution Agent as principal for its own
account at a price to be agreed upon at the time of sale. The Distribution Agent may resell, directly or through an affiliate, any Notes it
purchases as principal at prevailing market prices, or at other prices, as it determines. Morgan Stanley, MSBV and MSFL or the Distribution
Agent may reject any offer to subscribe or to purchase Notes, in whole or in part. MSIP (including acting through its affiliates) will act as
distributor and offeror of the Notes issued by it. The Issuers may appoint from time to time additional distribution agents (either in relation
to the Programme generally or in relation to a particular Series of Notes). See "Subscription and Sale" below.

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Autorité des marchés financiers (the AMF) in France as competent authority pursuant to the
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities
are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market (the Prospectus Regulation). The AMF only approves this Base
Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval
should not be considered as an endorsement of either the Issuer or the Guarantor or the quality of the Notes that are the subject of this Base
Prospectus and investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes. Upon such approval, application
may be made for Notes issued under the Programme during a period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be listed and/or
admitted to trading on Euronext Paris or on any other regulated market in the European Union (each such regulated market, a Regulated
Market). Euronext Paris is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU as amended.
References in this Base Prospectus to securities being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such securities have been admitted
to trading on the regulated market Euronext Paris, on the regulated market or on the EuroMTF Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,
displayed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Securities Official List (LUXSE SOL) (without admission to trading) or listed and admitted to
trading on any other stock exchange(s) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Each Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes. The
relevant final terms (the Final Terms) (a form of which is contained herein) in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not




such Notes will be admitted to trading on Euronext Paris, on the regulated market or on the EuroMTF Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange, displayed on the LuxSE SOL (without admission to trading) or listed and admitted to trading on any other stock exchange(s). This
Base Prospectus and any supplement thereto will be published on the website of (a) the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and (b) the Issuers
(http://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents).

This Base Prospectus includes details of the long-term and short-term credit ratings assigned to (i) Morgan Stanley by DBRS, Inc. (DBRS),
Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch), Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (Moody's), Ratings and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I) and Standard & Poor's
Financial Services LLC through its business unit Standard & Poor's Global Ratings (S&P) and (ii) MSIP by Moody's and S&P. MSBYV is not
rated.

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, Morgan Stanley's short-term and long-term debt has been respectively rated (i) R-1 (middle) and A
(high), with a stable outlook, by DBRS, (ii) F1 and A, with a negative outlook, by Fitch, (iii) P-2 and A3, with a rating under review for
upgrade outlook, by Moody's, (iv) a-1 and A, with a stable outlook, by R&I and (v) A-2 and BBB+-, with a stable outlook, by S&P.

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, MSIP's short-term and long-term debt has been respectively rated (i) P-1 and A1, with a rating under
review for upgrade outlook, by Moody's and (ii) A-1 and A+, with a stable outlook, by S&P.

MSBYV is not rated.

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, MSFL's long-term debt has been respectively rated (i) A3, with a rating under review for upgrade
outlook, by Moody’s, (ii) BBB+, with a stable outlook, by S&P and (iii) A, with a negative outlook, by Fitch.

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. The rating of Notes, if any, will be disclosed in the Final Terms. A rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning credit
rating agency.

Notes will be issued outside the United States in dematerialised form, either in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) or registered
dematerialised form (au nominatif).

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms save that the minimum denomination at the
issue date of each Note admitted to trading on a regulated market within the EEA or in the United Kingdom or offered by way of non-exempt
offer in a Member State of the EEA or in the United Kingdom will be €1,000 (or the equivalent amount in the specified currency). The

aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding issued under the Programme shall not at any time exceed €2,000,000,000.
The Notes will be governed by French law and the Guarantee will be governed by New York law.

This Base Prospectus replaces and supersedes the Base Prospectus in relation to the Programme dated 18 July 2019.

The language of this Base Prospectus is French.

Investing in the Notes involves risks. See "Risk Factors" below.

Distribution Agent

Morgan Stanley & Co. International ple
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IMPORTANT NOTICES
PRIIPS/IMPORTANT — EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and
UK Retail Investors"”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic
Area (the EEA) or in the United Kingdom (the UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person
who is one (or more) of:

(A)  aretail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended
(MIFID I1);

(B) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU, as amended (the Insurance
Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

© not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation.

Consequently, if the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales
to EEA and UK Retail Investors”, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014, as amended (the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been or will be prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in
the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/TARGET MARKET

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID Il Product Governance
/ Target Market" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which
strategies for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to MIFID 1l is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution strategies.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance
Rules), any Distribution Agent subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes,
but otherwise neither the Distribution Agent nor any of its respective affiliates will be a manufacturer
for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.



THE NOTES, ANY INTEREST THEREIN AND THE GUARANTEE IN RESPECT THEREOF,
HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE SECURITIES ACT), OR THE SECURITIES
LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD,
PLEDGED, ASSIGNED, DELIVERED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, EXERCISED OR
REDEEMED AT ANY TIME, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES
(WHICH TERM INCLUDES THE TERRITORIES, THE POSSESSIONS AND ALL OTHER AREAS
SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES) OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT
OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT). SEE "SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE".

For payments in respect of a Note issued by Morgan Stanley or MSFL, in order to avoid U.S.
withholding taxes, the beneficial owner of the Note that is not a United States person (or a
financial institution holding the Note on behalf of the beneficial owner) is required to comply with
certain tax identification and certification requirements, generally by furnishing the appropriate
U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W- 8BEN or W-8BEN-E on which the beneficial owner
certifies under penalty of perjury that it is not a United States person. Certain tax identification
and certification requirements apply as well to holders of Notes of all Issuers with respect to
"FATCA". In addition, U.S. withholding taxes could be imposed in respect of certain Equity-
Linked Notes issued by any Issuer. See below under "*United States Federal Taxation™.

Each investor must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in
or from which the investor purchases, offers, sells or delivers the Notes or has in the investor's
possession or distributes this Base Prospectus or any accompanying Final Terms.

THE NOTES ARE NOT DEPOSITS OR SAVINGS ACCOUNTS AND ARE NOT INSURED BY
THE U.S. FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION OR ANY OTHER
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY OR INSTRUMENTALITY OR DEPOSIT PROTECTION SCHEME
ANYWHERE, NOR ARE THEY OBLIGATIONS OF, OR GUARANTEED BY, A BANK.

Hedging transactions involving “equity securities” of “domestic issuers” (as such terms are defined in
the Securities Act and regulations thereunder) may not be conducted unless in compliance with the
Securities Act.

No person has been authorised by any of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV or MSFL to give any
information or to make any representation not contained or incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus, and, if given or made, that information or representation should not be relied upon as having
been authorised by Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV or MSFL. Neither the delivery of this Base
Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes will, in any circumstances, create any
implication that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is true subsequent to the date hereof
or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that
there has been no adverse change in the financial situation of any of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV or
MSFL since the date hereof or, as the case may be, the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been
most recently amended or supplemented or the balance sheet date of the most recent financial statements
which have been incorporated into this Base Prospectus by way of a supplement to this Base Prospectus,
or that any other information supplied from time to time is correct at any time subsequent to the date on
which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. Investors
should review, inter alia, the most recent financial statements of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV and/or
MSFL (as applicable) when evaluating any Notes or an investment therein (such financial statements
shall not form a part of this Base Prospectus unless they have been expressly incorporated herein,
including by way of a supplement to this Base Prospectus).
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The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering, sale and delivery of Notes in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are
required by Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV and MSFL to inform themselves about and to observe those
restrictions.

The Issuers do not intend to provide post-issuance information in respect of the Notes except if required
by any applicable laws or regulations.

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed with any supplement thereto and with any other
documents incorporated by reference therein.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any
Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV
MSFL or the Distribution Agent that any recipient of this Base Prospectus should subscribe for or
purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Base Prospectus will be taken to have made its own
investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV
or MSFL (as applicable) and of the particular terms of any offered Notes.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms may be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation
by anyone in any jurisdiction in which that offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to
whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.

All references in this Base Prospectus to Sterling and £ are to the lawful currency of the United
Kingdom, all references to U.S. Dollars, U.S. and $ are to the lawful currency of the United States of
America, all references to Japanese Yen and ¥ are to the lawful currency of Japan, all references to
Swiss Francs and CHF are to the lawful currency of Switzerland, all references to Australian Dollars
and AUD are to the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia, all references to New Zealand
Dollars and NZD are to the lawful currency of New Zealand, and all references to euro, € and EUR are
to the lawful single currency of the member states of the European Union (each a Member State) who
have adopted and continue to retain a common single currency through monetary union in accordance
with European Union treaty law (as amended from time to time).

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE RELEVANT ISSUER AND, WHERE APPLICABLE, THE
GUARANTOR AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS
INVOLVED. THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY UNITED STATES
FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.
FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE
ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED
STATES.



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Base Prospectus (including the documents incorporated by reference) contains certain statements
that are forward-looking including statements with respect to the Issuers and Guarantor's business
strategies, expansion and growth of operations, trends in its business, competitive advantage, and
technological and regulatory changes, information on exchange rate risk and generally includes all
statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "believe", "expect”, "project",
"anticipate”, "seek", "estimate" or similar expressions. Such forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. Potential investors
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date hereof. These forward-looking statements do not constitute profit forecasts or estimates under the
Commission Delegated Regulation 2019/980 supplementing the Prospectus Regulation.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview describes the key features of the Notes that each Issuer may issue under the
Program in general terms only. Investors should read this general description together with the
more detailed information that is contained in this Base Prospectus and in the applicable Final

Terms.

This General Description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of
Article 25.1(b) of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 of 14 March 2019. It does not,
and is not intended to, constitute a summary of this Prospectus within the meaning of Article 7 of
the Prospectus Regulation or any implementing regulation thereof.

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base Prospectus.

Issuers
Guarantor

Distribution Agents

Fiscal Agent

Notes

Programme Amount

Issuance in Series

Forms of Notes

Morgan Stanley, MSI plc, MSBV, MSFL.
In the case of Notes issued by MSBV or MSFL, Morgan Stanley.

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc or any other entity
approved as such from the Morgan Stanley group.

Citibank N.A. London Branch.

Notes which are issued under this €2,000,000,000 Programme
for the issuance of notes (the Programme) are issued pursuant
to an agency agreement dated 17 July 2020 (the Agency
Agreement) between the Issuers, the Guarantor and Citibank
N.A. London Branch as fiscal agent. For the avoidance of doubt,
this Base Prospectus does not relate to or describe any securities
other than the Notes.

The Euro value, determined as of the respective issue dates, of
the aggregate principal amount of Notes issued under the
Programme which are outstanding shall not at any one time
exceed €2,000,000,000.

The maximum aggregate amount of Notes permitted to be
outstanding at any one time under this Programme may be
increased from time to time.

Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a
Series) and each Series may comprise one or more tranches
(each a Tranche) of Notes. Each Series may comprise one or
more Tranches issued on different issue dates and subject to
identical terms, except that the issue date and the amount of the
first payment of interest may be different in respect of different
Tranches.

Notes will be issued in dematerialised form.

Title to Notes will be evidenced in accordance with article L.
211-3 of the Code monétaire et financier by book entries
(inscriptions en compte). No physical document of title
(including certificats représentatifs pursuant to article R. 211-7
of the Code monétaire et financier) will be issued in respect of
Notes.



Terms and Conditions

Specified Currency

Status

Guarantee

Notes are issued, at the option of the Issuer, in either bearer
dematerialised form (au porteur), which will be inscribed in the
books of Euroclear France which shall credit the accounts of
Euroclear France Account Holders, or in registered
dematerialised form (nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the
option of the relevant Noteholder in either administered
registered form (nominatif administré) inscribed in the books of
a Euroclear France Account Holder or in fully registered form
(nominatif pur) inscribed in an account in the books of Euroclear
France maintained by the Issuer or by the Registration Agent
acting on behalf of the Issuer.

Each Tranche is the subject of a set of Final Terms (each, a Final
Terms) which complete these terms and conditions (the
Conditions) and specify, among other matters, the additional
terms and conditions set out in 0 (Additional Terms &
Conditions) below (the Additional Terms and Conditions), if
any, applicable in relation to such Series. The terms and
conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are
these Conditions (including the applicable provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions) as completed by the
applicable Final Terms.

Any lIssuer may issue Notes that are Equity-Linked Notes,
Currency-Linked Notes, Inflation-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked
Notes, Futures Contract-Linked Notes and/or any combination
thereof (each as defined in Condition 8 (Equity-Linked,
Currency-Linked, Inflation-Linked, Fund-Linked and Futures
Contract-Linked Notes Provisions) of "Terms and Conditions of
the Notes" hereof).

Notes may be denominated or payable in any currency as set out
in the applicable Final Terms, subject to all applicable consents
being obtained and compliance with all applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

Notes will be direct and general obligations of the relevant Issuer
which rank pari passu among themselves and pari passu with all
other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of
the Guarantor, present and future, but, in the event of insolvency,
only to the extent permitted by laws relating to creditors' rights.

With respect to MSIP Notes only, pursuant to the exercise of the
bail-in power by the U.K. Regulatory Authority, the outstanding
amount of Notes may be reduced (in whole or in part), converted
into equity (in whole or in part) or cancelled and/or the maturity
of the Notes or the amount of interest or the date on which the
interest becomes payable may be amended.

The payment of all amounts due in respect of Notes issued by
MSBV or MSFL will be unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by Morgan Stanley pursuant to a guarantee dated as
of 17 July 2020 (as supplemented and/or amended and/or
restated and/or replaced from time to time).



Issue Price

Maturities

Relevant Underlying:

Redemption

Early Redemption

Interest

Denominations

Payment of amounts due in respect of MSIP Notes are not
guaranteed by Morgan Stanley.

Notes may be issued at any price, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

Notes will have maturities as specified in the applicable Final
Terms, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

The interest and/or redemption amounts payable on Notes may
be linked to the value or performance of (each, a Relevant
Underlying) (i) one or more shares (such Notes, the Share-
Linked Notes), (i) one or more equity indices (such Notes, the
Index-Linked Notes), (iii) interests in one or more exchange
traded funds (such Notes, the ETF-Linked Notes), (iv) one or
more currencies (such Notes, the Currency-Linked Notes), (V)
one or more inflation indices (such Notes, the Inflation-Linked
Notes), (vi) interests in one or more funds (such Notes, the
Fund-Linked Notes), or (vii) one or more futures contracts
(such Notes, the Futures Contracts-Linked Notes).

Notes may be redeemed at Par or at such other amount as may
be specified as the Final Redemption Amount in the applicable
Final Terms. The amount payable on redemption of Derivative
Notes may be an amount which is linked to the performance of
the Relevant Underlying comprising one or more shares, indices,
exchange traded funds, currency pairs, inflation indices, funds,
futures contracts or a combination of any of the foregoing.

Notes may be redeemed early for tax reasons at the option of the
Issuer at the Early Redemption Amount specified in the Final
Terms or in case of illegality or regulatory reasons at an amount
representing either the fair market value of the Note less costs,
the fair market value of the Note or at Par. If so specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the Notes may also be redeemed early
at the option of the Issuer and/or at the option of any Noteholder
at the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) or the Optional
Redemption Amount (Put), as the case may be.

Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. Interest
(ifany) may accrue at a fixed rate (which may be zero), a floating
rate, a rate which varies during the lifetime of the relevant Series,
or a rate which is linked to the performance of a Relevant
Underlying. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event, will the
relevant Interest Amount be less than zero.

The minimum denomination at the issue date of each Note
admitted to trading on a EEA exchange and/or offered to the
public in an EEA State will be €1,000 (or, if the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent
amount in such currency).
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Taxation

Benefit Plan Investors

Use of Proceeds

Listing and admission
trading

to

All payments of principal and interest by the Issuers and the
Guarantor (if applicable) in respect of the Notes shall be made
free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of
whatsoever nature imposed, levied collected, withheld or
assessed by any jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such
withholding or deduction is required by law or agreement with
such taxing authority. None of the Issuers or the Guarantor (if
applicable) shall be required to make any additional payments
on account of any such withholding or deduction.

For payments in respect of a Note issued by Morgan Stanley or
MSFL, in order to avoid U.S. withholding taxes, the beneficial
owner of the Note that is not a United States person (or a
financial institution holding the Note on behalf of the beneficial
owner) is required to comply with certain tax identification and
certification requirements, generally by furnishing the
appropriate U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W- 8BEN or
W-8BEN-E published by the U.S Internal Revenue Service on
which the beneficial owner certifies under penalty of perjury that
it is not a United States person.

The Notes may not be acquired or held by, or acquired with the
assets of, any employee benefit plan subject to Title | of the
United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended ("ERISA"), any individual retirement account
or plan subject to Section 4975 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, or any entity whose underlying assets
include "plan assets" within the meaning of Section 3(42) of
ERISA by reason of any such employee benefit plan's account's
or plan's investment therein.

The net proceeds of each issue of Notes will be used by the
relevant Issuer for general corporate purposes and/or, in
connection with hedging its obligations under the Notes unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In respect of MSBV, at least 95% of the proceeds will be
invested (uitzetten) within the group of which it forms part.

MSFL intends to lend the net proceeds from the sale of the Notes
it offers to Morgan Stanley. Morgan Stanley intends to use the
proceeds from such loans for general corporate purposes.

Application may be made for Notes to be displayed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange Securities Official List (LUuxSE
SOL) (without admission to trading) or admitted to trading on
(a) Euronext Paris or (b) either of the regulated market or the
EuroMTF Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, or (c)
any other stock exchange(s) of the European Union.

Each Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes.
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Clearing Systems

Governing Law

Restrictions on sale to U.S.

Persons

Selling Restrictions

Certain Restrictions

Subordination

Euroclear France, Euroclear, Clearstream, and/or such other
relevant clearing system as may be specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

The Notes will be governed by French law (except in relation to
the Issuer’s right to repurchase Notes) and the Guarantee is
governed by New York law.

The Notes may not be offered, sold, pledged, assigned, delivered
or otherwise transferred, exercised or redeemed at any time,
directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. Persons (as defined in Regulation S
under the Securities Act).

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and
deliveries of the Notes and on the distribution of offering
material in the United States, the EEA, the United Kingdom and
the Netherlands, see "Subscription and Sale™ hereof.

In respect of Share-Linked Notes (as defined in the paragraph
headed "Relevant Underlying™" above), the issuer or issuers of
the specified share or shares to which such Share-Linked Notes
relate shall not be Morgan Stanley, MSI plc, MSBV or MSFL or
any legal entity belonging to the same group as Morgan Stanley,
MSI plc, MSBV or MSFL.

Structural subordination;, Morgan Stanley’s access to asSets
held by subsidiaries may be restricted: The Notes issued by
Morgan Stanley, including the guarantees of the Notes issued by
MSBV and MSFL, are Morgan Stanley’s unsecured senior
obligations, but Morgan Stanley’s assets consist primarily of
equity in, and receivables from, its subsidiaries.

As a result, Morgan Stanley’s ability (i) to make payments
on its Notes (ii) to make payments with respect to its
guarantee of Notes issued by MSBV and MSFL and (iii) to
pay dividends on its preferred stock and common stock, in
each case depends upon its receipt of dividends, loan
payments and other funds from its subsidiaries. In addition,
the direct creditors of any subsidiary will have a prior claim
on the subsidiary’s assets, if any, and Morgan Stanley’s
rights and the rights of its creditors, including a
Noteholder’s rights as an owner of Notes issued by Morgan
Stanley or a Noteholder’s rights under Morgan Stanley’s
guarantees of Notes issued by MSBV or MSFL, will be
subject to that prior claim, except to the extent that any
claims Morgan Stanley may have as a creditor of that
subsidiary are paid. This subordination of parent company
creditors to prior claims of creditors of subsidiaries over the
subsidiaries’ assets is referred to as structural
subordination.

In addition, various statutes and regulations restrict some of
Morgan Stanley’s subsidiaries from paying dividends or
making loans or advances to Morgan Stanley. These
restrictions could prevent those subsidiaries from paying the
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Status of Notes

cash to Morgan Stanley that it needs in order to pay
Noteholders. These restrictions include, without limitation:

e the net capital requirements under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules of
some exchanges and other regulatory bodies, which
apply to some of Morgan Stanley’s principal
subsidiaries, such as Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and
Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, and

e Dbanking regulations, which apply to Morgan
Stanley Bank, N.A., a national bank, Morgan
Stanley Private Bank, National Association
(formerly Morgan Stanley Trust FSB), a national
bank, and other bank subsidiaries of Morgan
Stanley.

Status of the MSI plc Notes; relationship with Morgan Stanley
securities: The Notes issued by MSI plc are its unsecured
obligations and holders of these Notes are direct creditors of
MSI plc.

Status of the MSBV Notes; relationship with Morgan Stanley
securities: The Notes issued by MSBV are its unsecured
obligations and holders of these Notes are direct creditors of
MSBYV, as well as direct creditors of Morgan Stanley under the
related guarantee. The Morgan Stanley guarantee will rank pari
passu with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of Morgan Stanley, present and future, but, in the
event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by laws
affecting creditors' rights.

Status of the MSFL Notes; relationship with Morgan Stanley
securities: The Notes issued by MSFL are its unsecured
obligations and holders of these Notes are direct creditors of
MSFL, as well as direct creditors of Morgan Stanley under the
related guarantee. As a finance subsidiary, MSFL has no
independent operations beyond the issuance and administration
of its securities and is expected to have no independent assets
available for distributions to holders of MSFL Notes if they
make claims in respect of the securities in a bankruptcy,
resolution or similar proceeding. Accordingly, any recoveries
by such holders will be limited to those available under the
related guarantee by Morgan Stanley and that guarantee will
rank pari passu with all other outstanding unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of Morgan Stanley, present and
future, but, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent
permitted by laws affecting creditors' rights. Holders of Notes
issued by MSFL should accordingly assume that in any such
proceedings they would not have any priority over and should
be treated pari passu with the claims of other unsecured,
unsubordinated creditors of Morgan Stanley, including holders
of Morgan Stanley-issued securities.
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Substitution

Pursuant to Condition 29.1 (Substitution of Issuer with Morgan
Stanley Group entities), the Issuer may be substituted for
Morgan Stanley (if the original Issuer is not Morgan Stanley) or
a subsidiary of Morgan Stanley without the consent of the
Noteholders.

If Condition 29.2 (Substitution of Issuer or Guarantor with non
Morgan Stanley Group entities), is specified as applicable to a
Series of Notes, the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of
MSBYV or MSFL Notes) may, subject to the Conditions set out
in Condition 29 (Substitution) including the rights of
Noteholders under Condition 29.6 (Right to Redemption in
respect of substitutions with non Morgan Stanley Group
entities), but without the consent of Noteholders, upon the
occurrence of a Substitution Event (as defined in Condition 29.2
(Substitution of Issuer or Guarantor with non Morgan Stanley
Group entities)), substitute for itself any entity which is not a
Morgan Stanley Group entity, provided that such entity satisfies
the requirements set out in Condition 29.2 (Substitution of Issuer
or Guarantor with non Morgan Stanley Group entities).

Upon a substitution of the Issuer or the Guarantor with a non
Morgan Stanley Group entity pursuant to Condition 29.2
(Substitution of Issuer or Guarantor with non Morgan Stanley
Group entities), Noteholders who object to the substitution will
have the right to require the Issuer to redeem their Notes at a
price determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition
29.6 (Right to Redemption in respect of substitutions with non
Morgan Stanley Group entities), by providing notice of their
intention to exercise such right in the manner set out in
Condition 29.6 (Right to Redemption in respect of substitutions
with non Morgan Stanley Group entities).
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should read the entire Base Prospectus (and where appropriate, any
relevant final terms and summary). Words and expressions defined elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus have the same meanings in this section.

Prospective investors should consider the factors described below and consult with their own
professional advisors if they consider it necessary. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor
believe that such factors represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued
under the Programme but the inability of an Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts
on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons, which may not be considered
significant risks by such Issuer based on information currently available to it or which it may
not currently be able to anticipate.

This section notably describes the most significant risks of investing in Notes linked to
shares, indices, ETFs, inflation indices, funds or futures contracts. Each investor should
carefully consider whether the Notes, as described herein and in the applicable Final
Terms, are suited to its particular circumstances before deciding to subscribe for or to
purchase any Notes.

An investment in Notes entails certain risks, which vary depending on the specific type and
structure of the relevant Note and the Relevant Underlying to which the Notes are linked. Such
risks can be divided into the following categories 1 to 7 (each a Risk Category):

1. Risk Factors relating to the Issuers and Guarantor (Risk Category 1), divided into sub-
categories (each a Sub-Category) which are the followings:

11 Risks relating to the financial situation of Morgan Stanley ...........ccccoovivenenenienen. 17
1.2 Risks relating to the operation of Morgan Stanley’s business activities..................... 40
13 Legal, regulatory and complianCe FisK.........ccccoveiieiiiiie s 45
14 Other risks relating to Morgan Stanley’s business activities ..........cccocvvvrieriesieenenneas 50
15 Risk factors SpecifiCc t0 MSBV .........ccciiiiiiiiii e 54
1.6 Risk factors Specific t0 MSIPIC. ... 55
1.7 Risk factors SPecifiC t0 MSFL ..........coiiiiiii e 58
2. Risks for the Noteholders as creditors of the Issuer (Risk Category 2) which is the
following:
2.1 CIEAIE TISK .ottt r ettt st et eneas 60
3. Risks related to the market generally (Risk Category 3) which are the followings:
3.1 Exchange rates may affect the value or return of the NOteS ..........cccccovevverivveienenn, 60
3.2 Secondary trading of the Notes may be limited..........cc.ccooveviveiiiiiieience e 60
3.3 Effect on the Notes of hedging transactions by the ISSUer...........ccccceveiieiiie e, 61
34 Payments on Notes issued by Morgan Stanley or MSFL may be subject to U.S.
withholding tax in Certain CirCUMSTANCES..........ccviiiiriie e 61
4, Risks related to specific provisions governing Noteholders’ rights under the Notes

(Risk Category 4) which are the followings:

4.1 Limited Events of Default under the NOES ..........cccveviiiiiiiiceecee e 62
4.2 MOdifiCation AN WAIVET ..........ooiiiiee ettt et 62
4.3 The Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, may be substituted by another entity.

.................................................................................................................................... 62
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5. Risks in connection with termination and adjustment rights due to event(s) affecting
the Relevant Underlying(s) (Risk Category 5) which are the followings:

5.1 Market Disruption Event, Disrupted Day, Adjustments and Early Redemption of Notes
.................................................................................................................................... 63
5.2 Determinations made by the Issuer and the Determination Agent in respect of Potential
Adjustment Events, Merger Events, Tender Offers, Delisting, Nationalisations,
Insolvencies and Additional Disruption Events may have an adverse effect on the value

Of the Share-LinKed NOTES .......coiiiii it 63
5.3 Exposure to Index Modification, Index Cancellation, Index Disruption,
Administrator/Benchmark Event and correction of Index levels.........ccccocveiiiiinnens 64
5.4 Administrator/Benchmark EVENTS..........cociiiiiiiiii ettt 65

55 LIBOR, EURIBOR and other benchmark rate discontinuance or prohibition on use may
lead to adjustments to the terms of the Notes or an early redemption of the Notes....65

6. Risk Factors relating to the Relevant Underlying(s) (Risk Category 6):

6.1 EXposure to emMerging Markel........cccceii it 66
6.2 Notes linked to the performance of funds..........c.cccevi i 67
6.3 Risks relating to INdex-Linked NOTES .........ccccoveiriiiiiicee e 68
6.4 Risks relating to Share-Linked NOTES .........cccoeiiiiiiiicre e 69
6.5 Risks Relating to Futures Contract-Linked NOES ..........cccccvvvieviieiic i 69
6.6 Risks associated with Relevant Underlying comprised of a Basket ...............c.cueuu.... 70
7. Risk Factors relating to the structure of a particular issue of Notes and certain product

features (Risk Category 7), divided into Sub-Categories which are the followings:

7.1 Risk of loss of principal for Notes whose redemption amount is determined by

referenCe t0 @ FOrMUIA.........cviiiie e 71
7.2 Risk of low or no returns for Notes whose returns is determined by reference to a
FOIMUIA. ...ttt sr et eneas
.................................................................................................................................... 72
7.3 Risk relating to the early redemption of the NOtES .........ccoeieiiiiiiiiie 73
7.4 Notes issued at a substantial discount or Premium ..........ccccvvveeveiecic e 74

The most material risk or risks in each Risk Category or Sub-Category are specified first in
each such category or sub-category, as the case may be.

Risk Factors relating to the Issuers and Guarantor

Risk factors are presented on the basis of an evaluation of their materiality, with the most
material risks indicated first within each category. The risk exposure or measurement figures
included in the risk factors provide information on the Group’s exposure level but are not
necessarily representative of future evolution.

Morgan Stanley is the ultimate parent company of the Morgan Stanley group of companies
(Morgan Stanley and its consolidated subsidiaries, the Morgan Stanley Group). Morgan
Stanley B.V., Morgan Stanley Finance LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc are
part of the Morgan Stanley Group.

All material assets of Morgan Stanley B.V. and Morgan Stanley Finance LLC are obligations

of one or more of the Morgan Stanley Group companies and securities issued by Morgan
Stanley B.V. and Morgan Stanley Finance LLC are guaranteed by Morgan Stanley.
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There are substantial inter-relationships between Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc and
Morgan Stanley as well as other Morgan Stanley Group companies, including the provision of
funding, capital services and logistical support to or by Morgan Stanley & Co. International
plc, as well as common or shared business or operational platforms or systems, including
employees.

The principal risks with respect to Morgan Stanley described below will also represent (together
with the risk factors specific to such entities as described below) the principal risks with respect
to Morgan Stanley B.V., Morgan Stanley Finance LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. International
plc, either as individual entities or as part of the Morgan Stanley Group.

Risks relating to the financial situation of Morgan Stanley

The results of operations of Morgan Stanley have been, and will likely continue to be,
adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has, and will likely continue to, severely
impact global economic conditions, resulting in substantial volatility in the global financial
markets, increased unemployment, and operational challenges such as the temporary closures
of businesses, sheltering-in-place directives and increased remote work protocols.
Governments and central banks around the world have reacted to the economic crisis caused
by the pandemic by implementing stimulus and liquidity programs and cutting interest rates,
though it is unclear whether these or future actions will be successful in countering the
economic disruption. If the pandemic is prolonged or the actions of governments and central
banks are unsuccessful, the adverse impact on the global economy will deepen, and Morgan
Stanley’s results of operations and financial condition in future quarters will be adversely
affected.

Towards the end of the first quarter of 2020 and into April 2020, the pandemic impacted each
of Morgan Stanley’s business segments and such impact will likely be greater in future quarters
if conditions persist (e.g., decline and volatility of asset prices, reduction in interest rates,
widening of credit spreads, credit deterioration, market volatility and reduced investment
banking advisory activity). This resulted in significant decreases in the valuation of loans and
commitments, investments and certain classes of trading assets, an increase in the allowance
for credit losses, reduced net interest income, and reduced investment banking advisory fees.
At the same time, increased revenues for certain products related to high levels of client trading
activity, as well as balance sheet growth from increased deposits and derivative assets, may
not be replicated in future quarters.

Should these global market conditions be prolonged or worsen, or the pandemic lead to
additional market disruptions, Morgan Stanley could experience reduced client activity and
demand for Morgan Stanley’s products and services, higher credit and valuation losses in
Morgan Stanley’s loan and commitment and investment portfolios, impairments of other
financial assets and other negative impacts on Morgan Stanley’s financial position, including
possible constraints on capital and liquidity, as well as a higher cost of capital, and possible
changes or downgrades to Morgan Stanley’s credit ratings. In addition, the sharp decline in
interest rates will further decrease interest margins in Morgan Stanley’s lending businesses
across Wealth Management and Institutional Securities. A continued slowdown of commercial
activity would cause overall investment banking revenues to decline and the decline in assets
under management and client balances will also further reduce fee and financing revenues
across all of Morgan Stanley’s business segments.

Operationally, although Morgan Stanley has initiated a work remotely protocol and restricted
business travel of Morgan Stanley’s workforce, if significant portions of Morgan Stanley’s
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workforce, including key personnel, are unable to work effectively because of illness,
government actions, or other restrictions in connection with the pandemic, the impact of the
pandemic on Morgan Stanley’s businesses could be exacerbated.

While the COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted Morgan Stanley’s results of operations in
the first quarter of 2020, the extent to which it, and the related global economic crisis, affect
Morgan Stanley’s businesses, results of operations and financial condition, as well as Morgan
Stanley’s regulatory capital and liquidity ratios, will depend on future developments that are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and
any recovery period, future actions taken by governmental authorities, central banks and other
third parties in response to the pandemic, and the effects on Morgan Stanley’s customers,
counterparties, employees and third-party service providers. Moreover, the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic will heighten the other risks described in the section entitled “Risk
Factors” in Morgan Stanley’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and any subsequent
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Current Report on Form 8-K.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising when a borrower, counterparty or issuer does not
meet its financial obligations to Morgan Stanley. For more information on how Morgan Stanley
monitors and manages credit risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—
Credit Risk” on pages 65 to 70 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is
incorporated by reference therein and from which the quantitative data reproduced in the
paragraph “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk— Credit Risk ” below this risk
factor are extracted.

Morgan Stanley is exposed to the risk that third parties that are indebted to it will not perform
their obligations.

Morgan Stanley incurs significant credit risk exposure through its Institutional Securities
business segment. This risk may arise from a variety of business activities, including, but not
limited to: extending credit to clients through various lending commitments; entering into swap
or other derivative contracts under which counterparties have obligations to make payments to
Morgan Stanley; providing short- or long-term funding that is secured by physical or financial
collateral whose value may at times be insufficient to fully cover the loan repayment amount;
posting margin and/or collateral and other commitments to clearing houses, clearing agencies,
exchanges, banks, securities firms and other financial counterparties; and investing and trading
in securities and loan pools whereby the value of these assets may fluctuate based on realised
or expected defaults on the underlying obligations or loans.

Morgan Stanley also incurs credit risk in its Wealth Management business segment lending to
mainly individual investors, including, but not limited to, margin- and securities-based loans
collateralised by securities, residential mortgage loans and home equity lines of credit.

Morgan Stanley’s valuations related to, and reserves for losses on, credit exposures rely on
complex models, estimates, and subjective judgments about the future. While Morgan Stanley
believes current valuations and reserves adequately address its perceived levels of risk, future
economic conditions that differ from or are more severe than forecast, inaccurate models or
assumptions, or external factors such as natural disasters, could lead to inaccurate measurement
of or deterioration of credit quality of its borrowers and counterparties or the value of collateral
and result in unexpected losses. In addition, Morgan Stanley may incur higher than anticipated
credit losses in periods of market illiquidity or as a result of disputes with counterparties over
the valuation of collateral during periods of economic stress.
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Certain of Morgan Stanley’s credit exposures are concentrated by product, industry or country.
Although Morgan Stanley’s models and estimates account for correlations among related types
of exposures, a change in the market environment for a concentrated product or an external
factor impacting a concentrated industry or country may result in credit losses in excess of
amounts forecast. Concentrations of credit risk are managed through Morgan Stanley’s
comprehensive and global Credit Limits Framework.

In addition, as a clearing member of several central counterparties, Morgan Stanley is
responsible for the defaults or misconduct of its customers and could incur financial losses in
the event of default by other clearing members. Although Morgan Stanley regularly reviews its
credit exposures, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect
or foresee.

A default by a large financial institution could adversely affect financial markets.

The commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely interrelated as a result
of credit, trading, clearing or other relationships among the institutions. Increased centralisation
of trading activities through particular clearing houses, central agents or exchanges as required
by provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-
Frank Act) may increase Morgan Stanley's concentration of risk with respect to these entities.
As a result, concerns about, or a default or threatened default by, one institution could lead to
significant market-wide liquidity and credit problems, losses or defaults by other institutions.
This is sometimes referred to as systemic risk and may adversely affect financial intermediaries,
such as clearing houses, clearing agencies, exchanges, banks and securities firms, with which
Morgan Stanley interacts on a daily basis and, therefore, could adversely affect Morgan Stanley.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk— Credit Risk
For more information on how Morgan Stanley monitors and manages credit risk, see
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Credit Risk” on pages 65 to 70 of the
2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein and from which
the quantitative data reproduced in the paragraphs below are extracted.

Morgan Stanley primarily incurs credit risk to institutions and individuals through its
Institutional Securities and Wealth Management business segments.

Morgan Stanley incurs credit risk in its Institutional Securities business segment through a
variety of activities, including, but not limited to, the following:

. extending credit to clients through loans and lending commitments;

. entering into swap or other derivative contracts under which counterparties may have
obligations to make payments to us;

. providing short- or long-term funding that is secured by physical or financial collateral
whose value may at times be insufficient to fully cover the repayment amount;

. posting margin and/or collateral to clearinghouses, clearing agencies, exchanges,
banks, securities firms and other financial counterparties;

. placing funds on deposit at other financial institutions to support its clearing and
settlement obligations; and
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. investing or trading in securities and loan pools, whereby the value of these assets may
fluctuate based on realized or expected defaults on the underlying obligations or loans.

Morgan Stanley incurs credit risk in its Wealth Management business segment, primarily
through lending to individuals and entities, including, but not limited to, the following:

. margin loans collateralized by securities;

. securities-based lending and other forms of secured loans, including tailored lending,
to high net worth clients;

. single-family residential mortgage loans in conforming, non- conforming or HELOC
form, primarily to existing Wealth Management clients; and

. employee loans granted primarily to recruit certain Wealth Management
representatives.

Loans and Lending Commitments
At December 31, 2019

$ in millions IS WM IM? Total
Corporate $ 30431% 18320 % 5% 48,756
Consumer — 31,610 — 31,610
Residential real estate — 30,184 — 30,184
Commercial real estate 7,859 — — 7,859
Loans held for investment, gross of

allowance 38,290 80,114 5 118,409
Allowance for loan losses (297) (52) — (349)
Loans held for investment, net of

allowance 37,993 80,062 5 118,060
Corporate 10,515 — — 10,515
Residential real estate — 13 — 13
Commercial real estate 2,049 — — 2,049
Loans held for sale 12,564 13 — 12,577
Corporate 7,785 — 251 8,036
Residential real estate 1,192 — — 1,192
Commercial real estate 2,098 — — 2,098
Loans held at fair value 11,075 — 251 11,326
Total loans 61,632 80,075 256 141,963
Lending commitments? 106,886 13,161 21 120,068
Total loans and lending

commitments? $ 168,518 $ 93,236 $ 277 $ 262,031
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At December 31, 2018

$ in millions 1S WM IM? Total
Corporate $ 20020% 16,884 % 5% 36,909
Consumer — 27,868 — 27,868
Residential real estate — 27,466 — 27,466
Commercial real estate® 7,810 — — 7,810
Loans held for investment, gross of

allowance 27,830 72,218 5 100,053
Allowance for loan losses (193) (45) — (238)
Loans held for investment, net of

allowance 27,637 72,173 5 99,815
Corporate 13,886 — — 13,886
Residential real estate 1 21 — 22
Commercial real estate® 1,856 — — 1,856
Loans held for sale 15,743 21 — 15,764
Corporate 9,150 — 21 9,171
Residential real estate 1,153 — — 1,153
Commercial real estate® 601 — — 601
Loans held at fair value 10,904 — 21 10,925
Total loans 54,284 72,194 26 126,504
Lending commitments? 95,065 10,663 — 105,728
Total loans and lending

commitments? $ 149349 % 82857 $ 26 $ 232,232

. Investment Management business segment loans are related to certain of our activities as an investment advisor and manager. At December 31, 2019, loans held at fair
value are the result of the consolidation of a CLO, managed by Investment Management, composed primarily of senior secured corporate loans.

. Lending commitments represent the notional amount of legally binding obligations to provide funding to clients for lending transactions. Since commitments associated
with these business activities may expire unused or may not be utilized to full capacity, they do not necessarily reflect the actual future cash funding requirements.

. Beginning in 2019, loans previously referred to as Wholesale real estate are referred to as Commercial real estate.

Morgan Stanley provides loans and lending commitments to a variety of Loans customers, from
large corporate and institutional clients to high net worth individuals. In addition, Morgan
Stanley purchases loans in the secondary market. Loans and lending commitments are either
held for investment, held for sale or carried at fair value. In 2019, total loans and lending
commitments increased by approximately $30 billion, primarily in Corporate within the
Institutional Securities business segment due to growth in secured lending facilities and
increases in event- driven lending commitments. Also contributing to the increase was growth
in Consumer securities-based lending, Residential real estate loans and tailored lending within
the Management business segment.

Allowance for Loans and Lending Commitments Held for Investment

At At
December 31, December 31,
$ in millions 2019 2018
Loans $ 349 $ 238
Lending commitments 241 203
Total allowance for loans and
lending commitments $ 590 $ 441

Credit exposure arising from its loans and lending commitments is measured in accordance
with its internal risk management standards. Risk factors considered in determining the
aggregate allowance for loan and commitment losses include the borrower’s financial strength,
industry, facility structure, loan-to-value ratio, debt service ratio, collateral and covenants.
Qualitative and environmental factors such as economic and business conditions, nature and
volume of the portfolio and lending terms, and volume and severity of past due loans may also
be considered.
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The aggregate allowance for loans and lending commitment losses increased during 2019,
primarily within the Institutional Securities business segment due to loan and lending
commitment growth, deterioration of select credits and certain environmental factors.

Status of Loans Held for Investment
At December 31, 2019 At December 31, 2018

1S WM IS WM
Current 99.0% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9%
Nonaccrual* 1.0% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1%

1. These loans are on nonaccrual status because the loans were past due for a period of 90 days or more or payment of principal or interest was in doubt.

Institutional Securities Loans and Lending Commitments
At December 31, 2019
Contractual Years to Maturity

$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total
Loans
AA $ 7% 50 $ —$ 5% 62
A 955 923 516 277 2,671
BBB 2,297 5,589 3,592 949 12,427
NIG 13,051 16,824 12,047 2,592 44,514
Unrated? 117 82 131 1,628 1,958
Total loans 16,427 23,468 16,286 5,451 61,632
Lending commitments
AAA — 50 — — 50
AA 2,838 908 2,509 — 6,255
A 6,461 7,287 9,371 298 23,417
BBB 7,548 13,780 20,560 753 42,641
NIG 4,657 10,351 15,395 3,997 34,400
Unrated? — 9 107 7 123
Total lending

commitments 21,504 32,385 47,942 5,055 106,886
Total exposure $ 37931 $ 55853 % 64,228% 10506 $ 168,518

At December 31, 2018
Contractual Years to Maturity

$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total
Loans
AA $ 7% 430 $ —3 19 % 456
A 565 1,580 858 267 3,270
BBB 3,775 4,697 4,251 495 13,218
NIG 7,151 12,882 9,313 5,889 35,235
Unrated? 88 95 160 1,762 2,105
Total loans 11,586 19,684 14,582 8,432 54,284
Lending commitments
AAA 90 75 — — 165
AA 2,491 1,177 2,863 — 6,531
A 2,892 6,006 9,895 502 19,295
BBB 2,993 11,825 19,461 638 34,917
NIG 1,681 10,604 16,075 5,751 34,111
Unrated? 8 — 38 — 46
Total lending

commitments 10,155 29,687 48,332 6,801 95,065
Total exposure $ 21,741 $ 49371 $ 62914 $ 15323 $ 149,349

NIG—Non-investment grade

1. Counterparty credit ratings are internally determined by CRM.

2. Unrated loans and lending commitments are primarily trading positions that are measured at fair value and risk managed as a component of market risk. For a further
discussion of our market risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Market Risk™ herein.

-22 -



Institutional Securities Loans and Lending Commitments by Industry

At At
December 31, December 31,

$ in millions 2019 2018

Financials $ 40,992 $ 32,655
Real estate 28,348 24,133
Healthcare 14,113 10,158
Industrials 13,136 13,701
Communications services 12,165 11,244
Utilities 9,905 9,856
Consumer staples 9,724 7,921
Consumer discretionary 9,589 8,314
Energy 9,461 9,847
Information technology 9,201 9,896
Materials 5,577 5,969
Insurance 3,755 3,744
Other 2,552 1,911
Total $ 168,518 $ 149,349

The principal Institutional Securities business segment lending activities include Corporate and
Commercial real estate loans. Morgan Stanley’s loans and lending commitments may have
varying terms; may be senior or subordinated; may be secured or unsecured; are generally
contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the
borrower; and may be syndicated, traded or hedged by us.

Morgan Stanley also extends short- and long-term secured lending facilities with various types
of collateral, including residential real estate, commercial real estate, corporate and financial
assets. These collateralized loans and lending commitments generally provide for
overcollateralization. Credit risk with respect to these loans and lending commitments arises
from the failure of a borrower to perform according to the terms of the loan agreement and/or
a decline in the underlying collateral value. Morgan Stanley monitors collateral levels against
the requirements of lending agreements. In addition, Morgan Stanley participates in
securitization activities whereby it transfers certain loans, primarily Commercial real estate, to
a special purpose entity (SPE), which in turn securitizes the loans.

Institutional Securities Corporate Loans!

At At
December 31, December 31,
$ in millions 2019 2018

Corporate relationship and

event-driven lendina? $ 11,638 $ 13317

Secured lending facilities® 29,654 21,408
Securities-based lending and other* 7,439 8,331
Total Corporate $ 48,731 $ 43,056

. Amounts include loans held for investment, gross of allowance, loans held for sale and loans measured at fair value. Loans at fair value are included in Trading assets in
the balance sheets.

. Relationship and event-driven loans typically consist of revolving lines of credit, term loans and bridge loans. For additional information on event-driven loans, see
“Institutional Securities Event-Driven Loans and Lending Commitments™ herein.

. Secured lending facilities includes loans provided to clients to warehouse loans secured by underlying real estate and other assets.

. Securities-based lending and other includes financing extended to sales and trading customers and corporate loans purchased in the secondary market.
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Institutional Securities Event-Driven Loans and Lending Commitments

At December 31, 2019
Contractual Years to Maturity

$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total
Loans $ 1,194 % 1024% 839% 390% 3447
Lending commitments 7,921 5,012 2,285 3,090 18,308
Total loans and lending

commitments $ 9,115% 6,036 $ 3,124 $ 3,480 $ 21,755

At December 31, 2018
Contractual Years to Maturity

$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total
Loans $ 2582% 287$ 656% 1618% 5143
Lending commitments 1,506 2,456 2,877 3,658 10,497
Total loans and lending

commitments $ 4,088 $ 2743 $ 3533 % 5276$ 15,640

Event-driven loans and lending commitments, which comprise a portion of corporate loans and
lending commitments, are associated with a particular event or transaction, such as to support
client merger, acquisition, recapitalization or project finance activities. Balances may fluctuate
as such lending is related to transactions that vary in timing and size from period to period.

Wealth Management Loans and Lending Commitments

At December 31, 2019

Contractual Years to Maturity

$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total

Securities-based lending and
other loans $ 41863 % 3972% 2,783 $ 1,284 $ 49,902

Residential real estate loans

13 11 — 30,149 30,173

Total loans $ 41,876 $ 3,983 $ 2,783 $ 31,433 $ 80,075

Lending commitments 10,219 2,564 71 307 13,161
Total loans and lending

commitments $ 52,095 % 6,547 $ 2,854 $ 31,740 $ 93,236

At December 31, 2018
Contractual Years to Maturity
$ in millions Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total

Securities-based lending and
other loans $ 38,144 $ 3,573 $ 2,004 $ 1,006 $ 44,727

Residential real estate loans

30 1 27436 27,467

Total loans $ 38,144 $ 3,603 $ 2,005$ 28442 $ 72,194

Lending commitments 9,197 1,151 42 273 10,663
Total loans and lending

commitments $ 47341 $ 4,754 $ 2,047 $ 28,715 $ 82,857

The principal Wealth Management business segment lending activities include securities-based
lending and residential real estate loans.

Securities-based lending allows clients to borrow money against the value of qualifying
securities, generally for any purpose other than purchasing securities. Morgan Stanley
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establishes approved credit lines against qualifying securities and monitor limits daily and,
pursuant to such guidelines, require customers to deposit additional collateral, or reduce debt
positions, when necessary. These credit lines are primarily uncommitted loan facilities, as
Morgan Stanley reserves the right to not make any advances or may terminate these credit lines
at any time. Factors considered in the review of these loans include, but are not limited to, the
loan amount, the client’s credit profile, the degree of leverage, collateral diversification, price
volatility and liquidity of the collateral.

Residential real estate loans consist of first and second lien mortgages, including HELOCs.
Morgan Stanley’s underwriting policy is designed to ensure that all borrowers pass an
assessment of capacity and willingness to pay, which includes an analysis utilizing industry
standard credit scoring models (e.g., FICO scores), debt-to-income ratios and assets of the
borrower. Loan- to-value ratios are determined based on independent third-party property
appraisals and valuations, and security lien positions are established through title and ownership
reports. The vast majority of mortgage loans, including HELOCsS, are held for investment in
the Wealth Management business segment’s loan portfolio.

In 2019, Loans and Lending commitments associated with the Wealth Management business
segment increased by approximately 13%, primarily due to growth in Securities-based lending,
Residential real estate loans, and tailored lending.

Customer and Other Receivables

Margin Loans
At December 31, 2019

$ in millions 1S WM Total
Customer receivables representing margin
loans $ 22216$ 9,700% 31,916

At December 31, 2018
$ in millions 1S WM Total

Customer receivables representing margin
loans $ 14842$ 11,383 % 26,225

The Institutional Securities and Wealth Management business segments provide margin lending
arrangements, which allow customers to borrow against the value of qualifying securities.
Margin lending activities generally have minimal credit risk due to the value of collateral held
and their short-term nature. Amounts may fluctuate from period to period as overall client
balances change as a result of market levels, client positioning and leverage.

Employee Loans

At At
December 31, December 31,

$ in millions 2019 2018
Balance $ 2,980 $ 3,415
Allowance for loan losses (61) (63)
Balance, net $ 2919 $ 3,352
Remaining repayment term, weighted average in

years 4.8 4.3

In 2019, the balance of employee loans decreased as a result of the roll-off of certain
acquisition-related employee retention loans and repayments, partially offset by new note
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issuances. Employee loans are granted in conjunction with a program established primarily to
recruit certain Wealth Management representatives, are full recourse and generally require
periodic repayments. Morgan Stanley establishes an allowance for loan amounts it does not
consider recoverable, and the related provision is recorded in Compensation and benefits
expense.

Derivatives

Fair Value of OTC Derivative Assets

Counterparty Credit Rating®

$ in millions AAA AA A BBB NIG Total
At December 31, 2019
<1 year $ 371 $ 9195% 31,789 $ 22,757 $ 6,328 $ 70,440
1-3 years 378 5,150 17,707 11,495 9,016 43,746
3-5 years 502 4,448 9,903 6,881 3,421 25,155
Over 5 years 3,689 24,675 70,765 40,542 14,587 154,258
Total, gross $ 4940 $ 43468 $ 130,164 $ 81,675 $ 33,352 $ 293,599
Counterparty netting (2,172)  (33,521) (103,452)  (62,345)  (19,514) (221,004)
Cash and securities

collateral (2,641) (8,134)  (22,319)  (14570)  (10,475)  (58,139)
Total, net $ 127 $ 1813 $ 4,393 $ 4,760 $ 3,363 $ 14,456

Counterparty Credit Rating*

$ in millions AAA AA A BBB NIG Total
At December 31, 2018
<1 year $ 878$ 7430$ 38718% 15009% 7,183 % 69,218
1-3 years 664 2,362 22,239 10,255 7,097 42,617
3-5 years 621 2,096 11,673 6,014 2,751 23,155
Over 5 years 3,535 9,725 67,166 36,087 11,112 127,625
Total, gross $ 5698% 21613$ 139,796 $ 67,365 $ 28,143 $ 262,615
Counterparty netting (2,325)  (13,771) (113,045  (49,658)  (16,681) (195,480)
Cash and securities

collateral (3,214) (5766)  (21,931)  (12,702) (8,269)  (51,882)
Total, net $ 159 2076$ 4820$% 5005$ 3193$ 15253

At At
& in millions December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

Industry
Utilities $ 4,275 $ 4,324
Financials 3,448 4,480
Healthcare 991 787
Industrials 914 1,335
Regional governments 791 779
Information technology 659 695
Not-for-profit organizations 657 583
Energy 524 199
Sovereign governments 403 385
Communications services 381 373
Consumer discretionary 370 188
Materials 325 275
Real estate 315 283
Insurance 214 235
Consumer staples 129 216
Other 60 116
Total $ 14,456 $ 15,253

1. Counterparty credit ratings are determined internally by CRM.
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Morgan Stanley incurs credit risk as a dealer in OTC derivatives. Credit risk with respect to
derivative instruments arises from the possibility that a counterparty may fail to perform
according to the terms of the contract.

Credit Derivatives

A credit derivative is a contract between a seller and buyer of protection against the risk of a
credit event occurring on one or more debt obligations issued by a specified reference entity.
The buyer typically pays a periodic premium over the life of the contract and is protected for
the period. If a credit event occurs, defined events: bankruptcy, dissolution or insolvency of the
referenced entity, failure to pay, obligation acceleration, repudiation, payment moratorium and
restructuring.

Morgan Stanley trades in a variety of credit derivatives and may either purchase or write
protection on a single name or portfolio of referenced entities. In transactions referencing a
portfolio of entities or securities, protection may be limited to a tranche of exposure or a single
name within the portfolio. Morgan Stanley is an active market maker in the credit derivatives
markets. As a market maker, Morgan Stanley works to earn a bid-offer spread on client flow
business and manage any residual credit or correlation risk on a portfolio basis. Further, Morgan
Stanley uses credit derivatives to manage its exposure to residential and commercial mortgage
loans and corporate lending exposures. The effectiveness of its CDS protection as a hedge of
its exposures may vary depending upon a number of factors, including the contractual terms of
the CDS.

Morgan Stanley actively monitors its counterparty credit risk related to credit derivatives. A
majority of its counterparties are composed of banks, broker-dealers, insurance and other
financial institutions.

Contracts with these counterparties may include provisions related to counterparty rating
downgrades, which may result in the counterparty posting additional collateral to us. As with
all derivative contracts, Morgan Stanley considers counterparty credit risk in the valuation of
its positions and recognizes CVAs as appropriate within Trading revenues in the income
statements.

Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates,
indices, volatilities, correlations or other market factors, such as market liquidity, will result in
losses for a position or portfolio owned by Morgan Stanley. For more information on how
Morgan Stanley monitors and manages market risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Risk—Market Risk” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Risk—Country Risk” on pages 61 to 65 and 70 to 72, respectively, of the 2019 Morgan Stanley
Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein and from which the quantitative data
reproduced in the paragraphs “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Market
Risk” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Country Risk” below this risk
factor are extracted.

Morgan Stanley’s results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and
by global and economic conditions and other factors, including changes in asset values.

Morgan Stanley's results of operations have been in the past and may, in the future, be
materially affected by market fluctuations due to global financial markets, economic
conditions, changes to global trade policies and tariffs and other factors, including the level and
volatility of equity, fixed income and commodity prices, the level and term structure of interest
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rates, inflation and currency values, and the level of other market indices. The results of Morgan
Stanley's Institutional Securities business segment, particularly results relating to Morgan
Stanley's involvement in primary and secondary markets for all types of financial products, are
subject to substantial market fluctuations due to a variety of factors that Morgan Stanley cannot
control or predict with great certainty. These fluctuations impact results by causing variations
in business flows and activity and in the fair value of securities and other financial products.
Fluctuations also occur due to the level of global market activity, which, among other things,
affects the size, number and timing of investment banking client assignments and transactions
and the realisation of returns from Morgan Stanley's principal investments. During periods of
unfavourable market or economic conditions, the level of individual investor participation in
the global markets, as well as the level of client assets, may also decrease, which would
negatively impact the results of Morgan Stanley's Wealth Management business segment.
Substantial market fluctuations could also cause variations in the value of Morgan Stanlay’s
investments in its funds, the flow of investment capital into or from assets under management
or supervision and the way customers allocate capital among money market, equity, fixed
income or other investment alternatives, which could negatively impact Morgan Stanley's
Investment Management business segment.

The value of Morgan Stanley's financial instruments may be materially affected by market
fluctuations. Market volatility, illiquid market conditions and disruptions in the credit markets
may make it extremely difficult to value and monetise certain of Morgan Stanley's financial
instruments, particularly during periods of market displacement. Subsequent valuations in
future periods, in light of factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes in the values
of these instruments and may adversely impact historical or prospective fees and performance-
based fees (also known as incentive fees, which include carried interest) in respect of certain
businesses. In addition, at the time of any sales and settlements of these financial instruments,
the price Morgan Stanley ultimately realises will depend on the demand and liquidity in the
market at that time and may be materially lower than their current fair value. Any of these
factors could cause a decline in the value of Morgan Stanley's financial instruments, which may
have an adverse effect on its results of operations in future periods.

In addition, financial markets are susceptible to severe events evidenced by rapid depreciation
in asset values accompanied by a reduction in asset liquidity. Under these extreme conditions,
hedging and other risk management strategies may not be as effective at mitigating trading
losses as they would be under more normal market conditions. Moreover, under these
conditions market participants are particularly exposed to trading strategies employed by many
market participants simultaneously and on a large scale. Morgan Stanley's risk management
and monitoring processes seek to quantify and mitigate risk to more extreme market moves.
However, severe market events have historically been difficult to predict and Morgan Stanley
could realise significant losses if extreme market events were to occur.

Holding large and concentrated positions may expose Morgan Stanley to losses.

Concentration of risk may reduce revenues or result in losses in Morgan Stanley's market-
making, investing, underwriting including block trading, and lending businesses in the event of
unfavourable market movements, or when market conditions are more favourable for its
competitors. Morgan Stanley commits substantial amounts of capital to these businesses, which
often results in its taking large positions in the securities of, or making large loans to, a
particular issuer or issuers in a particular industry, country or region.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Market Risk

For more information on how Morgan Stanley monitors and manages market risk, see
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Market Risk” on pages 61 to 65 of the
2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein and from
which the quantitative data reproduced in the paragraphs below are extracted.

Generally, Morgan Stanley incurs market risk as a result of trading, investing and client
facilitation activities, principally within the Institutional Securities business segment where the
substantial majority of its VaR for market risk exposures is generated. In addition, Morgan
Stanley incurs non-trading market risk within the Wealth Management and Investment
Management business segments. The Wealth Management business segment primarily incurs
non-trading market risk from lending and deposit-taking activities. The Investment
Management business segment primarily incurs non-trading market risk from capital
investments in alternative and other funds.

Market risk includes non-trading interest rate risk. Non-trading interest rate risk in the banking
book (amounts classified for regulatory capital purposes under the banking book regime) refers
to the exposure that a change in interest rates will result in prospective earnings changes for
assets and liabilities in the banking book.

Trading Risks
Primary Market Risk Exposures and Market Risk Management

During 2019, Morgan Stanley had exposures to a wide range of interest rates, equity prices,
foreign exchange rates and commodity prices— and the associated implied volatilities and
spreads—related to the global markets in which Morgan Stanley conducts its trading activities.

Morgan Stanley is exposed to interest rate and credit spread risk as a result of its market-making
activities and other trading in interest rate- sensitive financial instruments (e.g., risk arising
from changes in the level or implied volatility of interest rates, the timing of mortgage
prepayments, the shape of the yield curve and credit spreads). The activities from which those
exposures arise and the markets in which Morgan Stanley is active include, but are not limited
to, the following: derivatives, and corporate and government debt across both developed and
emerging markets and asset- backed debt, including mortgage-related securities.

Morgan Stanley is exposed to equity price and implied volatility risk as a result of making
markets in equity securities and derivatives and maintaining other positions, including positions
in non-public entities. Positions in non-public entities may include, but are not limited to,
exposures to private equity, venture capital, private partnerships, real estate funds and other
funds. Such positions are less liquid, have longer investment horizons and are more difficult to
hedge than listed equities.

Morgan Stanley is exposed to foreign exchange rate and implied volatility risk as a result of
making markets in foreign currencies and foreign currency derivatives, from maintaining
foreign exchange positions and from holding non-U.S. dollar- denominated financial
instruments.

Morgan Stanley is exposed to commaodity price and implied volatility risk as a result of market-
making activities in commodity products related primarily to electricity, natural gas, oil and
precious metals. Commaodity exposures are subject to periods of high price volatility as a result
of changes in supply and demand. These changes can be caused by weather conditions; physical
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production and transportation; or geopolitical and other events that affect the available supply
and level of demand for these commodities.

Value-at-Risk

Morgan Stanley uses Value-at-Risk (VaR) as one of a range of risk management tools. Among
their benefits, VaR models permit estimation of a portfolio’s aggregate market risk exposure,
incorporating a range of varied market risks and portfolio assets. One key element of the VaR
model is that it reflects risk reduction due to portfolio diversification or hedging activities.
However, VaR has various limitations, which include, but are not limited to: use of historical
changes in market risk factors, which may not be accurate predictors of future market conditions
and may not fully incorporate the risk of extreme market events that are outsized relative to
observed historical market behavior or reflect the historical distribution of results beyond the
95% confidence interval; and reporting of losses in a single day, which does not reflect the risk
of positions that cannot be liquidated or hedged in one day. A small proportion of market risk
generated by trading positions is not included in VaR.

The modeling of the risk characteristics of some positions relies on approximations that, under
certain circumstances, could produce significantly different results from those produced using
more precise measures. VaR is most appropriate as a risk measure for trading positions in liquid
financial markets and will understate the risk associated with severe events, such as periods of
extreme illiquidity. Morgan Stanley is aware of these and other limitations and, therefore, use
VaR as only one component in its risk management oversight process. This process also
incorporates stress testing and scenario analyses and extensive risk monitoring, analysis and
control at the trading desk, division and Firm levels.

The following table presents the VaR for risk management purposes (Management VaR) for
the Trading portfolio, on a period-end, annual average, and annual high and low basis. To
further enhance the transparency of the traded market risk, the Credit Portfolio VaR has been
disclosed as a separate category from the Primary Risk Categories. The Credit Portfolio
includes counterparty CVA and related hedges, as well as loans that are carried at fair value
and associated hedges.

95%/One-Day Management VaR

2019

Period

$ in millions End Average  High? Low?

Interest rate and credit spread $ 26 $ 29 $ 43 $ 24

Equity price 11 15 22 11

Foreign exchange rate 10 13 20 6

Commodity price 10 14 22 10

Less: Diversification benefit* 27 ) (35 ) NA N/A
Primary Risk Categories $ 30 $ 36 $ 47 $ 30

Credit Portfolio 15 16 19 13

Less: Diversification benefit* (10 ) (11 ) NA N/A
Total Management VaR $ 3B $ 41 $ 51 $ 33
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2018°%

Period
$ in millions End Average  High? Low?
Interest rate and credit spread $ 4 $ 34 $ 53 $ 25
Equity price 12 14 18
Foreign exchange rate 11 10 16
Commodity price 13 10 18
Less: Diversification benefit* @27 ) (29 ) NA N/A
Primary Risk Categories $ 53 $ 39 $ 64 $ 31
Credit Portfolio 14 11 16 8
Less: Diversification benefit* 1z ) 8 ) N/A N/A
Total Management VaR $ 55 $ 42 $ 62 $ 34

1 Diversification benefit equals the difference between the total Management VaR and the sum of the component VaRs. This benefit arises because the simulated one-
day losses for each of the components occur on different days; similar diversification benefits also are taken into account within each component.

2. Thehighand low VaR values for the total Management VVaR and each of the component VVaRs might have occurred on different days during the quarter, and therefore, the
diversification benefit is not an applicable measure.

3. 2018 amounts have been revised to present the results of the new VaR model, in conformance with the 2019 presentation. The difference between the VaR measures
produced by the new and old models was not significant.

Average total Management VaR remained relatively unchanged from 2018. Average Management
VaR for the Primary Risk Categories decreased from 2018 as reduced interest rate and credit spread
risk was offset by increased Commaodity and Foreign Exchange risk within the Fixed Income Division.

Distribution of VaR Statistics and Net Revenues

One method of evaluating the reasonableness of its VaR model as a measure of its potential volatility
of net revenues is to compare VaR with corresponding actual trading revenues. Assuming no intraday
trading, for a 95%/one-day VaR, the expected number of times that trading losses should exceed VaR
during the year is 13, and, in general, if trading losses were to exceed VaR more than 21 times in a
year, the adequacy of the VaR model would be questioned.

Morgan Stanley evaluates the reasonableness of its VaR model by comparing the potential declines
in portfolio values generated by the model with corresponding actual trading results for Morgan
Stanley, as well as individual business units. For days where losses exceed the VaR statistic, Morgan
Stanley examines the drivers of trading losses to evaluate the VaR model’s accuracy relative to
realized trading results. There were no days in 2019 on which trading losses exceeded VaR.

Daily 95%/One-Day Total Management VaR for 2019 ($ in millions)

151

88

Number of Days

-
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|
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$30 to $35
$35 to $40
$40 to $45
$45 to $50
$50 to $55
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Daily Net Trading Revenues for 2019 ($ in millions)
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The previous histogram shows the distribution of daily net trading revenues for 2019. Daily net
trading revenues include profits and losses from Interest rate and credit spread, Equity price,
Foreign exchange rate, Commodity price, and Credit Portfolio positions and intraday trading
activities for its trading businesses. Certain items such as fees, commissions and net interest
income are excluded from daily net trading revenues and the VaR model. Revenues required

$125to $150

for Regulatory VaR backtesting further exclude intraday trading.

Non-Trading Risks

Morgan Stanley believes that sensitivity analysis is an appropriate representation of its non-
trading risks. The following sensitivity analyses cover substantially all of the non-trading risk

in its portfolio.

Credit Spread Risk Sensitivity*

$ in millions

At At
December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

Derivatives

Funding liabilities?

6% 6
4 34

1. Amounts represent the potential gain for each 1 bps widening of our credit spread.
2. Relates to Borrowings carried at fair value.

Credit spread risk sensitivity for funding liabilities as of December 31, 2019 has increased
compared with December 31, 2018, primarily as a result of new issuances of Borrowings
carried at fair value in the Fixed Income Division of the Institutional Securities business

segment.

U.S. Bank Subsidiaries’ Net Interest Income Sensitivity Analysis

$ in millions

At At
December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

Basis point change
+100
-100

182
(428)

151 $
(642)
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The previous table presents an analysis of selected instantaneous upward and downward
parallel interest rate shocks on net interest income over the next 12 months for its U.S. Bank
Subsidiaries. These shocks are applied to its 12-month forecast, which incorporates market
expectations of interest rates and its forecasted business activity.

Morgan Stanley does not manage to any single rate scenario but rather manage net interest
income in its U.S. Bank Subsidiaries to optimize across a range of possible outcomes, including
non-parallel rate change scenarios. The sensitivity analysis assumes that Morgan Stanley takes
no action in response to these scenarios, assumes there are no changes in other macroeconomic
variables normally correlated with changes in interest rates, and includes subjective
assumptions regarding customer and market re-pricing behavior and other factors. The change
in sensitivity to interest rates between December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 is primarily
driven by lower market rates and changes in its asset- liability profile.

Investments Sensitivity, Including Related Performance Fees

Loss from 10% Decline

At At
December 31, December 31,

$ in millions 2019 2018
Investments related to Investment

Management activities $ 367 $ 298
Other investments:

MUMSS 169 165

Other Firm investments 195 179

MUMSS—Mitsubishi UFJ Morgan Stanley Securities Co., Ltd.

Morgan Stanley has exposure to public and private companies through direct investments, as
well as through funds that invest in these assets. These investments are predominantly equity
positions with long investment horizons, a portion of which is for business facilitation purposes.
The market risk related to these investments is measured by estimating the potential reduction
in net income associated with a 10% decline in investment values and related impact on
performance-based fees, as applicable. The change in investments sensitivity related to
Investment Management activities between December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 is
primarily driven by higher unrealized carried interest and investment gains, primarily from an
Asia private equity fund.

Equity Market Sensitivity

In the Wealth Management and Investment Management business segments, certain fee-based
revenue streams are driven by the value of clients’ equity holdings. The overall level of
revenues for these streams also depends on multiple additional factors that include, but are not
limited to, the level and duration of the equity market increase or decline, price volatility, the
geographic and industry mix of client assets, the rate and magnitude of client investments and
redemptions, and the impact of such market increase or decline and price volatility on client
behavior. Therefore, overall revenues do not correlate completely with changes in the equity
markets.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Country Risk
Country risk exposure is the risk that events in, or that affect, a foreign country (any country
other than the U.S.) might adversely affect us. Morgan Stanley actively manages country risk

exposure through a comprehensive risk management framework that combines credit and
market fundamentals and allows us to effectively identify, monitor and limit country risk.
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Morgan Stanley’s obligor credit evaluation process may also identify indirect exposures,
whereby an obligor has vulnerability or exposure to another country or jurisdiction. Examples
of indirect exposures include mutual funds that invest in a single country, offshore companies
whose assets reside in another country to that of the offshore jurisdiction and finance company
subsidiaries of corporations. Indirect exposures identified through the credit evaluation process
may result in a reclassification of country risk.

Morgan Stanley conducts periodic stress testing that seeks to measure the impact on its credit
and market exposures of shocks stemming from negative economic or political scenarios. When
deemed appropriate by its risk managers, the stress test scenarios include possible contagion
effects and second order risks. This analysis, and results of the stress tests, may result in the
amendment of limits or exposure mitigation.

Morgan Stanley sovereign exposures consist of financial contracts and obligations entered into
with sovereign and local governments. Its non-sovereign exposures consist of financial
contracts and obligations entered into primarily with corporations and financial institutions.
Index credit derivatives are included in the following country risk exposure table. Each
reference entity within an index is allocated to that reference entity’s country of risk. Index
exposures are allocated to the underlying reference entities in proportion to the notional
weighting of each reference entity in the index, adjusted for any fair value receivable or payable
for that reference entity. Where credit risk crosses multiple jurisdictions, for example, a CDS
purchased from an issuer in a specific country that references bonds issued by an entity in a
different country, the fair value of the CDS is reflected in the Net Counterparty Exposure row
based on the country of the CDS issuer. Further, the notional amount of the CDS adjusted for
the fair value of the receivable or payable is reflected in the Net Inventory row based on the
country of the underlying reference entity.

Top 10 Non-U.S. Country Exposures at December 31, 2019

United Kingdom

$ in millions Sovereigns  Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ (1,106 )$ 1,958 $ 852
Net counterparty exposure? — 10,583 10,583
Loans — 2,845 2,845
Lending commitments — 5,452 5,452
Exposure before hedges (1,106 ) 20,838 19,732
Hedges® (312 ) (1,350 ) (1,662 )
Net exposure $ (1,418 )$ 19,488 $ 18,070
Japan
$ in millions Sovereigns Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ 2175 % 776 $ 2,951
Net counterparty exposure? 26 3,657 3,683
Loans — 730 730
Lending commitments — 2 2
Exposure before hedges 2,201 5,165 7,366
Hedges® (93 ) (131 ) (224 )
Net exposure $ 2108 $ 5,034 $ 7,142
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Germany

$ in millions Sovereigns ~ Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ (352 )% 228 $ (124 )
Net counterparty exposure? 100 2,383 2,483
Loans — 1,610 1,610
Lending commitments — 3,685 3,685
Exposure before hedges (252 ) 7,906 7,654
Hedges® (230 ) (869 ) (1,099 )
Net exposure $ (482 )% 7,037 $ 6,555
Spain
$ in millions Sovereigns Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ 182 $ (80 )$ 102
Net counterparty exposure? — 270 270
Loans — 3,828 3,828
Lending commitments — 745 745
Exposure before hedges 182 4,763 4,945
Hedges® — (137 ) (37 )
Net exposure $ 182 $ 4,626 $ 4,808
China
$ in millions Sovereigns  Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ (637 )% 1,007 $ 370
Net counterparty exposure? 47 200 247
Loans — 1,950 1,950
Lending commitments — 1,716 1,716
Exposure before hedges (590 ) 4,873 4,283
Hedges® 82 ) (80 ) (162 )
Net exposure $ (672 )% 4,793 $ 4121
France
$ in millions Sovereigns Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ (1,720 )$ 181 $ (1,539 )
Net counterparty exposure? — 2,070 2,070
Loans — 620 620
Lending commitments — 3,375 3,375
Exposure before hedges (1,720 ) 6,246 4,526
Hedges® 6 ) (600 ) (606 )
Net exposure $ (1,726 )$ 5,646 $ 3,920
Canada
$ in millions Sovereigns Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ (490 )$ 236 $ (254 )
Net counterparty exposure? 109 2,000 2,109
Loans — 182 182
Lending commitments — 1,439 1,439
Exposure before hedges (381 ) 3,857 3,476
Hedges® — (152 ) (152 )
Net exposure $ (381 )% 3,705 $ 3,324
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Netherlands

$ in millions Sovereigns ~ Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ 46 $ 545 $ 591
Net counterparty exposure? — 748 748
Loans — 946 946
Lending commitments — 1,103 1,103
Exposure before hedges 46 3,342 3,388
Hedges® 32 ) (158 ) (19 )
Net exposure $ 14 $ 3,184 $ 3,198
Australia
$ in millions Sovereigns Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ 761 $ 293 $ 1,054
Net counterparty exposure? 17 632 649
Loans — 291 291
Lending commitments — 978 978
Exposure before hedges 778 2,194 2,972
Hedges® — (103 ) (103 )
Net exposure $ 778 $ 2,091 $ 2,869
India
$ in millions Sovereigns  Non-sovereigns Total
Net inventory* $ 1273 % 556 $ 1,829
Net counterparty exposure? — 518 518
Loans — 247 247
Exposure before hedges 1,273 1,321 2,594
Net exposure $ 1273 % 1,321 $ 2,594

1. Net inventory represents exposure to both long and short single-name and index positions (i.e., bonds and equities at fair value and CDS based on a notional amount
assuming zero recovery adjusted for the fair value of any receivable or payable).

2. Net counterparty exposure (e.g., repurchase transactions, securities lending and OTC derivatives) is net of the benefit of collateral received and also is net by counterparty
when legally enforceable master netting agreements are in place. For more information, see “Additional Information—Top 10 Non-U.S. Country Exposures™ herein.

3. Amounts represent net CDS hedges (purchased and sold) on net counterparty exposure and lending executed by trading desks responsible for hedging counterparty and
lending credit risk exposures. Amounts are based on the CDS notional amount assuming zero recovery adjusted for any fair value receivable or payable. For further
description of the contractual terms for purchased credit protection and whether they may limit the effectiveness of our hedges, see “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Risk—Credit Risk—Derivatives" herein.

Additional Information — Top 10 Non-U.S. Country Exposures

Collateral Held against Net Counterparty Exposure!

At
December 31,
$ in millions 2019
Counterparty credit exposure Collateral?
Germany Italy and Germany $ 11,478
United Kingdom U.K., U.S. and Spain 9,374
Other Japan, U.S. and France 17,312

1. The benefit of collateral received is reflected in the Top 10 Non-U.S. Country Exposures at December 31, 2019.
2. Collateral primarily consists of cash and government obligations.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that Morgan Stanley will be unable to finance its operations due
to a loss of access to the capital markets or difficulty in liquidating its assets. Liquidity risk also
encompasses Morgan Stanley's ability (or perceived ability) to meet its financial obligations
without experiencing significant business disruption or reputational damage that may threaten
its viability as a going concern as well as the associated funding risks triggered by the market
or idiosyncratic stress events that may negatively affect Morgan Stanley's liquidity and may
impact its ability to raise new funding.

For more information on how Morgan Stanley monitors and manages liquidity risk, see
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Liquidity Risk” on page 74 of the 2019
Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources” on pages 44 to 50 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is
incorporated by reference therein and from which the paragraphs “Global Liquidity Reserve”
and “Liquidity Coverage Ratio” below this risk factor are extracted.

Liquidity is essential to Morgan Stanley's businesses and Morgan Stanley relies on external
sources to finance a significant portion of its operations.

Liquidity is essential to Morgan Stanley's businesses. Morgan Stanley's liquidity could be
negatively affected by its inability to raise funding in the long-term or short-term debt capital
markets, its inability to access the secured lending markets, or unanticipated outflows of cash
or collateral by customers or clients. Factors that Morgan Stanley cannot control, such as
disruption of the financial markets or negative views about the financial services industry
generally, including concerns regarding fiscal matters in the U.S. and other geographic areas,
could impair Morgan Stanley's ability to raise funding. In addition, Morgan Stanley's ability to
raise funding could be impaired if investors or lenders develop a negative perception of Morgan
Stanley's long-term or short-term financial prospects due to factors such as an incurrence of
large trading losses, a downgrade by the rating agencies, a decline in the level of its business
activity, or if regulatory authorities take significant action against Morgan Stanley or its
industry, or Morgan Stanley discovers significant employee misconduct or illegal activity. If
Morgan Stanley is unable to raise funding using the methods described above, it would likely
need to finance or liquidate unencumbered assets, such as its investment portfolios or trading
assets, to meet maturing liabilities or other obligations. Morgan Stanley may be unable to sell
some of its assets, or it may have to sell assets at a discount to market value, either of which
could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

Morgan Stanley's borrowing costs and access to the debt capital markets depend on its credit
ratings.

The cost and availability of unsecured financing generally are impacted by Morgan Stanley's
long-term and short-term credit ratings. The rating agencies continue to monitor certain
company-specific and industry-wide factors that are important to the determination of Morgan
Stanley's credit ratings. These include governance, the level and quality of earnings, capital
adequacy, liquidity and funding, risk appetite and management, asset quality, strategic
direction, business mix, regulatory or legislative changes, macro-economic environment, and
perceived levels of support, and it is possible that they could downgrade Morgan Stanley's
ratings and those of similar institutions.

Morgan Stanley's credit ratings also can have a significant impact on certain trading revenues,
particularly in those businesses where longer term counterparty performance is a key
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consideration, such as over-the- counter (OTC) and other derivative transactions, including
credit derivatives and interest rate swaps. In connection with certain OTC trading agreements
and certain other agreements associated with Morgan Stanley's Institutional Securities business
segment, Morgan Stanley may be required to provide additional collateral to, or immediately
settle any outstanding liability balance with, certain counterparties in the event of a credit
ratings downgrade. Termination of Morgan Stanley's trading and other agreements could cause
Morgan Stanley to sustain losses and impair its liquidity by requiring it to find other sources of
financing or to make significant cash payments or securities movements. The additional
collateral or termination payments which may occur in the event of a future credit rating
downgrade vary by contract and can be based on ratings by either or both of Moody's Investors
Services, Inc. (Moody's) and S&P Global Ratings (S&P).

Morgan Stanley is a holding company and depends on payments from its subsidiaries.

Morgan Stanley has no operations and depends on dividends, distributions and other payments
from its subsidiaries to fund dividend payments and to fund all payments on its obligations,
including debt obligations. Regulatory restrictions, tax restrictions or elections and other legal
restrictions may limit Morgan Stanley's ability to transfer funds freely, either to or from its
subsidiaries. In particular, many of Morgan Stanley's subsidiaries, including its bank and
broker-dealer subsidiaries, are subject to laws, regulations and self-regulatory organisation
rules that limit, as well as authorise regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to
Morgan Stanley, or that prohibit such transfers or dividends altogether in certain circumstances,
including steps to "ring fence" entities by regulators outside of the U.S. to protect clients and
creditors of such entities in the event of financial difficulties involving such entities. These
laws, regulations and rules may hinder Morgan Stanley's ability to access funds that it may need
to make payments on its obligations. Furthermore, as a bank holding company, Morgan Stanley
may become subject to a prohibition or to limitations on its ability to pay dividends. The Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve), the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
have the authority, and under certain circumstances the duty, to prohibit or to limit the payment
of dividends by the banking organisations they supervise, including Morgan Stanley and its
U.S. bank subsidiaries, Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A. and Morgan Stanley Private Bank, National
Association (collectively, U.S. Bank Subsidiaries).

Morgan Stanley's liquidity and financial condition have in the past been, and in the future
could be, adversely affected by U.S. and international markets and economic conditions.

Morgan Stanley's ability to raise funding in the long-term or short-term debt capital markets or
the equity markets, or to access secured lending markets, has in the past been, and could in the
future be, adversely affected by conditions in the U.S. and international markets and economies.
In particular, Morgan Stanley's cost and availability of funding in the past have been, and may
in the future be, adversely affected by illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreads.
Significant turbulence in the U.S., the European Union and other international markets and
economies could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's liquidity and financial condition and the
willingness of certain counterparties and customers to do business with Morgan Stanley.

Global Liquidity Reserve (GLR)

Morgan Stanley maintains sufficient liquidity reserves to cover daily funding needs and to meet
strategic liquidity targets sized by the Required Liquidity Framework and Liquidity Stress
Tests. The size of the GLR is actively managed by Morgan Stanley considering the following
components: unsecured debt maturity profile; balance sheet size and composition; funding
needs in a stressed environment, inclusive of contingent cash outflows; legal entity, regional
and segment liquidity requirements; regulatory requirements; and collateral requirements.
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In addition, Morgan Stanley’s GLR includes a discretionary surplus based on risk tolerance and
is subject to change depending on market and Firm-specific events. The GLR is held within the
Parent Company and its major operating subsidiaries. The GLR consists of cash and
unencumbered securities sourced from trading assets, investment securities and securities
received as collateral.

GLR by Type of Investment

At At
December 31, December 31,
$ in millions 2019 2018
Cash deposits with banks?* $ 9,856 $ 10,441
Cash deposits with central banks! 34,922 36,109
Unencumbered highly liquid securities:
U.S. government obligations 88,665 119,138
Non-U.S. sovereign obligations? 31,460 39,869
Other investment grade securities 2,500 2,705
Total $ 217,457 $ 249,735

1. Included in Cash and due from banks and Interest bearing deposits with banks in the balance sheets.
2. Primarily composed of unencumbered U.K., Japanese, French, German and Brazilian government obligations.

GLR Managed by Bank and Non-Bank Legal Entities

At At Average Daily Balance
o December 31, December 31, Three Months Ended
$ in millions 2019 2018 December 31, 2019
Bank legal entities
Domestic $ 75,565 $ 88,809 $ 73,107
Foreign 5,317 4,896 5,661
Total Bank legal
entities 80,882 93,705 78,768
Non-Bank legal entities
Domestic:
Parent Company 53,042 64,262 58,955
Non-Parent
Company 29,656 40,936 31,188
Total Domestic 82,698 105,198 90,143
Foreign 53,877 50,832 54,654
Total Non-Bank
legal entities 136,575 156,030 144,797
Total $ 217,457 $ 249,735 $ 223,565

GLR may fluctuate from period to period based on the overall size and composition of Morgan
Stanley’s balance sheet, the maturity profile of our unsecured debt and estimates of funding
needs in a stressed environment, among other factors.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

Morgan Stanley and its U.S. Bank Subsidiaries are subject to LCR requirements, including a
requirement to calculate each entity’s LCR on each business day. The requirements are
designed to ensure that banking organizations have sufficient HQLA to cover net cash outflows
arising from significant stress over 30 calendar days, thus promoting the short-term resilience
of the liquidity risk profile of banking organizations.

The regulatory definition of HQLA is substantially the same as its GLR, with the primary
difference being the treatment of certain cash balances and unencumbered securities.
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As of December 31, 2019, Morgan Stanley and its U.S. Bank Subsidiaries are compliant with
the minimum required LCR of 100%.

HQLA by Type of Asset and LCR

Average Daily Balance
Three Months Ended

December 31, September 30,

$ in millions 2019 2019

HQLA

Cash deposits with central banks $ 29,597 $ 33,053
Securities* 148,221 141,806
Total $ 177,818 $ 174,859
LCR 134% 140%

1. Primarily includes U.S. Treasuries, U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities, sovereign bonds and investment grade corporate bonds.

1.2

(@)

The decrease in the LCR in the quarter ended December 31, 2019 is primarily due to higher
outflows related to secured funding and lower inflows related to secured lending.

Risks relating to the operation of Morgan Stanley’s business activities
Operational Risk

Operational risk refers to the risk of loss, or of damage to Morgan Stanley's reputation, resulting
from inadequate or failed processes or systems, from human factors or from external events
(e.g., fraud, theft, legal and compliance risks, cyber attacks or damage to physical assets).
Morgan Stanley may incur operational risk across the full scope of its business activities,
including revenue-generating activities (e.g., sales and trading) and support and control groups
(e.g., information technology and trade processing). Legal, regulatory and compliance risk is
included in the scope of operational risk and is discussed below under "Legal, Regulatory and
Compliance Risk". For more information on how Morgan Stanley monitors and manages
operational risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Operational Risk”
on pages 72 and 73 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated by
reference therein.

Morgan Stanley is subject to operational risks, including a failure, breach or other disruption
of its operations or security systems or those of Morgan Stanley's third parties (or third
parties thereof), as well as human error or malfeasance, which could adversely affect its
businesses or reputation.

Morgan Stanley's businesses are highly dependent on its ability to process and report, on a daily
basis, a large number of transactions across numerous and diverse markets in many currencies.
Morgan Stanley may introduce new products or services or change processes or reporting,
including in connection with new regulatory requirements, resulting in new operational risk
that Morgan Stanley may not fully appreciate or identify. The trend toward direct access to
automated, electronic markets and the move to more automated trading platforms has resulted
in the use of increasingly complex technology that relies on the continued effectiveness of the
programming code and integrity of the data to process the trades. Morgan Stanley relies on the
ability of its employees, consultants, its internal systems and systems at technology centres
maintained by unaffiliated third parties to operate its different businesses and process a high
volume of transactions. Additionally, Morgan Stanley is subject to complex and evolving laws
and regulations governing cybersecurity, privacy and data protection, which may differ and
potentially conflict, in various jurisdictions.
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As a major participant in the global capital markets, Morgan Stanley faces the risk of incorrect
valuation or risk management of its trading positions due to flaws in data, models, electronic
trading systems or processes or due to fraud or cyber attack.

Morgan Stanley also faces the risk of operational failure or disruption of any of the clearing
agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries it uses to facilitate its
lending, securities and derivatives transactions. In the event of a breakdown or improper
operation of Morgan Stanley's or a direct or indirect third party's systems (or third parties
thereof) or processes or improper or unauthorised action by third parties, including consultants
and subcontractors or Morgan Stanley's employees, Morgan Stanley could suffer financial loss,
an impairment to its liquidity position, a disruption of its businesses, regulatory sanctions or
damage to its reputation. In addition, the interconnectivity of multiple financial institutions with
central agents, exchanges and clearing houses, and the increased importance of these entities,
increases the risk that an operational failure at one institution or entity may cause an industry-
wide operational failure that could materially impact Morgan Stanley's ability to conduct
business. Furthermore, the concentration of company and personal information held by a
handful of third parties increases the risk that a breach at a key third party may cause an
industry-wide data breach that could significantly increase the cost and risk of conducting
business.

There can be no assurance that Morgan Stanley’s business contingency and security plans fully
mitigate all potential risks to Morgan Stanley. Morgan Stanley's ability to conduct business may
be adversely affected by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports its businesses and the
communities where Morgan Stanley is located, which are concentrated in the New York
metropolitan area, London, Hong Kong and Tokyo, as well as Baltimore, Glasgow, Frankfurt,
Budapest and Mumbai. This may include a disruption involving physical site access;
cybersecurity incidents; terrorist activities; political unrest; disease pandemics; catastrophic
events; climate-related incidents and natural disasters (such as earthquakes, tornadoes,
hurricanes and wildfires); electrical outage; environmental hazard; computer servers;
communications or other services Morgan Stanley uses; its employees or third parties with
whom Morgan Stanley conducts business.

Although Morgan Stanley employs backup systems for its data, those backup systems may be
unavailable following a disruption, the affected data may not have been backed up or may not
be recoverable from the backup, or the backup data may be costly to recover, which could
adversely affect Morgan Stanley's business.

Notwithstanding evolving technology and technology-based risk and control systems, Morgan
Stanley’s businesses ultimately rely on people, including Morgan Stanley’s employees and
those of third parties with which Morgan Stanley conducts business. As a result of human error
or engagement in violations of applicable policies, laws, rules or procedures, certain errors or
violations are not always discovered immediately by Morgan Stanley’s technological processes
or by Morgan Stanley’s controls and other procedures, which are intended to prevent and detect
such errors or violations. These can include calculation errors, mistakes in addressing emails or
other communications, errors in software or model development or implementation, or errors
in judgment, as well as intentional efforts to disregard or circumvent applicable policies, laws,
rules or procedures. Human errors and malfeasance, even if promptly discovered and
remediated, can result in material losses and liabilities for Morgan Stanley.

Morgan Stanley conducts business in various jurisdictions outside the U.S., including
jurisdictions that may not have comparable levels of protection for their corporate assets such
as intellectual property, trademarks, trade secrets, know-how and customer information and
records. The protection afforded in those jurisdictions may be less established and/or
predictable than in the U.S. or other jurisdictions in which Morgan Stanley operates. As a result,
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there may also be heightened risks associated with the potential theft of their data, technology
and intellectual property in those jurisdictions by domestic or foreign actors, including private
parties and those affiliated with or controlled by state actors. Any theft of data, technology or
intellectual property may negatively impact Morgan Stanley’s operations and reputation,
including disrupting the business activities of its subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures or clients
conducting business in those jurisdictions.

A cyber attack, information or security breach or a technology failure could adversely affect
Morgan Stanley's ability to conduct its business, manage its exposure to risk or result in
disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information and otherwise adversely
impact its results of operations, liquidity and financial condition, as well as cause
reputational harm.

Morgan Stanley maintains a significant amount of personal information on its customers,
clients, employees and certain counterparties that Morgan Stanley is required to protect under
various state, federal and international data protection and privacy laws. These laws may be in
conflict with one another, or courts and regulators may interpret them in ways that Morgan
Stanley had not anticipated or that adversely affect Morgan Stanley's business.

Cybersecurity risks for financial institutions have significantly increased in recent years in part
because of the proliferation of new technologies, the use of the internet, mobile
telecommunications and cloud technologies to conduct financial transactions, and the increased
sophistication and activities of organised crime, hackers, terrorists and other external extremist
parties, including foreign state actors, in some circumstances as a means to promote political
ends. In addition to the growing sophistication of certain parties, the commoditisation of cyber
tools which are able to be weaponised by less sophisticated actors has led to an increase in the
exploitation of technological vulnerabilities. Global events and geopolitical instability may lead
to increased nation state targeting of financial institutions in the U.S. and abroad. Foreign state
actors have become more sophisticated over time, increasing the risk of such an attack. Any of
these parties may also attempt to fraudulently induce employees, customers, clients, vendors or
other third parties or users of Morgan Stanley's systems to disclose sensitive information in
order to gain access to its data or that of Morgan Stanley's employees or clients. Cybersecurity
risks may also derive from human error, fraud or malice on the part of its employees or third
parties, including third party providers, or may result from accidental technological failure. In
addition, third parties with whom Morgan Stanley does business, their service providers, as
well as other third parties with whom Morgan Stanley's customers do business, may also be
sources of cybersecurity risks, particularly where activities of customers are beyond Morgan
Stanley's security and control systems. There is no guarantee that the measures Morgan Stanley
takes will provide absolute security or recoverability given the techniques used in cyber attacks
are complex and frequently change, and may not be able to be anticipated.

Like other financial services firms, Morgan Stanley, its third party providers, and its clients
continue to be the subject of unauthorised access attacks, mishandling or misuse of information,
computer viruses or malware, cyber attacks designed to obtain confidential information, destroy
data, disrupt or degrade service, sabotage systems or cause other damage, denial of service
attacks, data breaches and other events. There can be no assurance that such unauthorised
access, mishandling or misuse of information or cyber incidents will not occur in the future,
and they could occur more frequently and on a more significant scale.

A cyber attack, information or security breach or a technology failure of Morgan Stanley or of
a third party could jeopardise its or its clients', employees', partners', vendors' or counterparties'
personal, confidential, proprietary or other information processed and stored in, and transmitted
through, its and its third parties' computer systems. Furthermore, such events could cause
interruptions or malfunctions in Morgan Stanley's, its clients', employees', partners', vendors',
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counterparties' or third parties' operations, as well as the unauthorised release, gathering,
monitoring, misuse, loss or destruction of confidential, proprietary and other information of
Morgan Stanley, of its employees, of its customers or of other third parties. Any of these events
could result in reputational damage with Morgan Stanley's clients and the market, client
dissatisfaction, additional costs to Morgan Stanley to maintain and update its operational and
security systems and infrastructure, regulatory investigations, litigation or enforcement, or
regulatory fines or penalties, any of which could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Given Morgan Stanley's global footprint and the high volume of transactions Morgan Stanley
processes, the large number of clients, partners, vendors and counterparties with which Morgan
Stanley does business, and the increasing sophistication of cyber attacks, a cyber attack,
information or security breach could occur and persist for an extended period of time without
detection. Morgan Stanley expects that any investigation of a cyber attack would be inherently
unpredictable and that it would take time before the completion of any investigation and before
there is availability of full and reliable information. During such time Morgan Stanley would
not necessarily know the extent of the harm or how best to remediate it, and certain errors or
actions could be repeated or compounded before they are discovered and remediated, all or any
of which would further increase the costs and consequences of a cyber attack.

While many of Morgan Stanley's agreements with partners and third party vendors include
indemnification provisions, Morgan Stanley may not be able to recover sufficiently, or at all,
under such provisions to adequately offset any losses Morgan Stanley may incur. In addition,
although Morgan Stanley maintains insurance coverage that may, subject to policy terms and
conditions, cover certain aspects of cyber and information security risks, such insurance
coverage may be insufficient to cover all losses.

Morgan Stanley continues to make investments with a view toward maintaining and enhancing
its cybersecurity posture. The cost of managing cyber and information security risks and attacks
along with complying with new, increasingly expansive, and evolving regulatory requirements
could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's results of operations and business.

Risk Management

Morgan Stanley's risk management strategies, models and processes may not be fully
effective in mitigating its risk exposures in all market environments or against all types of
risk, which could result in unexpected losses.

Morgan Stanley has devoted significant resources to develop its risk management capabilities
and expects to continue to do so in the future. Nonetheless, Morgan Stanley's risk management
strategies, models and processes, including its use of various risk models for assessing market
exposures and hedging strategies, stress testing and other analysis, may not be fully effective
in mitigating Morgan Stanley's risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of
risk, including risks that are unidentified or unanticipated. As Morgan Stanley's businesses
change and grow, and the markets in which Morgan Stanley operates evolve, its risk
management strategies, models and processes may not always adapt with those changes. Some
of Morgan Stanley's methods of managing risk are based upon its use of observed historical
market behaviour and management's judgment. As a result, these methods may not predict
future risk exposures, which could be significantly greater than the historical measures indicate.
In addition, many models Morgan Stanley uses are based on assumptions or inputs regarding
correlations among prices of various asset classes or other market indicators and therefore
cannot anticipate sudden, unanticipated or unidentified market or economic movements, which
could cause Morgan Stanley to incur losses.
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Management of market, credit, liquidity, operational, model, legal, regulatory and compliance
risks requires, among other things, policies and procedures to record properly and verify a large
number of transactions and events, and these policies and procedures may not be fully effective.
Morgan Stanley's trading risk management strategies and techniques also seek to balance its
ability to profit from trading positions with its exposure to potential losses. While Morgan
Stanley employs a broad and diversified set of risk monitoring and risk mitigation techniques,
those techniques and the judgments that accompany their application cannot anticipate every
economic and financial outcome or the timing of such outcomes. For example, to the extent
that Morgan Stanley's trading or investing activities involve less liquid trading markets or are
otherwise subject to restrictions on sales or hedging, Morgan Stanley may not be able to reduce
its positions and therefore reduce its risk associated with such positions. Morgan Stanley may,
therefore, incur losses in the course of its trading or investing activities.

Planned replacement of London Interbank Offered Rate and replacement or reform of other
interest rate benchmarks could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Central banks around the world, including the Federal Reserve, have commissioned working
groups of market participants and official sector representatives to replace LIBOR replace or
reform other interest rate benchmarks (collectively, the IBORS). A transition away from the
widespread use of such rates to alternative rates and other potential interest rate benchmark
reforms has begun and will continue over the course of the next few years. For example, the
United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), which regulates LIBOR, has announced
that it has commitments from panel banks to continue to contribute to LIBOR through the end
of 2021, but that it will not use its powers to compel contributions beyond such date. As a result,
there is considerable uncertainty regarding the publication of LIBOR beyond 2021, and
regulators globally have continued to emphasize the need for the industry to plan accordingly.

The Federal Reserve Bank of New York now publishes three reference rates based on overnight
U.S. Treasury repurchase agreement transactions, including the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate, which had been recommended as the alternative to U.S. dollar LIBOR by the Alternative
Reference Rates Committee convened by the Federal Reserve and the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York. Further, the Bank of England is publishing a reformed Sterling Overnight Index
Average, comprised of a broader set of overnight Sterling money market transactions, which
has been selected by the Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Reference Rates as the
alternative rate to Sterling LIBOR. Central bank-sponsored committees in other jurisdictions,
including Europe, Japan and Switzerland, have selected alternative reference rates denominated
in other currencies.

The market transition away from IBORs to alternative reference rates is complex and could
have a range of adverse impacts on Morgan Stanley's business, financial condition and results
of operations. In particular, such transition or reform could:

e adversely impact the pricing, liquidity, value of, return on and trading for a broad array
of financial products, including any IBOR-linked securities, loans and derivatives that
are included in Morgan Stanley's financial assets and liabilities;

e require extensive changes to documentation that governs or references IBOR or IBOR-
based products, including, for example, pursuant to time-consuming renegotiations of
existing documentation to modify the terms of outstanding securities and related
hedging transactions;
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o Resultin apopulation of products with documentation that governs or references IBOR
or IBOR-based products but that cannot be amended due to an inability to obtain
sufficient consent from counterparties or product owners;

e result in inquiries or other actions from regulators in respect of Morgan Stanley's (or
the market’s) preparation and readiness for the replacement of an IBOR with one or
more alternative reference rates;

e result in disputes, litigation or other actions with clients, counterparties and investors,
in various scenarios, such as regarding the interpretation and enforceability of
provisions in IBOR-based products such as fallback language or other related
provisions, including in the case of fallbacks to the alternative reference rates, any
economic, legal, operational or other impact resulting from the fundamental differences
between the IBORs and the various alternative reference rates;

e require the transition and/or development of appropriate systems and analytics to
effectively transition Morgan Stanley's risk management processes from IBORs to
those based on one or more alternative reference rates in a timely manner, including by
guantifying value and risk for various alternative reference rates, which may prove
challenging given the limited history of the proposed alternative reference rates; and

e cause Morgan Stanley to incur additional costs in relation to any of the above factors.

Other factors include the pace of the transition to the alternative reference rates, timing
mismatches between cash and derivative markets, the specific terms and parameters for and
market acceptance of any alternative reference rate, market conventions for the use of any
alternative reference rate in connection with a particular product (including the timing and
market adoption of any conventions proposed or recommended by any industry or other group),
prices of and the liquidity of trading markets for products based on alternative reference rates,
and Morgan Stanley's ability to transition and develop appropriate systems and analytics for
one or more alternative reference rates.

Legal, regulatory and compliance risk

Legal, regulatory and compliance risk includes the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material
financial loss including fines, penalties, judgments, damages and/or settlements, or loss to
reputation Morgan Stanley may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with laws, regulations,
rules, related self-regulatory organisation standards and codes of conduct applicable to its
business activities. This risk also includes contractual and commercial risk, such as the risk that
a counterparty's performance obligations will be unenforceable. It also includes compliance
with anti-money laundering, anti-corruption and terrorist financing rules and regulations. For
more information on how Morgan Stanley monitors and manages legal, regulatory and
compliance risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Legal and
Compliance Risk” on page 74 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated
by reference therein. For additional information relating to Morgan Stanley’s litigations see
“Commitments, Guarantees and Contingencies — Contingencies - Legal” and “Legal
Proceedings” on pages 124 to 126 and 159 to 163, respectively, of the 2019 Morgan Stanley
Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein.

The financial services industry is subject to extensive regulation, and changes in regulation
will impact Morgan Stanley's business.

Like other major financial services firms, Morgan Stanley is subject to extensive regulation by
U.S. federal and state regulatory agencies and securities exchanges and by regulators and

-45 -



exchanges in each of the major markets where Morgan Stanley conducts its business. These
laws and regulations significantly affect the way Morgan Stanley does business and can restrict
the scope of its existing businesses and limit its ability to expand its product offerings and
pursue certain investments.

Morgan Stanley and its employees are, or will become, subject to (among other things) wide-
ranging regulation and supervision, intensive scrutiny of its businesses and any plans for
expansion of those businesses, limitations on new activities, a systemic risk regime that imposes
heightened capital and liquidity and funding requirements and other enhanced prudential
standards, resolution regimes and resolution planning requirements, requirements for
maintaining minimum amounts of total loss-absorbing capacity and external long-term debt,
restrictions on activities and investments imposed by a section of the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956, as amended (the BHC Act) added by the Dodd-Frank Act referred to as the
Volcker Rule, comprehensive derivatives regulation, market structure regulation, tax
regulations, antitrust laws, trade and transaction reporting obligations, and broadened fiduciary
obligations. In some areas, regulatory standards are subject to final rulemaking or transition
periods or may otherwise be revised in whole or in part. Ongoing implementation of, or changes
in, laws and regulations could materially impact the profitability of Morgan Stanley's
businesses and the value of assets it holds, expose it to additional costs, require changes to
business practices or force it to discontinue businesses, adversely affect its ability to pay
dividends and repurchase its stock, or require it to raise capital, including in ways that may
adversely impact its shareholders or creditors. In addition, regulatory requirements that are
being imposed by foreign policymakers and regulators may be inconsistent or conflict with
regulations that Morgan Stanley is subject to in the U.S. and may adversely affect it. Legal and
regulatory requirements continue to be subject to ongoing change, which may result in
significant new costs to comply with new or revised requirements as well as to monitor for
compliance on an ongoing basis.

The application of regulatory requirements and strategies in the U.S. or other jurisdictions
to facilitate the orderly resolution of large financial institutions may pose a greater risk of
loss for Morgan Stanley's security holders, and subject Morgan Stanley to other restrictions.

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, Morgan Stanley is required to periodically submit to the
Federal Reserve and the FDIC a resolution plan that describes its strategy for a rapid and orderly
resolution under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the event of material financial distress or failure.
If the Federal Reserve and the FDIC were to jointly determine that Morgan Stanley's resolution
plan submission was not credible or would not facilitate an orderly resolution, and if Morgan
Stanley were unable to address any deficiencies identified by the regulators, Morgan Stanley
or any of its subsidiaries may be subject to more stringent capital, leverage, or liquidity
requirements or restrictions on its growth, activities, or operations, or after a two year period,
Morgan Stanley may be required to divest assets or operations.

In addition, provided that certain procedures are met, Morgan Stanley can be subject to a
resolution proceeding under the orderly liquidation authority under Title Il of the Dodd-Frank
Act with the FDIC being appointed as receiver. The FDIC's power under the orderly liquidation
authority to disregard the priority of creditor claims and treat similarly situated creditors
differently in certain circumstances, subject to certain limitations, could adversely impact
holders of Morgan Stanley's unsecured debt.

Further, because both Morgan Stanley's resolution plan contemplates a single point of entry
(SPOE) strategy under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and the FDIC has proposed an SPOE strategy
through which it may apply its orderly liquidation authority powers, Morgan Stanley believes
that the application of an SPOE strategy is the reasonably likely outcome if either its resolution
plan were implemented or a resolution proceeding were commenced under the orderly
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liquidation authority. An SPOE strategy generally contemplates the provision of adequate
capital and liquidity by Morgan Stanley to certain of its subsidiaries so that such subsidiaries
have the resources necessary to implement the resolution strategy, and Morgan Stanley has
entered into a secured amended and restated support agreement with its material entities, as
defined in Morgan Stanley's resolution plan pursuant to which it would provide such capital
and liquidityto such entities.

In further development of our SPOE strategy, we have created a wholly owned, direct
subsidiary of the Parent Company, Morgan Stanley Holdings LLC (Funding IHC), to serve as
a resolution funding vehicle. The Parent Company has transferred, and has agreed to transfer
on an ongoing basis, certain assets to the Funding IHC. In the event of a resolution scenario,
the Parent Company would be obligated to contribute all of its material assets that can be
contributed under the terms of the amended and restated support agreement (other than shares
in subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley and certain other assets) (Contributable Assets), to the
Funding IHC. The Funding IHC would be obligated to provide capital and liquidity, as
applicable, to its material entities. The obligations of Morgan Stanley and the Funding IHC
under the amended and restated support agreement are in most cases secured on a senior basis
by the assets of Morgan Stanley (other than shares in subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley and certain
other assets), and the assets of the Funding IHC. As a result, claims of Morgan Stanley's
material entities, including the Funding IHC, against the assets of Morgan Stanley with respect
to such secured assets are effectively senior to unsecured obligations of Morgan Stanley.
Although an SPOE strategy, whether applied pursuant to Morgan Stanley's resolution plan or
in a resolution proceeding under the orderly liquidation authority, is intended to result in better
outcomes for creditors overall, there is no guarantee that the application of an SPOE strategy,
including the provision of support to Morgan Stanley's material entities pursuant to the secured
amended and restated support agreement, will not result in greater losses for holders of Morgan
Stanley's securities compared to a different resolution strategy for Morgan Stanley.

Regulators have taken and proposed various actions to facilitate an SPOE strategy under the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code, the orderly liguidation authority and other resolution regimes. For
example, the Federal Reserve requires top-tier bank holding companies of U.S. global
systemically important banks, including Morgan Stanley, to maintain minimum amounts of
equity and eligible long-term debt (total loss-absorbing capacity or TLAC) in order to ensure
that such institutions have enough loss-absorbing resources at the point of failure to be
recapitalised through the conversion of debt to equity or otherwise by imposing losses on
eligible TLAC where the SPOE strategy is used. The combined implication of the SPOE
resolution strategy and the TLAC requirement is that Morgan Stanley's losses will be imposed
on the holders of eligible long-term debt and other forms of eligible TLAC issued by Morgan
Stanley before any losses are imposed on the holders of the debt securities of Morgan Stanley's
operating subsidiaries or before putting U.S. taxpayers at risk.

In addition, certain jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom (U.K.) and other European
Union (E.U.) jurisdictions, have implemented, or are in the process of implementing, changes
to resolution regimes to provide resolution authorities with the ability to recapitalise a failing
entity organised in such jurisdiction by writing down certain unsecured liabilities or converting
certain unsecured liabilities into equity. Such "bail-in" powers are intended to enable the
recapitalisation of a failing institution by allocating losses to its shareholders and unsecured
creditors. Non-U.S. regulators are also considering requirements that certain subsidiaries of
large financial institutions maintain minimum amounts of total loss-absorbing capacity that
would pass losses up from the subsidiaries to Morgan Stanley and, ultimately, to security
holders of Morgan Stanley in the event of failure.
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Morgan Stanley may be prevented from paying dividends or taking other capital actions
because of regulatory constraints or revised regulatory capital standards.

Morgan Stanley is subject to comprehensive consolidated supervision, regulation and
examination by the Federal Reserve, which requires Morgan Stanley to submit, on an annual
basis, a capital plan describing proposed dividend payments to shareholders, proposed
repurchases of its outstanding securities and other proposed capital actions that it intends to
take. The Federal Reserve may object to, or otherwise require Morgan Stanley to modify, such
plan, or may object or require modifications to a resubmitted capital plan, any of which would
adversely affect shareholders. In addition, beyond review of the plan, the Federal Reserve may
impose other restrictions or conditions on Morgan Stanley that prevent it from paying or
increasing dividends, repurchasing securities or taking other capital actions that would benefit
shareholders. Finally, the Federal Reserve may change regulatory capital standards to impose
higher requirements that restrict Morgan Stanley's ability to take capital actions or may modify
or impose other regulatory standards that increase Morgan Stanley's operating expenses and
reduce its ability to take capital actions.

The financial services industry faces substantial litigation and is subject to extensive
regulatory and law enforcement investigations, and Morgan Stanley may face damage to its
reputation and legal liability.

As a global financial services firm, Morgan Stanley faces the risk of investigations and
proceedings by governmental and self-regulatory organisations in all countries in which it
conducts its business. Investigations and proceedings initiated by these authorities may result
in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In addition to the
monetary consequences, these measures could, for example, impact Morgan Stanley's ability to
engage in, or impose limitations on, certain of its businesses. These investigations and
proceedings, as well as the amount of penalties and fines sought, continue to impact the
financial services industry and certain U.S. and international governmental entities have
brought criminal actions against, or have sought criminal convictions, pleas or deferred
prosecution agreements from, financial institutions. Significant regulatory or law enforcement
action against Morgan Stanley could materially adversely affect its business, financial condition
or results of operations or cause it significant reputational harm, which could seriously harm its
business. The Dodd-Frank Act also provides compensation to whistleblowers who present the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) or the United States Commodity
Futures Trading Commission (the CFTC) with information related to securities or commodities
law violations that leads to a successful enforcement action. As a result of this compensation,
it is possible Morgan Stanley could face an increased number of investigations by the SEC or
CFTC.

Morgan Stanley has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions,
including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, as well as investigations or
proceedings brought by regulatory agencies, arising in connection with its activities as a global
diversified financial services institution. Certain of the actual or threatened legal or regulatory
actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages, claims for
indeterminate amounts of damages, or may result in penalties, fines, or other results adverse to
Morgan Stanley. In some cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in
such cases are bankrupt or are in financial distress. In other cases, including antitrust litigation,
Morgan Stanley may be subject to claims for joint and several liability with other defendants
for treble damages or other relief related to alleged conspiracies involving other institutions.
Like any large corporation, Morgan Stanley is also subject to risk from potential employee
misconduct, including non-compliance with policies and improper use or disclosure of
confidential information, or improper sales practices or conduct.
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Morgan Stanley may be responsible for representations and warranties associated with
residential and commercial real estate loans and may incur losses in excess of its reserves.

Morgan Stanley originates loans secured by commercial and residential properties. Further,
Morgan Stanley securitises and trades in a wide range of commercial and residential real estate
and real estate-related whole loans, mortgages and other real estate and commercial assets and
products, including residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities. In connection with
these activities, Morgan Stanley has provided, or otherwise agreed to be responsible for, certain
representations and warranties. Under certain circumstances, Morgan Stanley may be required
to repurchase such assets or make other payments related to such assets if such representations
and warranties were breached. Morgan Stanley has also made representations and warranties
in connection with its role as an originator of certain commercial mortgage loans that it
securitised in commercial mortgage-backed securities.

Morgan Stanley currently has several legal proceedings related to claims for alleged breaches
of representations and warranties. If there are decisions adverse to Morgan Stanley in those
legal proceedings, it may incur losses substantially in excess of its reserves. In addition, Morgan
Stanley's reserves are based, in part, on certain factual and legal assumptions. If those
assumptions are incorrect and need to be revised, Morgan Stanley may need to adjust its
reserves substantially.

Morgan Stanley's commodities activities and investments subject it to extensive regulation,
and environmental risks and regulation that may expose it to significant costs and liabilities.

In connection with the commaodities activities in its Institutional Securities business segment,
Morgan Stanley executes transactions involving the storage, transportation and market-making
of several commaodities, including metals, natural gas, electric power, environmental attributes
and other commodity products. In addition, Morgan Stanley is an electricity power marketer in
the U.S. These activities subject Morgan Stanley to extensive energy, commodities,
environmental, health and safety and other governmental laws and regulations.

Although Morgan Stanley has attempted to mitigate its environmental risks by, among other
measures, limiting the scope of activities involving storage and transportation, adopting
appropriate policies and procedures, and implementing emergency response programs, these
actions may not prove adequate to address every contingency. In addition, insurance covering
some of these risks may not be available, and the proceeds, if any, from insurance recovery
may not be adequate to cover liabilities with respect to particular incidents. As a result, Morgan
Stanley's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected by
these events.

During the past several years, intensified scrutiny of certain energy markets by federal, state
and local authorities in the U.S. and abroad and by the public has resulted in increased
regulatory and legal enforcement, litigation and remedial proceedings involving companies
conducting the activities in which Morgan Stanley is engaged. In addition, enhanced regulation
of OTC derivatives markets in the U.S. and the E.U., as well as similar legislation proposed or
adopted elsewhere, will impose significant costs and requirements on Morgan Stanley's
commodities derivatives activities. Morgan Stanley may incur substantial costs or loss of
revenue in complying with current or future laws and regulations and its overall businesses and
reputation may be adversely affected by the current legal environment. In addition, failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and
penalties.
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A failure to address conflicts of interest appropriately could adversely affect Morgan
Stanley's businesses and reputation.

As a global financial services firm that provides products and services to a large and diversified
group of clients, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals,
Morgan Stanley faces potential conflicts of interest in the normal course of business. For
example, potential conflicts can occur when there is a divergence of interests between Morgan
Stanley and a client, among clients, between an employee on the one hand and Morgan Stanley
or a client on the other, or situations in which Morgan Stanley may be a creditor of a client.
Morgan Stanley has policies, procedures and controls that are designed to identify and address
potential conflicts of interest, and utilises various measures, such as the use of disclosure, to
manage these potential conflicts. However, identifying and mitigating potential conflicts of
interest can be complex and challenging and can become the focus of media and regulatory
scrutiny. Indeed, actions that merely appear to create a conflict can put Morgan Stanley's
reputation at risk even if the likelihood of an actual conflict has been mitigated. It is possible
that potential conflicts could give rise to litigation or enforcement actions, which may lead to
Morgan Stanley's clients being less willing to enter into transactions in which a conflict may
occur and could adversely affect Morgan Stanley's businesses and reputation.

Morgan Stanley's regulators have the ability to scrutinise its activities for potential conflicts of
interest, including through detailed examinations of specific transactions. For example, Morgan
Stanley's status as a bank holding company supervised by the Federal Reserve subjects it to
direct Federal Reserve scrutiny with respect to transactions between Morgan Stanley's U.S.
Bank Subsidiaries and their affiliates. Further, the Volcker Rule subjects Morgan Stanley to
regulatory scrutiny regarding certain transactions between Morgan Stanley and its clients.

Other risks relating to Morgan Stanley’s business activities
Competitive Environment

Morgan Stanley faces strong competition from financial services firms and others which
could lead to pricing pressures that could materially adversely affect its revenue and
profitability.

The financial services industry and all aspects of Morgan Stanley's businesses are intensely
competitive, and Morgan Stanley expects them to remain so. Morgan Stanley competes with
commercial banks, brokerage firms, insurance companies, exchanges, electronic trading and
clearing platforms, financial data repositories, sponsors of mutual funds, hedge funds, energy
companies, financial technology firms and other companies offering financial or ancillary
services in the U.S., globally and digitally or through the internet. Morgan Stanley competes
on the basis of several factors, including transaction execution, capital or access to capital,
products and services, innovation, technology, reputation, risk appetite and price. Over time,
certain sectors of the financial services industry have become more concentrated, as institutions
involved in a broad range of financial services have left businesses, been acquired by or merged
into other firms or have declared bankruptcy. Such changes could result in Morgan Stanley's
remaining competitors gaining greater capital and other resources, such as the ability to offer a
broader range of products and services and geographic diversity, or new competitors may
emerge. Morgan Stanley has experienced and may continue to experience pricing pressures as
a result of these factors and as some of its competitors seek to obtain market share by reducing
prices or providing more favourable terms of business. In addition, certain of Morgan Stanley's
competitors may be subject to different, and, in some cases, less stringent, legal and regulatory
regimes, than Morgan Stanley is, thereby putting it at a competitive disadvantage. Some new
competitors in the financial technology sector have sought to target existing segments of
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Morgan Stanley's businesses that could be susceptible to disruption by innovative or less
regulated business models.

For more information regarding the competitive environment in which Morgan Stanley
operates, see “Business—Competition” and “Business—Supervision and Regulation” on pages
1 to 9 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report which is incorporated by reference therein.

Automated trading markets and the introduction and application of new technologies may
adversely affect Morgan Stanley's business and may increase competition.

Morgan Stanley has experienced intense price competition in some of its businesses in recent
years. In particular, the ability to execute securities, derivatives and other financial instrument
trades electronically on exchanges, swap execution facilities, other automated trading platforms
and the introduction and application of new technologies has increased the pressure on bid-
offer spreads, commissions, markups or comparable fees. The trend toward direct access to
automated, electronic markets will likely continue and will likely increase as additional markets
move to more automated trading platforms. Morgan Stanley has experienced and it is likely
that it will continue to experience competitive pressures in these and other areas in the future
as some of its competitors may seek to obtain market share by reducing bid-offer spreads,
commissions, markups or fees.

Morgan Stanley’s ability to retain and attract qualified employees is critical to the success of
its business and the failure to do so may materially adversely affect its performance.

Morgan Stanley's people are its most important resource and competition for qualified
employees is intense. If Morgan Stanley is unable to continue to attract and retain highly
qualified employees, or do so at levels or in forms necessary to maintain its competitive
position, or if compensation costs required to attract and retain employees become more
expensive, Morgan Stanley's performance, including its competitive position and results of
operations, could be materially adversely affected. The financial industry has experienced and
may continue to experience more stringent regulation of employee compensation, including
limitations relating to incentive-based compensation, clawback requirements and special
taxation, which could have an adverse effect on Morgan Stanley's ability to hire or retain the
most qualified employees.

International Risk

Morgan Stanley is subject to numerous political, economic, legal, tax, operational, franchise
and other risks as a result of its international operations which could adversely impact its
businesses in many ways.

Morgan Stanley is subject to numerous political, economic, legal, tax, operational, franchise
and other risks that are inherent in operating in many countries, including risks of possible
nationalisation, expropriation, price controls, capital controls, exchange controls, increased
taxes and levies and other restrictive governmental actions, as well as the outbreak of hostilities
or political and governmental instability. In many countries, the laws and regulations applicable
to the securities and financial services industries are uncertain and evolving, and it may be
difficult for Morgan Stanley to determine the exact requirements of local laws in every market.
Morgan Stanley's inability to remain in compliance with local laws in a particular market could
have a significant and negative effect not only on its business in that market but also on its
reputation generally. Morgan Stanley is also subject to the risk that transactions it structures
might not be legally enforceable in all cases.
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Various emerging market countries have experienced severe political, economic or financial
disruptions, including significant devaluations of their currencies, defaults or potential defaults
on sovereign debt, capital and currency exchange controls, high rates of inflation and low or
negative growth rates in their economies. Crime and corruption, as well as issues of security
and personal safety, also exist in certain of these countries. These conditions could adversely
impact Morgan Stanley's businesses and increase volatility in financial markets generally.

The emergence of a disease pandemic, such as the coronavirus, or other widespread health
emergencies, natural disasters, terrorist activities or military actions, or social or political
tensions, could create economic and financial disruptions in emerging markets or in other areas
of the global economy that could adversely affect its businesses, or could lead to operational
difficulties (including travel limitations) that could impair Morgan Stanley's ability to manage
or conduct its businesses around the world.

As a U.S. company, Morgan Stanley is required to comply with the economic sanctions and
embargo programs administered by the U.S. Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control and
similar multi-national bodies and governmental agencies worldwide, as well as applicable anti-
corruption laws in the jurisdictions in which Morgan Stanley operates, such as the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act and the United Kingdom Bribery Act. A violation of a sanction, embargo
program, or anti-corruption law could subject Morgan Stanley, and individual employees, to a
regulatory enforcement action as well as significant civil and criminal penalties.

For more information on Morgan Stanley’s country risk see “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Risk—Country Risk” below the “Market Risk” risk factor above. In addition
to its country risk exposure, Morgan Stanley discloses its cross-border risk exposure in
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Financial Data Supplement (Unaudited)-
Cross-Border Outstandings” on pages 153 to 154 of the 2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report
which is incorporated by reference therein.

Acquisition, Divestiture and Joint Venture Risk

Morgan Stanley may be unable to fully capture the expected value from acquisitions,
divestitures, joint ventures, minority stakes or strategic alliances.

In connection with past or future acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, minority stakes or
strategic alliances (including with Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc.), Morgan Stanley faces
numerous risks and uncertainties combining, transferring, separating or integrating the relevant
businesses and systems, including the need to combine or separate accounting and data
processing systems and management controls and to integrate relationships with clients, trading
counterparties and business partners Certain of these strategic initiatives, and integration
thereof, may cause us to incur incremental expenses and may also require incremental financial,
management and other resources. In the case of joint ventures and minority stakes, Morgan
Stanley is subject to additional risks and uncertainties because it may be dependent upon, and
subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to, systems, controls and personnel
that are not under its control.

In addition, conflicts or disagreements between Morgan Stanley and any of its joint venture
partners may negatively impact the benefits to be achieved by the relevant joint venture.

There is no assurance that any of Morgan Stanley's acquisitions, divestitures or investments
will be successfully integrated or disaggregated or yield all of the positive benefits and
synergies anticipated. If Morgan Stanley is not able to integrate or disaggregate successfully
its past and future acquisitions or dispositions, there is a risk that its results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows may be materially and adversely affected.
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Certain of Morgan Stanley's business initiatives, including expansions of existing businesses,
may bring Morgan Stanley into contact, directly or indirectly, with individuals and entities that
are not within its traditional client and counterparty base and may expose it to new asset classes,
services, competitors, and new markets. These business activities expose Morgan Stanley to
new and enhanced risks, greater regulatory scrutiny of these activities, increased credit-related,
sovereign and operational risks, and reputational concerns regarding the manner in which these
assets are being operated or held, or services are being delivered.

The U.K.'s withdrawal from the E.U. could adversely affect Morgan Stanley and MSIP

It is difficult to predict the future of the U.K.’s relationship with the E.U., the uncertainty of
which may increase the volatility in the global financial markets in the short- and medium-term
and may negatively disrupt regional and global financial markets. Additionally, depending on
the outcome, such uncertainty may adversely affect the manner in which Morgan Stanley and
MSIP operate certain of their businesses in Europe. For more information on Morgan Stanley’s
country risk exposure related to the U.K. see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Risk—Country Risk---Country Risk Exposures Related to the U.K.” below this risk factor.

On January 31, 2020, the U.K. withdrew from the E.U. under the terms of a withdrawal
agreement between the U.K. and the E.U. The withdrawal agreement provides for a transition
period to the end of December 2020, during which time the U.K. will continue to apply E.U.
law as if it were a member state, and U.K. firms' passporting rights to provide financial services
in E.U. jurisdictions will continue.

With respect to financial services, the withdrawal agreement provides that the U.K. and the
E.U. will endeavor to conclude whether they will grant each other equivalence under European
financial regulations. Equivalence would provide a degree of access to E.U. markets for U.K.
financial firms, although the extent and duration of such access remains subject to negotiation.

If equivalence (or any alternative arrangement) is not agreed, Morgan Stanley’s U.K. licensed
entities may be unable to provide regulated services in a number of E.U. jurisdictions from the
end of December 2020, absent further regulatory relief.

Potential effects of the U.K. exit from the E.U. and potential mitigation actions may vary
considerably depending on the nature of the future trading arrangements between the U.K. and
the E.U.

In order to prepare for this risk, Morgan Stanley and MSIP are taking steps to make changes to
their European operations in an effort to ensure that they can continue to provide cross-border
banking and investment and other services in E.U. member states without the need for separate
regulatory authorisations in each member state.

These changes include use of a new licenced investment firm, Morgan Stanley Europe S.E
(MSESE) based in Germany, which is passported throughout the EU and serves EU-based
clients where required; and the existing EU German licensed bank Morgan Stanley Bank AG
(MSBAG), which will provide licensable banking activities where required. In addition, a new
holding company for this structure has been incorporated, Morgan Stanley Europe Holding SE
(MSEHSE). The Morgan Stanley Group will also serve EU clients out of branches of these
entities in the EU and existing regulated entities in France and Spain as necessary.

This new operating model went live in the first quarter of 2019, with MSESE commencing cash
securities and derivatives trading. MSIP has taken steps to support the build out of this new
operating model, including transferring employees to MSESE and migrating a significant
number of clients during 2019. The Morgan Stanley Group is continuing to build out the

-53-



15

capabilities of its EU entities. MSIP has taken steps to prepare the transfer of its existing branch
operations in The Netherlands and Poland to MSESE. In addition, the Morgan Stanley Group
expects that further clients of MSIP, and activities currently transacted by MSIP, including
capital markets activities will move from the MSIP to MSESE. The extent and timing of these
moves will depend on client preferences and on licencing rules, which in turn will depend on
the form of any future trading agreement between the UK and the EU in relation to financial
Services.

Following the reorganisations mentioned, the MSIP Group’s principal activity and risks remain
unchanged and the majority of current profitability and balance sheet remain within the MSIP
Group.

However, as a result of the political uncertainty described above, it is currently unclear what
the final post-Brexit structure of Morgan Stanley's and MSIP’s European operations will be.
Given the potential negative disruption to regional and global financial markets, and depending
on the extent to which Morgan Stanley and MSIP may be required to make material changes to
their European operations beyond those currently planned, Morgan Stanley’s and MSIP's
results of operations and business prospects could be negatively affected.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Risk—Country Risk---Country Risk
Exposures Related to the U.K.

At December 31, 2019, its country risk exposures in the U.K. included net exposures of $18,070
million (as shown in the Top 10 Non-U.S. Country Exposures table) and overnight deposits of
$6,378 million. The $19,488 million of exposures to non- sovereigns were diversified across
both names and sectors and include $6,804 million to U.K.-focused counterparties that generate
more than one-third of their revenues in the U.K., $4,817 million to geographically diversified
counterparties, and $5,946 million to exchanges and clearing houses.

Risk factors specific to MSBV

All material assets of MSBV are obligations of one or more companies in the Morgan Stanley
Group and MSBV's ability to perform its obligations is dependent upon such companies
fulfilling their obligations to MSBV.

MSBYV enters into the majority of its financial asset transactions with other Morgan Stanley
Group undertakings, primarily in Luxembourg and the United States of America. Both MSBV
and the other Morgan Stanley Group companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the same
ultimate parent entity, Morgan Stanley. As part of its hedging strategy for the obligations arising
pursuant to the issuance of the structured notes such as the Notes, all material assets of MSBV
are obligations of (or securities issued by) one or more Morgan Stanley Group companies. As
at 31 December 2019, loans to other Morgan Stanley Group companies represented
€7,065,314,000. Subject to the provisions of the Guarantee granted by Morgan Stanley under
the terms of the Notes, if any of these Morgan Stanley Group companies incurs losses with
respect to any of its activities (irrespective of whether those activities relate to MSBV or not)
the ability of such company to fulfil its obligations to MSBV could be impaired, thereby
exposing Noteholders MSBYV to a risk of loss of all or part of their investment in the Notes.

Risks relating to insolvency proceedings in the Netherlands.
The validity or enforceability of any documents or any legal act (rechtshandeling) forming part
thereof or contemplated thereby in relation to any securities issued by MSBV (including the

Notes) are subject to and limited by the protection afforded by Netherlands law to creditors
whose interests have been adversely affected pursuant to the rules of Netherlands law relating
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to (x) unlawful acts (onrechtmatige daden) based on Section 6:162 et seq. of the Netherlands
Civil Code (Burgerlijk Wetboek) and (y) fraudulent conveyance or preference (actio pauliana)
within the meaning of Section 3:45 of the Netherlands Civil Code (Burgerlijk Wetboek).
Furthermore, in the event of any insolvency proceedings being opened in the Netherlands in
relation to MSBYV, Dutch laws in relation to bankruptcy proceedings, in particular Section 42
et seq. of the Netherlands Bankruptcy Act (Faillissementswet) in relation to fraudulent
conveyance or preference (actio pauliana) would apply. The commencement of bankruptcy
proceedings against MSBV would have a material adverse effect on the market value of Notes
issued by MSBV. Any decisions taken in the context of bankruptcy proceedings against MSBV
could negatively impact the Noteholders and cause them to lose all or part of their investment,
should they not be able to recover amounts due to them from the Guarantor under the Guarantee.

Risk factors specific to MSI plc

There are substantial inter-relationships between MSI plc and other Morgan Stanley Group
companies.

Morgan Stanley is the holding company of a global financial services group. MSI plc is one of
the principal operating companies in the Morgan Stanley Group. MSI plc itself provides a wide
range of financial and securities services. There are substantial inter-relationships between MSI
plc and Morgan Stanley as well as other companies in the Morgan Stanley Group, including the
provision of funding, capital, services and logistical support to or by MSI plc, as well as
common or shared business or operational platforms or systems, including employees. As at 31
December 2019, the net credit exposure (i.e. the credit exposure remaining after the effect of
the credit enhancements) to other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings amounted to $ 10.585
billions. As a consequence of such inter-relationships, and of the participation of both MSI plc
and other Morgan Stanley Group companies in the global financial services sector, factors
which could affect the business and condition of Morgan Stanley or other companies in the
Morgan Stanley Group may also affect the business and condition of MSI plc. Any such effect
could be direct, for example, where economic or market factors directly affect the markets in
which MSI plc and other companies in the Morgan Stanley Group operate, or indirect, for
example where any factor affects the ability of other companies in the Morgan Stanley Group
to provide services or funding or capital to MSI plc or, directly or indirectly, to place business
with MSI plc. Similarly, any development affecting the reputation or standing of Morgan
Stanley or other companies in the Morgan Stanley Group may have an indirect effect on MSI
plc. Such inter-relationships should therefore be taken into account in any assessment of MSI
plc as they may cause MSI plc incurring losses with respect to any of its activities which may
reduce the ability of MSI plc to fulfil its obligations under the Notes, thereby exposing
Noteholders of MSI plc to a risk of loss of all or part of their investment in the Notes.

No guarantee.

Notes issued by MSI plc will not be guaranteed by Morgan Stanley. Although Morgan Stanley
has in the past provided financial support to MSI plc through capital injection and debt
financing, Morgan Stanley may not be able to do so in the future.

Risk is an inherent part of both Morgan Stanley's and the MSI plc Group's (as defined below)
business activity and is managed by the MSI plc Group within the context of the broader
Morgan Stanley Group. The Morgan Stanley Group seeks to identify, assess, monitor and
manage each of the various types of risk involved in its activities on a global basis, in
accordance with defined policies and procedures and in consideration of the individual legal
entities. The MSI plc Group's own risk management policies and procedures are consistent
with those of the Morgan Stanley Group. However, such risk management policies and
procedures may not be fully effective in mitigating its risk exposures in all market environments
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or against all types of risk, which could result in unexpected losses for MSI plc which may
reduce the ability of MSI plc to fulfil its obligations under the Notes, thereby exposing
Noteholders of MSI plc to a risk of loss of all or part of their investment in the Notes.

Applicable Resolution Powers

Powers under the Banking Act 20009.

MSI plc, as an investment firm for the purposes of the Banking Act 2009 (the Banking Act),
is subject to provisions of that Act which give wide powers in respect of U.K. banks and
investment firms (such as MSI plc) to HM Treasury, the Bank of England, the Prudential
Regulation Authority and the FCA (each a relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority) in
circumstances where the relevant U.K. bank or investment firm (a "relevant financial
institution™) is failing or is likely to fail. The Banking Act implements the provisions of
Directive 2014/59/EU (the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive or BRRD).

These powers include powers to: (a) transfer all or some of the liability in respect of the securities
issued by a relevant financial institution, or all or some of the property, rights and liabilities of a
relevant financial institution (which could include instruments issued by MSI plc and guarantee
liabilities of MSI plc), to a commercial purchaser or, in the case of securities, to HM Treasury
or an HM Treasury nominee, or, in the case of property, rights or liabilities, to an entity owned
by the Bank of England; (b) override any default provisions in contracts or other agreements,
including provisions that would otherwise allow a party to terminate a contract or accelerate the
payment of an obligation; (¢) commence certain insolvency procedures in relation to a relevant
financial institution; and (d) override, vary or impose contractual obligations, for reasonable
consideration, between a relevant financial institution and its parent, in order to enable any
transferee or successor of the relevant financial institution to operate effectively. The Banking
Act also gives power to HM Treasury to make further amendments to the law for the purpose of
enabling it to use the special resolution regime powers effectively, potentially with retrospective
effect.

By reason of its group relationship with certain other Morgan Stanley Group companies
(including companies incorporated outside the U.K.) which are banks, investment firms, EU
institutions or third—country institutions for the purposes of the Banking Act, MSI plc is a
banking group company within the meaning of the Banking Act. Accordingly, the relevant U.K.
Regulatory Authority can exercise substantially similar special resolution powers in respect of
MSI plc in its capacity as a banking group company where the Prudential Regulation Authority,
an EU resolution authority or third country authority having jurisdiction over the relevant
Morgan Stanley Group company is satisfied that such Morgan Stanley Group company meets
the relevant conditions for resolution action (including that it is failing or likely to fail, that it is
not reasonably likely that other measures would prevent its failure, and that it is in the public
interest to exercise those powers) or that it satisfies an equivalent test in the relevant jurisdiction
(irrespective of whether at that time MSI plc is failing or likely to fail). Additionally, where a
relevant third country Morgan Stanley Group company becomes subject to resolution or similar
measures, the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority may recognise the application of some of
those measures to MSI plc (irrespective of whether at that time MSI plc is failing or likely to
fail).

The implementation of these powers with respect to MSI plc may result in significant structural
changes to MSI plc and Noteholders may lose all or part of their initial investment and/or may
not receive the expected return.

Bail-in Power.
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The powers granted to the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority include (but are not limited to) a
"bail-in" power.

The "bail-in" power gives the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority the power, in relation to a
failing relevant financial institution or a banking group company in respect of a bank, investment
firm, EU institution or third-country institution (whether or not incorporated in the U.K.) which
is failing or likely to fail, to cancel all or a portion of certain of its unsecured liabilities and/or to
convert certain of its liabilities into another security, including ordinary shares of the surviving
entity, if any. Under the Banking Act, such power could be utilised in relation to MSI plc were
it to be failing or likely to fail, or were a bank, investment firm, EU institution or third-country
institution (whether or not incorporated in the U.K.) in respect of which MSI plc is a banking
group company to be failing or likely to fail. Were such power to be utilised in relation to MSI
plc, it could be utilised in relation to securities issued by MSI plc or guarantee liabilities of MSI
plc.

The Banking Act requires the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority to apply the "bail-in" power
in accordance with a specified preference order which differs from the ordinary insolvency order.
In particular, the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority must write-down or convert debts in the
following order: (i) additional tier 1, (ii) tier 2, (iii) other subordinated claims and (iv) eligible
senior claims.

Although the exercise of the bail-in power under the Banking Act is subject to certain pre-
conditions, there remains uncertainty regarding the specific factors (including, but not limited
to, factors outside the control of MSI plc or not directly related to MSI plc) which the relevant
U.K. Regulatory Authority would consider in deciding whether to exercise such power with
respect to MSI plc and its securities or other liabilities. Moreover, as the relevant U.K.
Regulatory Authority may have considerable discretion in relation to how and when it may
exercise such power, holders of securities issued or guaranteed by MSI plc may not be able to
refer to publicly available criteria in order to anticipate a potential exercise of such power and
consequently its potential effect on MSI plc and securities issued or guaranteed by MSI plc. If
the bail-in power were to be implemented in relation to MSI plc, Noteholders may lose all or
part of their initial investment and/or may not receive the expected return.

Other powers.

As well as a "bail-in" power, the powers of the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority under the
Banking Act include broad powers to (i) direct the sale of the relevant financial institution or the
whole or part of its business on commercial terms without requiring the consent of the
shareholders or complying with the procedural requirements that would otherwise apply, (ii)
transfer all or part of the business of the relevant financial institution to a "bridge institution™ (an
entity created for such purpose that is wholly or partially in public control) and (iii) separate
assets by transferring impaired or problem assets to one or more publicly owned asset
management vehicles to allow them to be managed with a view to maximising their value
through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this can be used together with another resolution
tool only). The Bank of England has broad powers to make one or more share transfer
instruments (in the case of a transfer to a private sector purchaser described in (i) or a transfer to
a "bridge institution" in the case of (ii)) or one or more property transfer instruments (in all three
cases). A transfer pursuant to a share transfer instrument or a property transfer instrument will
take effect despite any restriction arising by virtue of contract or legislation or in any other way.

In addition, the Banking Act gives the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority power to amend the
maturity date and/or any interest payment date of debt instruments or other eligible liabilities of
the relevant financial institution and/or impose a temporary suspension of payments and/or
discontinue the listing and admission to trading of debt instruments.
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The Banking Act provides that HM Treasury must, in making regulations about compensation
arrangements in the case of the exercise of a bail-in power, have regard to the "no creditor worse
off" principle, and HM Treasury has made regulations governing compensation arrangements
upon the exercise of a bail-in power. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exercise by the relevant
U.K. Regulatory Authority of any of the above powers under the Banking Act (including
especially the bail-in power) could lead to the holders of securities issued or guaranteed by MSI
plc losing some or all of their investment. Moreover, trading behaviour in relation to the
securities issued or guaranteed by MSI plc, including market prices and volatility, may be
affected by the use or any suggestion of the use of these powers and accordingly, in such
circumstances, such securities are not necessarily expected to follow the trading behaviour
associated with other types of securities. there is no certainty that the taking of any actions under
the Banking Act by the relevant U.K. Regulatory Authority or the manner in which its powers
under the Banking Act are exercised will not materially adversely affect the rights of holders of
securities issued or guaranteed by MSI plc (such as the Notes), the market value of an investment
in such securities and/or MSI plc's ability to satisfy its obligations under, or under its guarantee
of, such securities.

Extraordinary public financial support to be used only as a last resort.

Subject to certain conditions being met, the BRRD also makes provision for extraordinary public
financial support to be provided to an institution subject to resolution in the form of provision
of capital to such institution in exchange for common equity tier 1 instruments, additional
tier 1 instruments or tier 2 instruments or in the form of taking such institution into temporary
public ownership. However, such extraordinary public financial support should only be used
as a last resort. Therefore, if MSI plc is subject to resolution, the relevant UK Regulatory
Authority is only likely (if at all) to provide extraordinary public financial support only after
it has assessed and exploited, to the maximum extent practicable, all other applicable resolution
tools described above, which may result in the Noteholders losing all or part of their initial
investment and/or may not receive the expected return.

Risk factors specific to MSFL

As a finance subsidiary, MSFL has no independent operations and is expected to have no
independent assets

The principal risks with respect to Morgan Stanley described above will also represent the
principal risks with respect to MSFL, either as an individual entity or as part of the Morgan
Stanley Group.

Morgan Stanley Finance LLC is a “finance subsidiary” of Morgan Stanley, as defined in
Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X. MSFL issues structured notes to the
marketplace. Proceeds from issuances are lent to Morgan Stanley in the form of intercompany
notes. As at 31 December 2019, notes receivable from Morgan Stanley amounted to $18,900
millions and trading assets (mainly representing OTC derivative transactions MSFL enters into
with Morgan Stanley to economically hedge its borrowings (structured notes) and market
movements on those OTC derivative transactions) amounted to $903 millions, resulting in
MSFL total assets of $19,955 millions. MSFL has no independent operations beyond the
issuance and administration of its securities and is expected to have no independent assets
available for distributions to holders of MSFL Notes if they make claims in respect of the Notes
in a bankruptcy, resolution or similar proceeding. Accordingly, any recoveries by such
Noteholders will be limited to those available under the related Guarantee by Morgan Stanley
and that Guarantee will rank equally with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of Morgan Stanley present and future, but, in the event of insolvency, only to the
extent permitted by laws affecting creditors' rights. Holders will have recourse only to a single

-58 -



claim against Morgan Stanley and its assets under the Guarantee. Holders of Notes issued by
MSFL should accordingly assume that in any such proceedings they would not have any
priority over and should be treated equally with the claims of other unsecured, unsubordinated
creditors of Morgan Stanley, including holders of Morgan Stanley-issued securities. Holders of
the Notes issued by MSFL should therefore be aware that in any such proceedings a Holder’s
recoveries in respect of its claims under the Guarantee may be less than if it had such priority.
As a results Noteholders may lose all or part of their initial investment and/or may not receive
the expected return.
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Risk Factors relating to the Notes

2.

2.1

3.1

3.2

Risks for the Noteholders as creditors of the Issuer
Credit risk

Pursuant to Condition 4 (Status), the obligations of the Issuers under the Notes and of the
Guarantor under the Guarantee are unsecured. Noteholders bear the credit risk of the Issuer
and/or, if applicable, the Guarantor, that is the risk that the relevant Issuer and/or, if applicable,
the Guarantor, is not able to meet its obligations under such Notes, irrespective of whether such
Notes are referred to as capital or principal protected or how any principal, interest or other
payments under such Notes are to be calculated. If the Issuer and/or the Guarantor is not able
to meet its obligations under the Notes, then that would have a material negative impact on the
investor’s return on the Notes and an investor may lose up to its entire investment.

Risks related to the market generally
Exchange rates may affect the value or return of the Notes

Noteholders may be exposed to exchange rate risks where (i) the Notes are Curency-Linked
Notes, (ii) the Relevant Underlying(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms is or are
denominated or priced in currencies other than the currency in which the Notes are
denominated, (iii) the value of the components is determined in a different currency to the value
of the Relevant Underlying, or (iv) the Notes and/or such Relevant Underlying specified in the
applicable Final Terms are denominated in currencies other than the currency of the country in
which the Noteholder is resident. There may be significant changes in exchange rates due to
economic or political events and/or due to governments using a variety of techniques to
influence exchanges rates such as (i) the imposition or modification of regulatory controls or
taxes, which may also affect the availability of a currency (ii) intervention by a country’s central
bank, (iii) changes in interest rates, (iv) issuing a new currency to replace an exisiting currency.
Depending on the terms of the Notes, any such significant change(s) in exchange rates may
materially and adversely affect the value of such Notes. As a result, Noteholders may receive
less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal as measured in the
Noteholders’ currency.

Secondary trading of the Notes may be limited

The nature and extent of any secondary market in the Notes cannot be predicted and there may
be little or no secondary market in the Notes. As a consequence any person intending to hold
the Notes should consider liquidity in the Notes as a risk. Where the Notes are admitted to
listing, trading and/or quoted by or on any listing authority, exchange or quotation system, this
does not imply greater or lesser liquidity than if equivalent Notes were not so listed, traded or
quoted and the Issuer cannot guarantee that the admission to listing, trading or quotation will
be permanently maintained. Where the Notes are not admitted to listing, trading and/or
guotation, it becomes more difficult to subscribe or purchase and sell such Notes and there may
also be a lack of transparency with regard to pricing information. This may impact the ability
of a Noteholder to sell the Notes at any time. Noteholders may not be able to sell their Notes
readily or at prices that will enable investors to realise their anticipated yield. This could have
a significant adverse impact on the Noteholders and, as a result, Noteholders could lose all or
part of their investment in the Notes.

Further, although an Issuer may apply to have certain issuances of Notes admitted to trading on

Euronext Paris, on the Luxembourg Regulated Market, on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s
Euro MTF market, displayed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Securities Official List
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3.4

(LuxSE SOL) (without admission to trading) or to listing, trading and/or quotation by any
listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, approval for any listing is subject to
meeting the relevant listing requirements. Even if there is a secondary market, it may not
provide enough liquidity to allow the investor to sell or trade the Notes easily. MSIP and other
Affiliates of Morgan Stanley may from time to time, make a market in the Notes, but they are
not contractually required to do so. If at any time MSIP and other Affiliates of the Issuers were
to cease making a market in the Notes, it is likely that there would be little or no secondary
market for the Notes. This may impact the ability of a Noteholder to sell the Notes at any time.
This could have a significant adverse impact on the Noteholders and, as a result, Noteholders
could lose all or part of their investment in the Notes.

Effect on the Notes of hedging transactions by the Issuer

As disclosed in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may use a portion of the total proceeds
from the issue of the Notes for transactions to hedge the risks of the Issuer relating to the Notes.
In such case, the Issuer or any of its Affiliates may conclude transactions that correspond to the
obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. As a rule, such transactions are concluded prior to or
on the Issue Date, but it is also possible to conclude such transactions after issue of the Notes.
On or before a valuation date, the Issuer or any of its Affiliates may take the steps necessary
for closing out any hedging transactions. It cannot, however, be ruled out that the price, level
or value of a Relevant Underlying will be influenced by such transactions. Entering into or
closing out these hedging transactions could affect the price, rate, level or other value of the
Relevant Underlying(s) and as a result may influence the probability of occurrence or
non-occurrence of determining events in the case of Notes. For instance, where "barrier" is used
to identify the terms for determining interest payable on any Notes, hedging activities may
result in a lower price for the Relevant Underlying which may remain below the barrier value
on Determination Date; in such case the barrier condition would not be satisfied and the amount
of interest payable under the Notes will be zero. Accordingly, the hedging activities of the
Issuer and its affiliates could have a significant negative impact on the investor's return on the
Notes.

Payments on Notes issued by Morgan Stanley or MSFL may be subject to U.S. withholding
tax in certain circumstances

Payments on a Note issued by Morgan Stanley or MSFL may in certain circumstances be
subject to U.S. withholding tax of 30 per cent. For example, such U.S. withholding may apply
(i) under the provisions of U.S. tax law commonly known as FATCA, (ii) with respect to certain
securities linked to U.S. equities or indices that include U.S. equities (U.S. equity-linked
securities), or (iii) if investors fail to establish their non-U.S. status and FATCA exemption by
furnishing to the payee the applicable IRS certification forms. See "Taxation - United States
Federal Taxation" below for further discussion of these rules. If U.S. withholding tax is
imposed, including due to the failure by a beneficial owner (or financial institution holding a
Note on behalf of a beneficial owner) to establish an exemption from withholding, or because
withholding is required on U.S. equity-linked securities, none of the Issuers, the Guarantor or
any intermediary will be required to pay any additional amounts or otherwise indemnify a
holder with respect to the amounts so withheld. In such cases investors will receive significantly
less than the amounts they would have been entitled to receive if such U.S. withholding tax had
not been imposed, which may significantly reduce the return on the Notes.
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Risks relating to specific provisions governing Noteholders’ rights under the Notes
Limited Events of Default under the Notes

Events of Default with respect to Notes are limited to (i) a failure to pay, by the relevant Issuer
or the Guarantor, as the case may be, any amount of principal or interest in respect of the Notes
within thirty days of the due date for payment thereof, or (ii) the bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganisation of the relevant Issuer, all as further described under Condition 18 (Events of
Default).

The Notes will not have the benefit of any cross-default or cross-acceleration with other
indebtedness of MSIP, MSBV, MSFL or Morgan Stanley, as applicable. Other than the
covenant to pay, there are no covenants under the Notes and a breach of any obligations under
the Notes other than a failure to pay (as detailed above) by MSIP, MSBV, MSFL or Morgan
Stanley, as Issuer, does not constitute an event of default under the Notes. In addition, a breach
of any obligations under the Notes other than a failure to pay (as detailed above) by Morgan
Stanley as guarantor, or an event of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of Morgan
Stanley as guarantor, does not constitute an event of default with respect to any Notes issued
by MSBV or MSFL. As a result, in such circumstances Noteholders will not be able to declare
the Notes immediately due and payable pursuant to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.
This may have a material negative impact on the market value of the Notes and Noteholders
may lose all or part of their investment.

Modification and waiver

Conditions 22 (Representation of Noteholders) contain provisions for the representation of
Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. Noteholders may through
collective decision deliberate on any proposal relating to the modification of the Conditions
including any proposal, whether for arbitration or settlement, relating to potential litigation
claim against the relevant Issuer. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all holders
of the relevant Notes, including holders who did not attend or were not represented at the
relevant meeting and holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. If Holders of the
Notes are not part of the defined majority, including if such holder did not attend the relevant
meeting, they will be bound by the decision of the defined majority on matters which may
negatively affect the interests of the such holder. This may have a significant negative impact
on the market value of the Notes and hence Noteholders may lose part of their investment.

The Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, may be substituted by another entity

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out that the Issuer can, without the consent of
Noteholders and without taking into consideration the interest of Noteholders, agree to be
substituted by another as principal debtor of the Notes, subject to the conditions set out in
Condition 29 (Substitution). The substitution can, in particular, but without limitation, be
conditional to the fact that Morgan Stanley or MSI plc, as the case may be, guarantee the
obligations of the substitute issuer under the Notes (as further described in Condition 29.1
(Substitution of Issuer with Morgan Stanley Group entities)) or that the Issuer or the Guarantor
can, in certain cases, be substituted by other entities outside Morgan Stanley Group,
Noteholders having, in such case, the right to request the early redemption of their Notes in
certain timing (as further described in Condition 29.6 (Right to Redemption in respect of
substitutions with non Morgan Stanley Group entities)). In addition, the substitute shall receive
all necessary regulatory authorizations in order to comply with its commitments under the
Notes or to the Guarantee (as applicable) and this substitution shall be permitted by any
regulated market on which one the Notes are, as the case may be, admitted to trading and
potential requirements applicable to this regulated market shall be complied with so that the
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Notes remain admitted to trading on this regulated market. If the Issuer substitutes an entity for
the Issuer as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes, the tax consequences (including the
withholding tax consequences) of holding the Notes may change. Except as otherwise set out
in the Terms and Conditions, if withholding is required on the Notes the Issuer will not be
required to pay any additional amounts (as further described in Condition 29.7 (Tax
consequences of the substitution)). For further explanations, please refer to Condition 29
(Substitution). Any such substitution may result in a reduction in the value of the Notes and the
Noteholders may lose all or part of their investment in the Notes.

Risks in connection with termination and adjustment rights due to event(s) affecting the
Relevant Underlying(s)

Market Disruption Event, Disrupted Day, Adjustments and Early Redemption of Notes

In accordance with Condition 9 (Provisions Relating to Equity-Linked Notes), the
Determination Agent may determine in its reasonable discretion that a Market Disruption Event
or a failure to open of an Exchange or Related Exchange has occurred or exists on a relevant
date of valuation, and any consequential postponement of such date of valuation may have a
material adverse effect on the value of the Notes.

In addition the Determination Agent may in its reasonable discretion make adjustments to the
Notes to account for relevant adjustments or events in relation to the Relevant Underlying
including, but not limited to, determining a successor to the Relevant Underlying or its sponsor
(in the case of an Index), determining a successor or substitute futures contract (in the case of
a Futures Contract). In addition, in certain circumstances, the Issuer may redeem the Notes
prior to the Maturity Date following any such event. In this case, in relation to each Note, the
Issuer will pay an amount, if any, determined as provided in the Terms and Conditions.

In making these adjustments the Determination Agent is entitled to exercise substantial
discretion and may be subject to conflicts of interest in exercising this discretion. The
Determination Agent is not required but has the discretion to make adjustments with respect to
each and every corporate action.

Determinations made by the Issuer and the Determination Agent in respect of Potential
Adjustment Events, Merger Events, Tender Offers, Delisting, Nationalisations, Insolvencies
and Additional Disruption Events may have an adverse effect on the value of the Share-
Linked Notes

Upon the determination by the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion, that a
Potential Adjustment Event (as defined in Condition 9.7 (Definitions applicable to Equity-
Linked Notes)), Merger Event, Tender Offer (as defined in Condition 9.4(a) ( Merger Event or
Tender Offer)), Delisting, Nationalisation, Insolvency (as defined in Condition 9.4(b)
(Nationalisation, Insolvency and Delisting)) or Additional Disruption Event (as defined in
Condition 9.6 (Additional Disruption Events)) has occurred in relation to an underlying Share
or Share Company, the Issuer (in the case of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Delisting,
Nationalisation, Insolvency or an Additional Disruption Event) will, in its reasonable discretion,
determine whether the relevant Share-Linked Notes shall continue or shall be redeemed early,
any of which determinations may have an adverse effect on the value of the Share-Linked Notes
and, in the case of a Potential Adjustment Event, the Determination Agent may, in its reasonable
discretion, make certain determinations to account for the occurrence of the relevant event,
including to make adjustments to the terms of the Share-Linked Notes. If the Issuer determines
that the relevant Share-Linked Notes shall be redeemed early, the Issuer shall provide notice of
such early redemption to Noteholders a prescribed number of days prior to the date fixed for
redemption. In the event that the Share-Linked Notes are early settled/redeemed, the amount
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payable to Holders may be significantly less than the investor's initial investment, and may be
as low as zero.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Share-Linked Notes shall continue following the
occurrence of such an event, the Determination Agent may, in its reasonable discretion, make
certain determinations to account for the occurrence of the relevant event, including to make
adjustments to the terms of the Share-Linked Notes. The application of any of these adjustments
may significantly and adversely affect the value of the Noteholder’s investment in the Share-
Linked Notes.

As further described in Condition 9.7 (Definitions applicable to Equity-Linked Notes), Potential
Adjustment Events include (a) a sub-division, consolidation or re-classification of the Shares,
(b) an extraordinary dividend, (c) a call of the Shares that are not fully paid, (d) a repurchase
by the Share Company, or an affiliate thereof, of the Shares, (e) a separation of rights from the
Shares or (f) any event having a dilutive or concentrative effect on the value of the Shares. As
further described in Condition 9.6 (Additional Disruption Events), Additional Disruption
Events include, (1) a change in applicable law since the Trade Date that makes it illegal to hold,
acquire or dispose of the Shares or more expensive for the relevant Issuer to hedge its
obligations under the relevant Share-Linked Notes, (2) an insolvency filing by or on behalf of
any issuer of the relevant Share(s), (3) Increased Cost of Hedging and (4) Hedging Disruption.

In making these adjustments the Determination Agent is entitled to exercise substantial
discretion and may be subject to conflicts of interest in exercising this discretion. The
Determination Agent is not required but has the discretion to make adjustments with respect to
each and every corporate action.

Exposure to Index Modification, Index Cancellation, Index Disruption,
Administrator/Benchmark Event and correction of Index levels

In accordance with Condition 9.2 (Adjustments to Indices), the Determination Agent may in its
reasonable discretion make certain determinations and adjustments, to replace the original
Relevant Underlying with another and/or to cause early redemption/settlement of the Notes,
any of which may be adverse to Holders in connection with Index Modification, Index
Cancellation, Index Disruption and Administrator/ Benchmark Event (all as defined in
Condition 9.2 (Adjustments to Indices)). The Determination Agent may determine that the
consequence of any such event is to make adjustments to the amounts payable by the Issuer
under the Notes, to make adjustments to the other terms and conditions of the Notes, or to
replace such Index with another or pursuant to 9.2 (d) (Redemption for Index Adjustment Event)
in certain circumstances the Issuer may, in its reasonable discretion, determine that the Notes
shall be redeemed. If the Issuer decides to redeem the Notes, each Note will be redeemed at an
amount equal to (i) if “Early Redemption Amount (Index Cancellation) - Fair Market Value
Less Costs” is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note less the
proportion attributable to that Notes of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/ or any Affiliate of,
or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements or (ii) if “Early Redemption Amount (Index Cancellation) - Fair Market Value”
is specified in the Final Terms the fair market value of such Note, in each case as calculated by
the Determination Agent.In accordance with Condition 9.2(e) (Correction of Index Levels), the
Determination Agent may also amend the relevant Index level due to corrections in the level
reported by the Index Sponsor. The consequences of such amendments could significantly and
adversely affect the market value of the Index-Linked Notes.

In making these adjustments and calculation the Determination Agent is entitled to exercise
substantial discretion and may be subject to conflicts of interest in exercising this discretion.
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Administrator/Benchmark Events

Where the Relevant Underlying or otherwise any rate by reference to which interest is payable
under the Notes is an index, benchmark, rate or price source, the administrator or sponsor may
be required to be authorised, registered, recognised, endorsed or otherwise included in an
official register in order for the Issuer, the Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent to be
permitted to use the Relevant Benchmark and perform their respective obligations under the
Notes. In the case where the Relevant Underlying or the rate by reference to which interest is
payable under the Notes is a “Relevant Benchmark” and the Determination Agent determines
that any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval
or inclusion in any official register of the Relevant Benchmark or its administrator or sponsor
has not been obtained with the effect that any of the Issuer, the Determination Agent or
Calculation Agent is not or will not be permitted to use the Relevant Benchmark in respect of
the Notes, an “Administrator/ Benchmark Event”(as defined in Condition 2 (Interpretation))
will occur. In such a case the Determination Agent will apply certain fallbacks. These may
include one or more of replacing the Relevant Benchmark with any “Alternative Pre-nominated
Index” (in the case of a Relevant Underlying) or any “Alternative Pre-nominated Reference
Rate” (otherwise in the case of a rate by reference to which interest is payable under the Notes)
which has been specified in the applicable Final Terms, making adjustments to the amounts
payable by the Issuer under the Notes, adjusting the other terms and conditions of the Notes or
redeeming the Notes. The application of any of these fallbacks may significantly and adversely
affect the value of the Noteholder’s investment in the Notes.

In making these adjustments the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent is entitled to
exercise substantial discretion and may be subject to conflicts of interest in exercising this
discretion.

See also “Risk Factors—LIBOR, EURIBOR and Benchmark rates discontinuance or
prohibition on use may lead to adjustments to the terms of the Notes or an early redemption of
the Notes below. Such adjustments to the terms of the Notes or early redemption of the Notes
may adversely impact the return on and value of the Notes.

LIBOR, EURIBOR and other benchmark rate discontinuance or prohibition on use may
lead to adjustments to the terms of the Notes or an early redemption of the Notes

Pursuant to Condition 6.11 (Relevant Rates Benchmark Discontinuance or Prohibition on Use)
applicable to Notes which pay a floating rate of interest (including notably Floating Rate Notes),
if the Relevant Rates Benchmark has been discontinued certain fallback provisions will apply.
These provisions apply to “Relevant Rates Benchmarks” (which will include LIBOR,
EURIBOR and other similar interbank rates). The fallback provisions will be triggered if the
Determination Agent determines that (i) the administrator or regulatory supervisor (or other
applicable regulatory body) in connection with such Relevant Rates Benchmark announces that
the administrator has ceased or will cease permanently or indefinitely to provide such Relevant
Rates Benchmark and there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the
Relevant Rates Benchmark, (ii) where the Relevant Rates Benchmark is a LIBOR, a public
statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the
Relevant Rates Benchmark announcing that the Relevant Rates Benchmark is no longer
representative, or (iii) unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, an
Administrator/Benchmark Event occurs in relation to such Relevant Rates Benchmark.

Following the occurrence of any of these events the Determination Agent may replace the
Relevant Rates Benchmark with any “Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate” which has
been specified in the applicable Final Terms or if no Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate
is specified in the applicable Final Terms, with an alternative rate that is consistent with
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accepted market practice for debt obligations such as the Notes. If an Alternative Pre-nominated
Reference Rate or other alternative rate is used then the Determination Agent may also make
other adjustments to the Notes, including to the new rate and to the Margin, which are consistent
with accepted market practice. If the Determination Agent is unable to identify an alternative
rate and determine the necessary adjustments to the terms of the Notes then the Issuer may
redeem the Notes. If the Issuer decides to redeem the Notes, each Note will be redeemed at an
amount equal to (i) if “Early Redemption Amount (Benchmark Trigger Event) - Fair Market
Value Less Costs” is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note less the
proportion attributable to that Notes of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/ or any Affiliate of,
or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements or (ii) if “Early Redemption Amount (Benchmark Trigger Event) - Fair Market
Value” is specified in the Final Terms the fair market value of such Note, in each case as
calculated by the Determination Agent. Such adjustments to the terms of the Notes or early
redemption of the Notes may adversely impact the return on and value of the Notes.

Any determination, calculation or decision of the Determination Agent described above will be
made in the Determination Agent’s discretion (in some cases after consultation with the Issuer).

In addition, (i) the composition and characteristics of the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference
Rate or other alternative rate will not be the same as those of the Relevant Rates Benchmark
which it replaces, the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate will
not be the economic equivalent of the Relevant Rates Benchmark that it replaces, there can be
no assurance that the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate will
perform in the same way as the Relevant Rates Benchmark that it replaces would have at any
time and there is no guarantee that the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other
alternative rate will be a comparable substitute for the Relevant Rates Benchmark which it
replaces, (each of which means that the replacement of the Relevant Rates Benchmark by the
Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate could adversely affect the
value of the Notes, the return on the Notes and the price at which the Noteholder can sell such
Notes), (ii) any failure of the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate
to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the Notes, (iii) the Alternative Pre-nominated
Reference Rate or other alternative rate may have a very limited history and the future
performance of the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate cannot
be predicted based on historical performance, (iv) the secondary trading market for Notes linked
to the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate may be limited and
(v) the administrator of the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or other alternative rate
may make changes that could change the value of the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference
Rate or other alternative rate or discontinue the Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate or
other alternative rate and has no obligation to consider the Noteholder’s interests in doing so.

The application of any of these fallbacks may adversely affect the value of the Noteholder’s
investment in the Notes. See also “Risk Factors—Administrator/Benchmark Events” above.

Risk Factors relating to the Relevant Underlying(s)
Exposure to emerging market

Fluctuations in the trading prices of the underlying emerging market share will affect the value
of Equity-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes or Futures Contract-Linked Notes where the
underlying asset is such a share. Changes may result over time from the interaction of many
factors directly or indirectly affecting economic and political conditions in the related countries
or member nations, including economic and political developments in other countries. Of
particular importance to potential risks are (i) rates of inflation; (ii) interest rate levels;
(iii) balance of payments; and (iv) the extent of governmental surpluses or deficits in the

- 66 -



6.2

relevant country. All of these factors are, in turn, sensitive to the monetary, fiscal and trade
policies pursued by the related countries, the governments of the related countries and member
nations (if any), and other countries important to international trade and finance. Governments
use a variety of techniques, such as intervention by their central bank or imposition of
regulatory controls or taxes to affect the trading of the underlying equity. Thus, a special risk
in purchasing such Notes is that their trading value and amount payable at maturity could be
affected by the actions of governments, fluctuations in response to other market forces and the
movement of currencies across borders. Emerging markets stocks may be more volatile than
the stocks in more developed markets. All these factors could materially and adversely affect
the value of such Notes.

Where the Notes are denominated in an emerging market currency or linked to one or more
emerging market currencies, such emerging market currency can be significantly more volatile
than currencies of more developed markets. Emerging markets currencies are highly exposed
to the risk of a currency crisis happening in the future and this could trigger the need for the
Determination Agent (MSIP or an affiliate) to make adjustments to the terms and conditions of
the Notes. Such adjustments may have a material adverse affect on the value or return of
the Notes.

Notes linked to the performance of funds

In accordance with Condition 12 (Provisions relating to Fund-Linked Notes), the relevant
Issuer may issue Notes where the redemption amount or, if applicable, the interest amount in
relation to Fund-Linked Notes or the return, in relation to Fund Securities (together with the
Fund-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes) is linked to the performance of a unit, share or other
interest in a fund (each a Fund Interest Unit) or a basket of Fund Interest Units. Such funds
may include mutual funds or any other types of fund in any jurisdiction, or any combination of
the foregoing. The performance of Fund-Linked Notes is dependent upon the performance of
relevant Fund Interest Unit, which may be influenced by the following factors: (i) different
types of funds are subject to differing levels of regulatory supervision, (ii) funds may have
varying restrictions on leverage and whilst leverage presents the potential for a higher rate of
return, it also increases the volatility of a fund and risk of total loss, (iii) funds may have
differing investment restrictions and some funds may invest in assets which are illiquid or
difficult to transfer, this may have an effect on the realisation of such assets and in turn, the
value and performance of the fund, (iv) the performance of a fund will be heavily dependent on
the performance of investments selected by its advisers or investment managers and the skill
and expertise of such service providers in making profitable investment decisions, should the
key personnel leave or become no longer associated with the fund's adviser or investment
manager, the value or profitability of the fund's investments may be adversely affected as a
result. If a Fund Interest Unit does not perform as expected, this will materially and adversely
affect the value of Fund-Linked Notes.

Payments on redemption or termination of Fund-Linked Notes at maturity, expiration, early
redemption may be postponed, in accordance with the Conditions, up to a specified long stop
date and if the specified long stop date is reached, for the purposes of determining the
Redemption Amount or any other such redemption amounts, as applicable, the affected fund
interest units or shares may be deemed to have a zero value. If one or more events occurs in
relation to the Fund or any Fund Service Provider, including insolvency of the Fund or Fund
Service Provider, then the Issuer, may in its reasonable discretion, determine whether the Fund-
Linked Notes will continue or whether they will be redeemed or terminated early. If the Issuer
determines that the Fund-Linked Notes will continue, this may result in the substitution of the
affected Fund Interest Unit with other Fund Interest Units with similar characteristics or
adjustments to the Conditions of the Notes to account for the occurrence of the relevant event.
These actions may have an adverse effect on the return and risk profile of the relevant Fund-
Linked Notes, and consequently, the value of such Fund-Linked Notes and if the Fund-Linked
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Notes are redeemed or terminated early the amount investors receive may be considerably less
than their original investment and may even be zero.

Risks relating to Index-Linked Notes
Factors affecting the performance of Indices may adversely affect the value of the Notes

In accordance with Condition 6 (Floating Rate Note, Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked,
Inflation-Linked Interest, Fund-Linked and Futures Contract-Linked Note Provisions), the
relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the redemption amount or, if applicable, the interest
amount is linked to the performance of an index or a basket of indices. Indices are comprised
of a synthetic portfolio of shares, bonds, currency exchange rates, commaodities, property or
other assets, and as such, the performance of an Index is dependent upon the performance of
components of such Index, which may include interest rates, currency developments, political
factors, market factors such as the general trends in capital markets or broad based indices and
(in the case of shares) company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk
situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy. If an Index does not perform as
expected, this will materially and adversely affect the value of Index-Linked Notes.

A change in the composition or discontinuance of an Index could adversely affect the market
value of the Notes

The sponsor of any Index can add, delete or substitute the components of such Index or make
other methodological changes that could change the level of one or more components. The
changing of components of any Index may affect the level of such Index as a newly added
component may perform significantly worse or better than the component it replaces, which in
turn may affect the payments made by the relevant Issuer to the Holders of the Index-Linked
Notes. The sponsor of any such Index may also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or
dissemination of such Index. The sponsor of an Index will have no involvement in the offer and
sale of the Index-Linked Notes and will have no obligation to any Holder of such Notes.
Accordingly, the sponsor of an Index may take any actions in respect of such Index without
regard to the interests of the Holder of the Notes, and any of these actions could significantly
and adversely affect the market value of the Index-Linked Notes.

Reform of LIBOR and EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity and foreign
exchange rate index “Benchmarks”

The Final Terms for a Series of Floating Rate Notes may specify that the Rate of Interest for
such Notes will be determined by reference to the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR),
the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and other indices which are deemed
“benchmarks” are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance
and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to
be implemented. These reforms may cause such “benchmarks” to perform differently than in
the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any
such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to a “benchmark.”

Any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the general increased
regulatory scrutiny of “benchmarks” could increase the costs and risks of administering or
otherwise participating in the setting of a “benchmark” and complying with any such
regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or participate in certain “benchmarks,” trigger
changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain “benchmarks” or lead to the disappearance
of certain “benchmarks.” The disappearance of a “benchmark” or changes in the manner of
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administration of a “benchmark” could have materially adverse consequences in relation to
Notes linked to such “benchmark”.

Planned replacement of LIBOR may adversely affect the return on any Notes linked to
LIBOR and their secondary market prices

The Final Terms for a Series of Floating Rate Notes may specify that the Rate of Interest for
such Notes will be determined by reference to the LIBOR. Central banks around the world,
including the U.S. Federal Reserve, have commissioned working groups that include market
participants (the Alternative Rate Committees) with the goal of finding suitable replacements
for their currency’s LIBOR that are based on observable market transactions. The search for
replacements accelerated after the Financial Stability Board reported that uncertainty
surrounding the integrity of LIBOR represents a potentially serious systemic vulnerability and
risk due to limited transactions in the underlying inter-bank lending market. In July 2017, the
Chief Executive of the FCA, which regulates LIBOR, called for an orderly transition over a 4-
5 year period from LIBOR to the reference rates selected by the Alternative Rate Committees.
The FCA’s announcement stated that it expects that it would not be in a position to sustain
LIBOR through its influence or legal compulsion powers after the end of 2021. Any transition
away from LIBOR, as well as the uncertainty surrounding the future of LIBOR and future
regulatory and market developments, could have a significant adverse effect on the return on
any Notes linked to LIBOR and their secondary market prices. See also “Risk Factors—Reform
of LIBOR and EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity and foreign exchange rate
index ‘Benchmarks” above.

Risks relating to Share-Linked Notes

Pursuant to Condition 9 (Provisions Relating to Equity-Linked Notes), the Issuers may issue
Notes where the redemption amount or, if applicable, the interest amount is linked to the
performance of the Shares of an entity or a basket of Shares. The performance of Shares is
dependent upon macroeconomic factors, such as interest and price levels on the capital markets,
currency developments, political factors and company-specific factors such as earnings
position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy. If the
Share(s) do(es) not perform as expected, this will materially and adversely affect the value of
Shared-Linked Notes.

Risks Relating to Futures Contract-Linked Notes

Pursuant to Condition 13 (Provisions Relating to Futures Contract-Linked Notes), the Issuers
may issue Notes where the redemption amount or, if applicable, the interest amount is linked
to the performance of a futures contract (a Futures Contract) or a basket of Futures Contracts.
The underlying of such Futures Contracts may include equity indices (including equity indices
giving exposure to dividends paid by the constituent companies or the volatility of those
constituent companies), single stocks, foreign exchange rates, bonds, or other types of
underlying asset(s), contracts or property.

The value of the futures contract(s) underlying the Notes and, as a consequence, the value of
Futures Contract-Linked Notes will depend on factors affecting any underlying of the futures
contract(s) such as (i) the expectations of performance in relation to the underlying of the
futures contract or the constituent assets of any index or indices underlying the Futures Contract
from time to time; (ii) in the case of an index underlying the Futures Contract, any changes in
the constituents of that index; (iii) market interest and yield rates; (iii) economic, political,
structural supply and demand and macro-economic factors; (iv) changes in applicable law and
regulation; and (v) in the case of Notes linked to dividend futures contracts (the value of which
typically tracks dividends paid by the constituent companies of the underlying equity index
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during a specified time period), the dividend policy of the relevant constituent companies of
the related underlying index.

In addition, the value of future contract(s) also depends on factors relating to the relevant futures
contract itself, such as the time remaining to the final settlement date, and the liquidity of such
futures contract(s), the contract specification and the terms of the relevant underlying(s).

All these factors may have a significant adverse effect on the amounts payable in respect of the
Futures Contract-Linked Notes and/or in a decline in the value of the Futures Contract-Linked
Notes.

Risks associated with Relevant Underlying comprised of a Basket
Exposure to performance of Basket and its components

In accordance with Condition 8 (Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-linked, Fund-
Linked and Futures Contract-Linked Notes Provisions), the Issuers may issue Notes which are
linked to or reference a Basket of assets, the investors in such Notes are exposed to the
performance of such Basket. If the Basket does not perform as expected, this will materially
and adversely affect the value of Notes with Relevant Underlying comprised of a Basket.

A high correlation of Basket Components may have a significant effect on amounts payable

Some Notes are linked to Baskets of Relevant Underlying where the performance of such
Relevant Underlying tends to move in the same direction, or correlate, as a result of changes in
market conditions, such as a change in interest rates. Correlation of Basket Components
indicates the level of interdependence among the individual Basket Components with respect
to their performance. If, for example, all of the Basket Components originate from the same
sector and the same country, a high positive correlation may generally be assumed. Past rates
of correlation may not be determinative of future rates of correlation: though Basket
Components may not appear to be correlated based on past performance, it may be that they
suffer the same adverse performance following a general downturn or other economic or
political event. Where the Basket Components are subject to high correlation, any move in the
performance of the Basket Components will exaggerate the performance of the Notes and may
have a significant negative effect on amounts payable under the Notes.

The negative performance of a single Basket Component may outweigh a positive
performance of one or more other Basket Components

Even in the case of a positive performance of one or more Basket Components, the performance
of the Basket as a whole may be negative if the performance of the other Basket Components
is negative to a greater extent, subject to the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes.

A change in composition of a Basket may have an adverse effect on Basket performance
Where the Notes grant the Determination Agent the right, in certain circumstances, to adjust
the composition of the Basket, any replacement Basket Component may perform differently

from the original Basket Component, which may have an adverse effect on the performance of
the Basket which will in turn have a significant adverse effect on the value of the Notes.
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Risk Factors relating to the structure of a particular issue of Notes and certain product
features

Risk of loss of principal or of low or no returns for Notes whose redemption amount is
determined by reference to a formula

For certain Notes, the amount of principal payable by the Issuer may be determined in
accordance with a formula linked to one or more observations of a price, value or level of one
or more Relevant Underlying(s) observed during the life or at the maturity of the Notes. A series
of Notes issued under the Programme may contain a combination of one or more of the features
described in the paragraphs (a) to (d) below and any other Redemption Amount terms described
in Section 6 (Final Redemption Terms) of the Additional Terms and Conditions.

Except in the case of Notes which are scheduled to repay 100 per cent. of their principal
and where the Issuer (and, where applicable, the Guarantor) does not fail to make such
payment, Noteholders may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the
value/performance of the Relevant Underlying does not move in the anticipated direction,
taking into account the above-mentioned features.

Barrier feature

Where "barrier" is used to identify the terms for determining the Final Redemption Amount
payable on any Notes (for instance, where "Barrier Redemption”, as provided for in Section 6
(Final Redemption Terms) of the Additional Terms and Conditions, is applicable), the
redemption amount payable will be (i) Par, if the value or performance of the Relevant
Underlying, reach the specified barrier value, or (ii) if such condition is not satisfied, an
amount determined by reference to the performance of the Relevant Underlying, which
may be less than Par and as a result Noteholders may lose all or a substantial portion of
their investment.

"Worst Performance" feature

When Paragraph 25 (Worst of — Non Equally Weighted Average Performance) of Section 3
(Performance Determination Terms) of the Additional Terms and Conditions is specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, determinations of the Final Redemption Amount
payable in respect of Notes linked to the value and/or performance of a basket of Relevant
Underlyings will be made solely by reference to the worst performing Basket Component.
Noteholders may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the
value/performance of the worst performing Relevant Underlying does not move in the
anticipated direction.

Participation feature (redemption)

Where "participation” is used to identify the terms for determining the Final Redemption
Amount payable on any Notes (for instance, where "Participation (Conditional Floored)
Redemption (Principal at Risk)", as provided for in Section 6 (Final Redemption Terms) of the
Additional Terms and Conditions, is applicable), the formula for determining such Final
Redemption Amount will include a percentage multiplication factor (Participation Rate)
applied to the calculation of the performance of the Relevant Underlying. Where such
Participation Rate is less than 100 per cent., the Final Redemption Amount will accordingly be
linked to part only of such performance and will be less than the amount that would have been
payable if linked to the full value of such performance and as a result Noteholders may lose all
or a substantial portion of their investment.
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Caps

The applicable Final Terms may provide for a maximum value, or cap, such that any value
and/or performance of the Relevant Underlying (or individual Basket Components) in excess
of the applicable cap will not be taken into account for the purposes of the relevant
determination. Amounts payable on the Notes linked to such capped value and/or performance
will be limited accordingly. This may significantly decreased rate of return on the Notes.

Risk of low or no returns for Notes whose interest amount is determined by reference to a
formula

For certain Notes, the amount of interest payable by the Issuer are linked to changes in one or
more Relevant Underlying(s). Such interest amounts may be determined in accordance with a
formula based on one or more observations of a price, value or level of, one or more Relevant
Underlying(s). A series of Notes issued under the Programme may contain a combination of
one or more of the features described in the paragraphs (a) to (d) below, and any other Interest
Provisions described in Section 4 (Interest Provisions) of the Additional Terms and Conditions.

Depending on the terms of the relevant Notes (i) Noteholders may receive no or a limited
amount of interest, (ii) payments may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) in
the event that an adverse change in the price, value or level of the Underlying(s), taking
into account the above-mentioned features, investors may suffer a significantly decreased
rate of return on the Notes or even no return whatsoever.

Barrier (including Double Barrier) feature

Where "barrier" is used to identify the terms for determining interest payable on any Notes (for
instance, where "Non Memory Barrier Conditional Coupon", as provided for in Section 4
(Interest Provisions) of the Additional Terms and Conditions, is applicable), each such payment
of interest on the Notes will be conditional on the value or performance of the Relevant
Underlying, reaching the specified barrier value, and if such condition is not satisfied, then the
amount of interest payable will be zero and as a result investors may suffer a significantly
decreased rate of return on the Notes or even no return whatsoever.

Where "Double Barrier" is used to identify the terms for determining the interest payable on
any Notes (for instance, where Paragraph 21 (Non Memory Double Barrier Conditional
Coupon — Option 1) of Section 4 (Interest Provisions) of the Additional Terms and Conditions
is applicable), the interest amount payable will be conditional on two barriers, and a different
interest amount may be payable depending on which of the two barrier conditions is satisfied.
If neither barrier condition is satisfied, then the amount of interest payable will be zero and
as a result investors may suffer a significantly decreased rate of return on the Notes or
even no return whatsoever.

"Worst Performance" feature

Where the determination of interest payable on the Notes includes a "Worst Performance"
feature (where "Worst Performance” is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms (where Paragraph 25 (Worst of — Non Equally Weighted Average Performance) of
Section 3 (Performance Determination Terms) of the Additional Terms and Conditions is
applicable), payment of interest will be conditional on the value/performance of the worst
performing Basket Component reaching a specified barrier value, and if such condition is not
satisfied, then the amount of interest payable will be zero. Accordingly, if the "Worst
Performance' feature is specified as being applicable, the interest payable may be zero
even if the value/performance of the other Basket Components satisfy the specified
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barrier condition. As a result, Noteholders may suffer a significantly decreased rate of
return on the Notes or even no return whatsoever.

Participation feature (interest)

Where "participation™ is used to identify the terms for determining interest payable on any
Notes (for instance, where "Participation & Barrier(s) Conditional Coupon", as provided for in
Section 4 (Interest Provisions) of the Additional Terms and Conditions, is applicable), the
formula for determining such interest will include a percentage multiplication factor
(Participation Rate) applied to the calculation of the performance of the Relevant Underlying.
Where such Participation Rate is less than 100 per cent., interest payments will accordingly be
linked to part only of such performance and will be less than the interest that would have been
payable if linked to the full value of such performance and as a result investors may suffer a
significantly decreased rate of return on the Notes.

Caps

The applicable Final Terms may provide for a maximum value, or cap, such that any value
and/or performance of the Relevant Underlying (or individual Basket Components) in excess
of the applicable cap will not be taken into account for the purposes of the relevant
determination. Amounts payable on the Notes linked to such capped value and/or performance
will be limited accordingly.

If a maximum rate of interest is specified, the rate of interest payable on Floating Rate Notes
will be limited to such maximum rate and Noteholders may receive payment(s) lower than they
would have received if the relevant rate of interest had not been subject to the cap.

Risk relating to the early redemption of the Notes

In accordance with Condition 15.2 (Tax Redemption), in the event that the relevant Issuer or
the Guarantor (if applicable) would be obliged by law to make any withholding or deduction
for or on account of tax with respect to the Notes (as described in Condition 17 (Taxation)), the
relevant Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Terms and Conditions
at the redemption price which can be Par Redemption or Qualified Financial Institution
Determination, each as defined in Condition 15.2 (Tax Redemption) and as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

In accordance with Condition 15.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer), if Call Option is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, the Issuer will have the right to
terminate the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date (Call). It is likely that the Issuer will
exercise the Call Option at a time in which the termination of the Notes is least favourable for
the investors. The Issuer shall make such determination without taking into account the itnerset
of the investors. Following the exercise by the Issuer of such Call Option, the investors will be
entitled to receive a pre-determined amount which may be less than the amount that the
investors would have been entitled to receive under the terms of the Notes if such Call Option
had not been exercised.

Pursuant to Condition 19 (Illegality and Regulatory Event) Notes issued by MSBV provides
that the Issuer shall have the right to redeem the Notes early (at the amount specified in the
relevant Final Terms) if the Issuer has determined that a Regulatory Event has occurred. The
circumstances in which a Regulatory Event may be deemed by the Issuer to have occurred are
described in the definition of “Regulatory Event” under Condition 2.1 (Definitions).
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Where one of the Early Redemption Terms provided for in Section 5 (Early Redemption Terms)
of the Additional Terms and Conditions, is applicable, and an Automatic Early Redemption
Event has occurred as of any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date (for example, where
"Barrier Automatic Early Redemption" is specified as applicable, an Automatic Early
Redemption Event will occur subject to a “barrier condition” or where "double barrier" is used
to identify the terms for determining the Early Redemption Amount payable on any Notes (for
example, where Paragraph 4 (Double Barrier Automatic Early Redemption — Option 1) of
Section 5 (Early Redemption Terms) of the Additional Terms and Conditions is applicable), the
Early Redemption Amount payable will be conditional on two barriers), then the Issuer shall
redeem the Notes at a percentage (specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Autocall Early
Redemption Rate) of Par.

In case of any early redemption pursuant to any of the events described above, an investor may
not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest
rate as high as that of the relevant Notes and investors in the Notes will no longer be able to
participate in the performance of the Relevant Underlying(s).

Any early redemption feature above in any particular Series of Notes is likely to limit their
market value. During any period when the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes or the
Automatic Early Redemption may occur, the market value of those Notes generally will not
rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed.

The amount payable by the Issuer in case of early redemption may be less than the amount that
would have been paid had the Notes been redeemed at maturity.

Such early redemption could have a significant adverse effect and Noteholders could lose all
or part of their investment in the Notes. Should the Notes at such time be trading well above
the price set for redemption, the negative impact on the Noteholders' anticipated returns would
be significant.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

In accordance with Condition 7 (Zero Coupon Note Provisions) the relevant Issuer may issue
Zero Coupon Note. Further, the relevant Final Terms of any Series of Notes will specify the
relevant issue price. The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium
from their principal amount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) tend to fluctuate more in relation to
general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing Notes.
Generally, the longer the remaining term of such Notes, the greater the price volatility as
compared to conventional interest-bearing Notes with comparable maturities. Any such
volatility may have a significant adverse effect on the market value of the Notes.
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DISCLAIMERS

The Issuers, the Guarantor and MSIP as Distribution Agent, disclaim any responsibility to advise
prospective purchasers of any matters arising under the laws of the country in which they reside
that may affect the purchase of, or holding of, or the receipt of payments on the Notes. These
persons should consult their own legal and financial advisors concerning these matters.

1.

11

12

General Disclaimers
The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Each potential investor should determine whether
an investment in the Notes is appropriate in its particular circumstances. An investment in the
Notes requires a thorough understanding of the nature of the relevant transaction. Potential
investors should be experienced with respect to an investment in the Notes and be aware of the
related risks.

An investment in the Notes is only suitable for potential investors who:

o have the requisite knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to
evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Notes and the information
contained or incorporated by reference into this document;

o have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate such merits
and risks in the context of the potential investor's particular financial situation and to
evaluate the impact the Notes will have on their overall investment portfolio;

o understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and are familiar with the behaviour of the
Relevant Underlying and financial markets;

o are capable of bearing the economic risk of an investment in the Notes until the maturity
date of the Notes;

o recognise that it may not be possible to dispose of the Notes for a substantial period of
time, if at all before the maturity date; and

o are familiar with the behaviour of the Relevant Underlying and relevant financial
markets and be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial and legal
adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect
its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Each of the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and the Distribution Agent disclaims any
responsibility to advise prospective investors of any matters arising under the law of the country
in which they reside that may affect the purchase of, or holding of, or the receipt of payments or
deliveries on the Notes.

Issuer's credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer and/or
the Guarantor (if applicable). The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related
to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the
value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold Notes and may
be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.
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Selling Agent remuneration

Each Issuer may enter into distribution agreements with various financial institutions and other
intermediaries as determined by such Issuer (each a Selling Agent). Each Selling Agent will
agree, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe for the Notes at a price
equivalent to or below the Issue Price. Any difference between the price at which the Selling
Agent subscribes the Notes and the price at which the Selling Agent sells the Notes to investors
will be a remuneration of the Selling Agent. In addition, a periodic fee may also be payable to
the Selling Agents in respect of all outstanding Notes up to and including the maturity date at
a rate determined by the Issuer and which may vary from time to time. Any remuneration
received by the Selling Agent including any periodic payments may also increase the purchase
price to be paid by the investor. Each Selling Agent will agree to comply with the selling
restrictions set out in the document as amended and supplemented by the additional selling
restrictions set out in the relevant distribution agreements.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should
consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments
for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other
restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult
their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes
under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Disclaimers linked with the Relevant Underlying

The underlying issuer for any single share or basket share, ETF, fund, or any Fund Advisor or
the publisher of an index or of a futures contract will not be an Affiliate of Morgan Stanley,
MSIP, MSBV or MSFL. Morgan Stanley or its subsidiaries may presently or from time to time
engage in business with any underlying company, ETF or fund including entering into loans
with, or making equity investments in, the underlying company, ETF, fund, or its affiliates or
subsidiaries or providing investment advisory services to the underlying company or ETF,
including merger and acquisition advisory services. Moreover, no Issuer has the ability to
control or predict the actions of the underlying company, ETF, fund or index publisher or
futures contract publisher, including any actions, or reconstitution of index components, of the
type that would require the determination agent to adjust the payout to the investor at maturity.
No underlying company, ETF, fund, Fund Advisor, index publisher or futures contract
publisher for any issuance of Notes is involved in the offering of the Notes in any way or has
any obligation to consider the investor's interest as an owner of the Notes in taking any
corporate actions that might affect the value of the Notes. None of the money an investor pays
for the Notes will go to the underlying company, ETF, fund or Fund Advisor for such Notes.

Notes relating to dividend futures contracts will give rise to obligations of the Issuer and will
not give rise to any obligations under the relevant dividend futures contract or any obligations
of any Constituent Company. No offer is made by the sponsor of the relevant dividend futures
contract or any Constituent Company. No sponsor of the relevant dividend futures contract will
have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in establishing the terms
of the Notes.
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3. Representations and acknowledgments by Noteholders

Each Noteholder shall be deemed to represent and acknowledge to the relevant Issuer and, if
applicable, the Guarantor on acquiring any Note that:

@) none of the Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor or and/or any Affiliate nor any of their
agents is acting as a fiduciary for it or provides investment, tax, accounting, legal or
other advice in respect of the Notes and that such Noteholder and its advisors are not
relying on any communication (written or oral and including, without limitation,
opinions of third party advisors) of the Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor, or any
Affiliate as (a) legal, regulatory, tax, business, investment, financial, accounting or
other advice, (b) a recommendation to invest in any Notes or (c) an assurance or
guarantee as to the expected results of an investment in the Notes (it being understood
that information and explanations related to the terms and conditions of the Notes shall
not be considered to be any such advice, recommendation, assurance or guarantee and
should be independently confirmed by the recipient and its advisors prior to making
any such investment);

(b) such Noteholder (a) has consulted with its own legal, regulatory, tax, business,
investments, financial and accounting advisors to the extent that it has deemed
necessary, and has made its own investment, hedging, and trading decisions based upon
its own judgment and upon any advice from such advisors as it has deemed necessary
and not upon any view expressed by the Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor, or any
Affiliate or any of their respective agents and (b) is acquiring the Notes with a full
understanding of the terms, conditions and risks thereof and it is capable of and willing
to assume those risks; and

(©) the Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor, and/or any Affiliates may have banking or
other commercial relationships with issuers of any securities to which the Notes relate
and may engage in proprietary trading in any equity securities, indices, fund interests
or other Relevant Underlying to which the Notes relate or options, futures, derivatives
or other instruments relating thereto (including such trading as the Issuer, (if
applicable) the Guarantor, and/or any Affiliate deem appropriate in their sole discretion
to hedge the market risk on the Notes and other transactions between the Issuer, (if
applicable) the Guarantor, and/or any Affiliates and any third parties), and that such
trading (a) may affect the price or level thereof and consequently the amounts payable
under the Notes and (b) may be effected at any time, including on or near any Valuation
Date, Observation Date, Interest Determination Date, Determination Date or Averaging
Date.

4. Conflict of Interest
4.1 Discretionary Determinations

The Issuer and the Determination Agent have certain discretions under the terms of the Notes following
events or circumstances occurring in relation to a Relevant Underlying, including to defer valuations,
make adjustments to the terms and conditions of such Notes and/or to redeem such Notes other than on
the originally designated date of redemption. Such discretion is necessary as such events and
circumstances may not be foreseen at the Trade Date of the relevant Notes but impact the economic or
other terms of the Notes. For example, it may not be reasonably practicable or appropriate for certain
valuations to be carried out in relation to the Notes without the exercise of the discretion. Furthermore,
such events and circumstances may not be reflected in the pricing of the Notes and/or any arrangements
entered into by the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates to hedge obligations under Notes and, accordingly,
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without such discretion to adjust the terms of the Notes the Issuer may not have been able to issue the
Notes on the terms applicable on the Issue Date or at all.

4.2 Potential conflicts of interest between the investor and the determination agent

As determination agent for Notes linked to one or more shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures
contracts, MSIP (who can also act as Issuer) or an Affiliate will determine the payout to the investor at
maturity. MSIP and other Affiliates may also carry out hedging activities related to any Notes linked to
one or more shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures contracts, including trading in the underlying
shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures contracts, as well as in other instruments related to the
underlying shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures contracts. MSIP and some of Morgan Stanley's
other subsidiaries may also trade the applicable underlying shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures
contracts and other financial instruments related to the underlying shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or
futures contracts on a regular basis as part of their general broker-dealer and other businesses. Any of
these activities could influence the Determination Agent's determination of adjustments made to any
Notes linked to one or more shares, indices, ETFs, funds and/or futures contracts and any such trading
activity could potentially affect the price, level or value of the underlying shares, indices, ETFs, funds
and/or futures contracts and, accordingly, could affect the investor's payout on any Notes.
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CONSENT TO THE USE OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS

In the context of any offer of Notes that is not made within an exemption from the requirement
to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation (a Non-exempt Offer), in relation to
any person (an Investor) to whom an offer of any Notes is made by any financial intermediary
to whom the Responsible Persons (as defined below) have given their consent to use this Base
Prospectus (an Authorised Offeror), where the offer is made during the period for which that
consent is given and where the offer is made in the Member State or the United Kingdom for
which that consent was given and is in compliance with all other conditions attached to the
giving of the consent, all as mentioned in this Base Prospectus, each of Morgan Stanley, MSIP,
MSBV and MSFL (together the Responsible Persons) accepts responsibility in each such
Member State or the United Kingdom for the information relating to itself in this Base
Prospectus. However, neither any Responsible Person nor any Distribution Agent has any
responsibility for any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an
Authorised Offeror with applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory
requirements or other securities law requirements in relation to such offer.

The Issuers and the Guarantor consent to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a
Non-exempt Offer during the Offer Period specified in the relevant Final Terms (the Offer
Period) either (1) in the Member State(s) or the United Kingdom , as specified in the relevant
Final Terms by any Authorised Offeror which is authorised to make such offers under the
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU as amended, MiFID II) and
which satisfies the conditions (if any) specified in the relevant Final Terms or (2) by any
Authorised Offeror specified in the relevant Final Terms, in the Member State(s) or the United
Kingdom, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, for so long as they are authorised to make
such offers under MiFID II. The Issuers and, if applicable, the Guarantor, may give consent to
additional financial intermediaries after the date of the relevant Final Terms and, if they do so,
the Issuers and, if applicable, the Guarantor, will publish the above information in relation to
them on http://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents.

Subject to the conditions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the consent referred to above
relates to Offer Periods occurring within 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus.

Any Authorised Offeror who wishes to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Non-
exempt Offer as set out in (1) above is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer
Period, to publish on its website that it is using this Base Prospectus for such Non-exempt
Offer in accordance with the consent of the Issuer and the conditions attached thereto.

To the extent specified in the relevant Final Terms, a Non-exempt Offer may be made during
the relevant Offer Period by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Distribution Agent or, subject
to any restrictions on the consent, any relevant Authorised Offeror in any relevant Member
State and subject to any relevant conditions, in each case all as specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Unless otherwise specified, neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor nor the Distribution Agent has
authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer of any Notes by any person in any
circumstances and such person is not permitted to use this Base Prospectus in connection with
its offer of any Notes. Any such Non-exempt Offers are not made by or on behalf of the Issuers,
the Guarantor, the Distribution Agent or any Authorised Offeror and none of the Issuers, the
Guarantor, the Distribution Agent or any Authorised Offeror has any responsibility or liability
for the actions of any person making such offers.

An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised Offeror will
do so, and offers and sales of the Notes to an Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be
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made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between such
Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocation, settlement
arrangements and any expenses or taxes to be charged to the Investor (the Terms and
Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer). Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor will be a party
to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the Distribution Agent) in
connection with the offer or sale of the Notes and, accordingly, this Base Prospectus and
any Final Terms will not contain such information. The Terms and Conditions of the Non-
exempt Offer shall be provided to Investors by that Authorised Offeror at the relevant
time. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Distribution Agent or other Authorised
Offerors has any responsibility or liability for such information.

In the case of any Tranche of Notes which are being (a) offered to the public in the United
Kingdom or a Member State (other than pursuant to one or more of the exemptions set out in
Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation) and/or (b) admitted to trading on a regulated market
in the United Kingdom or a Member State, the relevant Final Terms shall not amend or replace
any information in this Base Prospectus. Subject to this, to the extent permitted by applicable
law and/or regulation, the Final Terms in respect of any Tranche of Notes may supplement any
information in this Base Prospectus.
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ONGOING NON-EXEMPT OFFERS

The series of Notes listed below are the subject of an ongoing Non-Exempt Offer as at the date
of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus is applicable for the purposes of the ongoing Non-Exempt Offers listed
below, and the information relating to the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be,
contained in such Base Prospectus will continue to be updated by supplement(s) until the end
of its validity period (being 17 July 2021).

In accordance, 8.11 of the Prospectus Regulation, the new final terms relating to the ongoing
Non-Exempt Offers listed below shall be available on a dedicated page of the website of the
Issuers : https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents/Final Terms.

In accordance, 8.11 of the Prospectus Regulation, investors who have agreed to purchase or
subscribe for the securities during the validity period of the 2019 Base Prospectus have a right
of withdrawal, unless the securities have already been delivered to them. Such right is
exercisable within two working days after the publication of the Base Prospectus (i.e until 17
July 2020, 5 p.m (Paris time)). Investors that wish to exercise the right of withdrawal may
contact the Authorised Offeror(s) of the relevant ongoing Non-Exempt Offers.

Non- Place of
. . Exempt publication
Series Maturity Regulated .
Issue Date ISIN Code Offer Start Date | End Date of the Final
Number Date Market .
Jurisdict Terms
ion(s)
F0673 21 14 August | FR0013483633 | Luxembourg France 21 31 July Luxembourg
February 2030 February 2020
2020 2020
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents (see
hyperlinks in blue below), which have been previously published or are published simultaneously with
this Base Prospectus and that have been filed with the AMF for the purpose of the Prospectus
Regulation, and shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

)

(9)

(h)

(i)

the Registration Document of Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV and MSFL approved by
the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier dated as of 13
December 2019 (the 2019 Registration Document);
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentiD=bd30df
c2-del8-4afe-b883-b5chla0f2aef

the First Supplement to the 2019 Registration Document approved by the Luxembourg
Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier dated as of 7 July 2020 (the First
Registration Document Supplement);
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentID=066b39
38-7d99-45b1-af01-443c94e0527f

the Proxy Statement regarding Morgan Stanley dated as of 3 April 2020 (Morgan
Stanley Proxy Statement); https://www.morganstanley.com/about-us-
2020ams/pdf/2020 Proxy Statement.pdf

Morgan Stanley's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 31
March 2020 (Morgan Stanley's First Quarterly Report for 2020);
https://www.morganstanley.com/about-us-ir/shareholder/1090320.pdf

the annual audited consolidated financial statements of Morgan Stanley for the periods
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 and the respective auditor's reports
thereon, being available as part of the Morgan Stanley Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report);
https://www.morganstanley.com/about-us-ir/shareholder/10k2019/10k1219.pdf

the audited consolidated financial statements of MSIP as at, and for the years ended, 31
December 2019 and the auditor’s reports thereon, being available as part of the annual
report for MSIP for 2019 (the 2019 MSIP Annual Report) ;
https://www.morganstanley.com/about-us-

ir/pdf/MSIP_Group_Accounts 31 December 2019.pdf

the audited consolidated financial statements of MSIP as at, and for the years ended, 31
December 2018 and the auditor’s reports thereon, being available as part of the annual
report for MSIP for 2018 (the 2018 MSIP Annual Report) ;
https://www.morganstanley.com/about-usir/pdf/MSIP_Group_Accounts

31 December_2018.pdf

the audited annual financial statements of MSBV as at, and for the year ended, 31
December 2019, and the auditors' report thereon, being available as part of the MSBV
Annual Report for 2019 (2019 MSBV Annual Report);
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=8bdb5f
aa-8890-41b1-9362-e250e7b0c39b

the audited annual financial statements of MSBV as at, and for the year ended, 31
December 2018, and the auditors' report thereon, being available as part of the MSBV
Annual Report for 2018 (2018 MSBV Annual Report);
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0)

(k)

0

(m)

https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentlD=d922bb
7f-ff1f-4d4e-80b6-c2528a597fd7

the audited annual financial statements of MSFL as at, and for the year ended, 31
December 2019, and the auditors' report thereon, being available as part of the MSBV
Annual Report for 2019 (2019 MSFL Annual Report);
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentiD=a7c531
39-5be0-4e43-ba59-557bd0303bc0

the audited annual financial statements of MSFL as at, and for the year ended, 31
December 2018, and the auditors' report thereon, being available as part of the MSBV
Annual Report for 2018 (2018 MSFL Annual Report);
http://www.sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=d9
7d9d33-3968-44al-acla-481bf5022b7d

the "Terms and Conditions™ which are included in pages 65 to 189 of the base
prospectus dated 6 January 2015 filed with the AMF under number 15-002
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=a35621
1d-d004-4cc1-8b20-a1f9cd6f78da, as supplemented, as the case may be, by page 13 of
the supplement dated 18 June 2015 filed with the AMF under number 15-283
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentiD=b73b9b
e0-08c2-47bb-87e3-d2589aef3f77 (the 2015 Terms and Conditions), the "Terms and
Conditions™ which are included in pages 67 to 210 of the base prospectus dated 12
January 2016  filed with the AMF  under  number  16-022
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentD=df9023
cc-a095-49bb-afle-3f447c7daels (the 2016 Terms and Conditions), and the "Terms
and Conditions" which are included in pages 76 to 260 of the base prospectus dated 12
January 2017  filed with the AMF under number  17-014
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=098351
a2-80aa-4b47-93cd-acf94403b8bf, as amended by the supplement dated 7 November
2017 filed with the AMF under number 17-576
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentiD=5ccb3b
b4-4a3d-4703-85f6-1dc9e30f7ff4 (the 2017 Terms and Conditions), the "Terms and
Conditions™" which are included in pages 84 to 274 of the base prospectus dated 7
December 2017  filed with the AMF under number  17-627
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=e5bb59
ac-f635-43d3-8011-847¢10e6b9ff (the December 2017 Terms and Conditions), the
"Terms and Conditions" which are included in pages 90 to 343 of the base prospectus
dated 7 December 2018 filed with the AMF under number 18-554
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?document|D=dd56¢2
2a-a6fc-42fd-846f-1a96e25ad582 (the 2018 Terms and Conditions) and the "Terms
and Conditions" which are included in pages 95 to 319 of the base prospectus dated 18
July 2019 filed with the AMF under number 19-381
https://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Download/GeneralDocument?documentlD=429c44
a6-8de0-4421-8c4a-aaa314653fa3 (the 2019 Terms and Conditions and together with
the 2015 Terms and Conditions, the 2016 Terms and Conditions, the December 2017
Terms and Conditions and the 2018 Terms and Conditions, the Previous Terms and
Conditions); and

the pro-forma final terms included in pages 320 to 502 of the base prospectus dated 18
July 2019 filed with the AMF under number 19-381, the final terms dated 19 February
2020 (Series F0673 — Tranche 1);

save that the documents set out in paragraph (a) and (b) above contain information which is
already incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus but these two documents are
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incorporated by reference to provide in a single document information about Morgan Stanley,
MSBV, MSI plc and MSFL. It is also specified that save that any statement contained herein
or in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or
superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that such statement is
inconsistent with a statement contained in this Base Prospectus.

The Previous Terms and Conditions are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus for
the purpose only of further issues of Notes to be assimilated and form a single series with Notes
already issued pursuant to the Previous Terms and Conditions.

The information incorporated by reference above is available as follows:

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE TABLE
Document filed Information incorporated by reference Page(s)

1. Common documents to Morgan Stanley,
Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
and Morgan Stanley B.V.

11 2019 Registration Document (1) Description of Morgan Stanley 32-62

2) Description of Morgan Stanley & 63-69
Co. International plc

3) Description of Morgan Stanley B.V.  70-72

(@) Description of Morgan Stanley 7375
Finance LLC

5) Subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley as of 76
31 December 2018

(6) Index of Defined Terms 77
12 First Registration Document (D) Amendments to the “Description of 20-42
Supplement Morgan Stanley” Section

2 Amendments to the “Description of 44
Morgan Stanley & Co. International
plc” Section

3 Amendments to the “Description of 45
Morgan Stanley B.V.” Section

4 Amendments to the “Description of 46
Morgan Stanley Financial LLC”

Section
2. Morgan Stanley
2.1 Morgan Stanley's First Quarterly (1) Financial Information 2
Report for 2020 )} Management's Discussion and Analysis 2-27
of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

3) Quantitative and Qualitative  28-37
Disclosures about Risk
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2.2

2.3

Morgan Stanley Proxy Statement

2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report

(4)

®)

(6)

U]

(®)

©)

(10)

11)

(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)

a7
(18)
)
2
®)
(4)
(®)
(6)

M

O]
®)

(4)

®)

-85 -

Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Financial Statements
and Notes
Consolidated Income  Statements

(Unaudited)

Consolidated Comprehensive Income
Statements (Unaudited)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited at March 31, 2020)

Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Total Equity (Unaudited)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
(Unaudited)

Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited)

Financial Data

(Unaudited)

Glossary of Common Acronyms

Supplement

Other Information
Legal Proceedings

Unregistered  Sales  of
Securities and Use of Proceeds

Equity

Controls and Procedures
Signatures

Overview of Voting Items
Corporate Governance Matters
Audit Matters

Compensation Matters
Ownership of Our Stock

Information About the Annual

Meeting

Business
Selected Financial Data

Management’s  Discussion  and
Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Risk
Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data

38

39-80

39

40

41

42

43

44-80

81

82-83

84

84

84

84

S-1

5-9

10-39

40-43

44-75

76-78

79-82

1-10

23

24-57

58-74

75-154



(6)

U]
®)

©)
(10)

(11
(12)

(13)
(14)

(15)

(16)
a7
(18)
(19)
(20)
(1)
(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)

(26)

(@7)

(28)

(29)
(30)
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Income Statements

Consolidated Comprehensive Income
Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Total Equity

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
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3. Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc

3.1 2019 MSIP Annual Report (1) Independent auditor’s report 47-56
2) Consolidated income statement 57
?3) Consolidated statement of 58
comprehensive income
@) Consolidated and Company 59-60
statement of changes in equity
(5) Consolidated and Company ¢ 61-62
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2 Consolidated Income Statement 55
3 Consolidated Statement of 56
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(5) Consolidated Statement of Financial 58
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(5) Statement of Cash Flows 16

-87-



4.2

5.

51

5.2

2018 MSBV Annual Report

Morgan Stanley Finance LLC

2019 MSFL Annual Report

2018 MSFL Annual Report

M
O]
@)
(4)
®)
(6)
U]
(®)

(6)
(7
(8)

1)
)
©)
(4)
()

(6)
(7)

(8)
1)
)
©)
(4)
(%)

(6)
()

(8)

Notes to the Financial Statements
Additional Information

Independent Auditors' Report

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Statement of Changes in Equity
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements
Additional Information

Independent Auditors' Report

Annual director’s report

Director’s Responsibility Statement
Independent Auditors' Report
Statement of Financial Condition

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Changes in Member’s
Equity (Deficit)

Notes to Financial Statements
Annual director’s report

Director’s Responsibility Statement
Independent Auditors' Report
Statement of Financial Condition

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Changes in Member’s
Equity (Deficit)

Notes to Financial Statements

-88 -

17-68
69

70-74

10
11
12
13
14

15-70
71

72-76

8
10
11(2)
12(3)

13(4)

14(5)

15-29 (6-20)

30(21)
3-7
8
10
11

12

13

14

15-30



Cross-reference table
relating to information incorporated by reference in accordance with
Annex 6 - Registration Document for Retail Non-Equity Securities of Commission

Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/979

Informatio | Informatio | Informatio | Informatio
n relating | nrelating | n relating | n relating
to MSIP | to MSBV | to MSFL | to Morgan
Stanley
Pages of the 2019 Registration Document
unless otherwise specified
4 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
41 History and development of the Issuer:
4,11 the legal and commercial name of the issuer; 63 70 73 32
4.1 the place of registration of the issuer and its 63 70 73 32
registration number and legal entity identifier
(‘LED).
4.1.3 the date of incorporation and the length of life of the 63 70 73 32
issuer, except where indefinite;
4.1.4 the domicile and legal form of the issuer, the 63 70 73 32
legislation under which the issuer operates, its
country of incorporation, and the address and
telephone number of its registered office (or principal
place of business if different from its registered
office);
4.1 Details of any recent events particular to the issuer|  n/A N/A N/A N/A
and which are to a material extent relevant to an
evaluation of the issuer’s solvency.
4,17 Information on the material changes in the issuer’s N/A N/A N/A N/A
borrowing and funding structure since the last
financial year;
418 De_sc_ri_ption of the expected financing of the issuer’s N/A N/A N/A N/A
activities
5 BUSINESS OVERVIEW
51 Principal activities:
511 A description of the issuer’s principal activities, 64 70 74 33 of the
" including: (a) the main categories of products sold First
a_nd/_or services performed; (b) an |r_1d_|(;at|0n of any Registration
significant new products or activities; (c) the
principal markets in which the issuer competes. Document
Supplement
5o The basis for any statements made by the issuer| /A N/A N/A N/A
regarding its competitive position.
6 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Informatio | Informatio | Informatio | Informatio

n relating | nrelating | nrelating | n relating

to MSIP | to MSBV | to MSFL |to Morgan
Stanley

6.1 |ftheissuer is part of a group, a brief description of 64 72 74 44

the group and of the issuer’s position within it. and
33 of the
First
Registration
Document
Supplement

6.2 |fthe issuer is dependent upon other entities within 64 72 74 44
the group, this must be clearly stated together with an
explanation of this dependence.

7 TREND INFORMATION

71 Include a statement that there has been no material| 44 ofthe | 45o0fthe | 46 ofthe | 39 of the
adverse change in the prospects of the issuer since the First First First First
date of its last published audited financial statements.| Registration| Registration|Registration| Registration

Document | Document | Document | Document
In the event that the issuer is unable to make such a|Supplement|Supplement | Supplement | Supplement
statement, provide details of this material adverse
change.

7o Information on any known trends, uncertainties, N/A N/A N/A 39 of the
demands, commitments or events that are reasonably First
likely to have a material effect on the issuer's Registration
prospects for at least the current financial year. Document

Supplement

9 ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND

" SUPERVISORY BODIES

9.1 Names, business addresses and functions in the issuer|  g4.67 70-71 74 45
of the following persons, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the
issuer where these are significant with respect to that
issuer:

(a) members of the administrative, management or
supervisory bodies;

(b) partners with unlimited liability, in the case of a
limited partnership with a share capital.

9.2 Administrative, Management, and Supervisory 65 71 74 45
bodies conflicts of interests

10, MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

10.1 To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the 66 72 74 50-51

issuer is directly or indirectly owned or controlled
and by whom and describe the nature of such control,
and describe the measures in place to ensure that such
control is not abused.
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Informatio | Informatio | Informatio | Informatio
n relating | n relating | n relating | n relating
to MSIP | to MSBV | to MSFL |to Morgan
Stanley
A description of any arrangements, known to the| /A N/A N/A N/A
issuer, the operation of which may at a subsequent
date result in a change in control of the issuer.
11. FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING
" THE ISSUER'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND
LOSSES
11.1 Historical Financial Information See the See the See the See the
i i _ : "Incorporati | "Incorporati| " Incorporati | "Incorporati
112 Interim and other financial information on by on by on by on by
3 Auditing __of _ historical _annual _financial Reference | Reference | Reference | Reference
information Table" Table" Table" Table"
above above above above
11.4 Legal and arbitration proceedings 66-69 72 74 33t0 39 of
the First
Registration
Document
Supplement
Significant changes in the Issuer’s financial| 44 of the 45 of the 46 of the | 39 and 40
position First First First | of the First
Registration | Registration | Registration | Registration
Document | Document | Document | Document
Supplement | Supplement | Supplement | Supplement
12, ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
12,1 Share Capital 44 of the 72 75 40 of the
First First
Registration Registration
Document Document
Supplement Supplement
12,2 Memorandum and Articles of Association 69 72 75 60

Any document and/or information which is not contained in the cross-reference tables above and
documents and/or information identified in the cross-reference table below and these documents and/or
information are not incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.

Document filed

Morgan Stanley's First Quarterly Report for 2020

Risk Factors

Exhibits
Exhibit Index

Morgan Stanley 2020 Proxy Statement
2019 Morgan Stanley Annual Report

Exhibit Index

Exhibits

2019 MSIP Annual Report
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Directors’ report

2019 MSBYV Annual Report Directors’ report
2019 MSFL Annual Report Annual Directors’ Report
2019 Registration Document Information Incorporated by Reference

Risks Factors

First Registration Document Supplement Information Incorporated by Reference

Amendments to the “Information Incorporated by
Reference” Section

Amendments to the “Risks Factors” Section

For the avoidance of doubt, the information requested to be disclosed by the Issuer as a result of Annex
6 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and not referred to in the cross-reference
tables above is contained in the relevant sections of this Base Prospectus.

Any statement contained in this Base Prospectus or any documents incorporated by reference herein,
shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that
a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference and in respect of which
a supplement to this Base Prospectus is prepared modifies or supersedes such statement.

The information about Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBYV and MSFL incorporated by reference in this
Base Prospectus (the Incorporated Information) is considered to be part of this Base Prospectus.
Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by the AMF in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulationand Article 18 of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/979. Statements contained in any such supplement (or
contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether
expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this
Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any
statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of
this Base Prospectus.

Any information or documents incorporated by reference into the documents listed above do not form
part of this Base Prospectus.

Copies of the documents containing the sections incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can
be obtained on the website http://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents. This Base Prospectus and any
supplement thereto will be published on the websites of (a) the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and (b) the
Issuers (http://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents). The Final Terms related to Notes admitted to
trading on Euronext Paris will be published on the websites of (a) the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and
(b) Morgan Stanley (http://sp.morganstanley.com/EU/Documents). If the Notes are listed and admitted
to trading on a Regulated Market other than Euronext Paris, the relevant Final Terms will provide
whether additional methods of publication are required and what they consist of.

For the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation, the information incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus is set out in the following cross-reference table below. For the avoidance of doubt, the
information requested to Documents Incorporated by Reference be disclosed by the Issuers as a result
of Annex 6 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and not referred to in the cross-
reference table above is either contained in the relevant sections of this Base Prospectus or is not
relevant to the Issuers.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be issued under French law that,
subject to completion in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Final Terms, shall be
applicable to the Notes. In the case of any Tranche of Notes which are being (a) offered to the
public in the United Kingdom or a Member State (other than pursuant to one or more of the
exemptions set out in Article 1.4 of the Prospectus Regulation) or (b) admitted to trading on a
regulated market in the United Kingdom or a Member State, the relevant Final Terms shall not
amend or replace any information in this Base Prospectus. All capitalised terms that are not
defined in these Terms and Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the applicable
Final Terms. References in the Terms and Conditions to "the Notes™ are to the Notes of one
Series only, not to all Notes under the Programme.
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11

1.2

1.3

14

15

2.1

INTRODUCTION

Programme: Morgan Stanley (Morgan Stanley), Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
(MSIP), Morgan Stanley B.V. (MSBV) and Morgan Stanley Finance LLC (MSFL) have
established a Programme (the Programme) for the issuance of up to €2,000,000,000 in
aggregate principal amount, inter alia, of notes which are expressed to be governed by French
law (the Notes). References to the Issuer in these terms and conditions shall mean (i) if the
Notes to which these terms and conditions apply are issued by Morgan Stanley, Morgan
Stanley; (ii) if the Notes to which these terms and conditions apply are issued by MSIP, MSIP,
(iii) if the Notes to which these terms and conditions apply are issued by MSBV, MSBV and
(iv) if the Notes to which these terms and conditions apply are issued by MSFL, MSFL. The
payment obligations of MSBV in respect of Notes issued by MSBV and the payment
obligations of MSFL in respect of Notes issued by MSFL under the Programme are guaranteed
by Morgan Stanley (in its capacity as Guarantor (the Guarantor) under the terms of a guarantee
dated as of 17 July 2020 (the Guarantee).

Final Terms: Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a Series) and each
Series may comprise one or more tranches (each a Tranche) of Notes. Each Tranche is the
subject of a set of Final Terms (each, a Final Terms) which complete these terms and
conditions (the Conditions) and specify, among other matters, the additional terms and
conditions set out in Part 2 (Additional Terms & Conditions) below (the Additional Terms
and Conditions), if any, applicable in relation to such Series. The terms and conditions
applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions (including the applicable
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions) as completed by the applicable Final
Terms.

Agency Agreement: The Notes are the subject of an agency agreement dated 17 July 2020 (the
Agency Agreement) between Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV, MSFL, Citibank N.A. London
Branch as fiscal agent (the Fiscal Agent, which expression includes any successor fiscal agent
appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes and together with any additional
paying agents appointed pursuant thereto, the Paying Agents, which expression includes any
successor paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes). The Fiscal
Agent is also appointed as initial calculation agent. In these Conditions references to the
Agents are to the Paying Agents and any reference to an Agent is to any one of them.

The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes which are
the subject of the applicable Final Terms. Copies of the applicable Final Terms are available
for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Fiscal
Agent, the initial Specified Office of which is set out below.

Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement
and the Guarantee and are subject to their detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the
Noteholders) are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the
Guarantee as are applicable to them. The Guarantee is reproduced in full in the section “Form
of Guarantee of Morgan Stanley” of this Base Prospectus. Copies of the Agency Agreement
and the Guarantee are available for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at
the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent. In the event of a contradiction between the provisions
of the Agency Agreement applicable to Noteholders, as the case may be, and the summary
included in the Base Prospectus, the provisions of the Base Prospectus shall prevail.

INTERPRETATION

Definitions: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:
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(i)

(i)

(i)

Accrual Yield means the rate specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Additional Business Centre(s) means the city or cities specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Administrator/Benchmark Event means, in respect of any Notes, a determination made by
the Determination Agent that any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement,
equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official register in respect of the Relevant
Benchmark or the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark has not been, or will
not be, obtained or has been, or will be, rejected, refused, suspended or withdrawn by the
relevant competent authority or other relevant official body, in each case with the effect that
any of the Issuer, the Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent is not, or will not be,
permitted under any applicable law or regulation to use the Relevant Benchmark to perform its
or their respective obligations in respect of the Notes;

Administrator/Benchmark Event Date means, in respect of any Notes and an
Administrator/Benchmark Event, the date on which the authorisation, registration, recognition,
endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official register is:

0] required under any applicable law or regulation; or

(i) rejected, refused, suspended or withdrawn, if the applicable law or regulation
provides that the Relevant Benchmark is not permitted to be used under the
Notes following rejection, refusal, suspension or withdrawal,

or, in each case, if such date occurs before the Issue Date, the Issue Date;

Alternative Pre-nominated Index means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark, the first of the
indices, benchmarks or other price sources specified in the applicable Final Terms as an
“Alternative Pre-nominated Index” that is not subject to an Administrator/ Benchmark Event
or (in the case of Equity-Linked Notes) an Index Cancellation or an Administrator/ Benchmark
Event;

Business Day means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday,

that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which banking institutions are authorised or required
by law or regulation to close (a) for Notes denominated in U.S. Dollars, in The City of New
York or (b) for Notes denominated in Sterling, in London, or (c) for Notes denominated in a
Specified Currency other than euro, U.S. Dollars or Australian Dollars, in the principal financial
centre of the country of the Specified Currency, or (d) for Notes denominated in Australian
Dollars, in Sydney, and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre.

for Notes denominated in euro, that is also a TARGET Settlement Day and a day that is neither
a legal holiday nor a day on which banking institutions are authorised or required by law or
regulation to close in each (if any) Additional Business Centre;

Business Day Convention, in relation to any particular date, means one of Following Business
Day Convention, Modified Following Business Day Convention (or Modified Business Day
Convention), Preceding Business Day Convention, FRN Convention (or Floating Rate
Convention or Eurodollar Convention) or No Adjustment (or Unadjusted), as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. In this context, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings:

Following Business Day Convention means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the
first following day that is a Business Day;
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Modified Following Business Day Convention or Modified Business Day Convention
means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day
unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding
day that is a Business Day;

Preceding Business Day Convention means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to
the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention means that each
relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the
calendar month which is the number of months specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided,
however, that;

(@) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any
such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in
that calendar month;

(b) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the
next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business
Day; and

(©) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business
Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar
month in which the preceding such date occurred; and

No Adjustment or Unadjusted means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance
with any Business Day Convention;

Calculation Agent means, in respect of any Notes, the Fiscal Agent or such other Person
specified in the applicable Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of
Interest and Interest Amount(s) and/or any other amounts which may be specified as being
calculated by the Calculation Agent in these Conditions;

Calculation Amount means, in relation to any Series of Notes, the Specified Denomination;
Clearstream means Clearstream Banking, S.A.;

Day Count Fraction means (subject as provided in Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions)),
in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the Calculation Period), such
day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the applicable Final Terms and:

if Actual/Actual is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A)
the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided
by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a
non-leap year divided by 365);

if Actual/365 (Fixed) is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365;

if Actual/360 is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 360;

if 30/360 is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360,
calculated on a formula basis as follows:
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(v)

(vi)

[360x(Y; — Y1)] + [30x(My — M,)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

M; is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

D; is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

D; is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D is greater than 29, in which
case D, will be 30;

if 30E/360 or Eurobond Basis is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x(Y, — Y1)] + [30x(My — My)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

My is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

D; is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

D; is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

if 30E/360 (ISDA is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360,
calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x(Y; — Y1)] + [30x(My — M,)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
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(i)

Y1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a humber, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

M is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

D; is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day
is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

D: is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date
or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30,

provided, however, that in each such case the number of days in the Calculation Period is
calculated from and including the first day of the Calculation Period to but excluding the last
day of the Calculation Period;

Determination Agent means MSIP or, if different in relation to any Series of Notes, the Person
or entity specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. The Determination Agent shall act as
an expert and not as an agent for the Issuer or the Noteholders. All determinations,
considerations and decisions made by the Determination Agent shall, in the absence of manifest
error, wilful default or bad faith, be final and conclusive and the Determination Agent shall
have no liability in relation to such determinations except in the case of its wilful default or bad
faith;

Early Redemption Amount means, in the case of acceleration of the Notes under Condition
18 (Events of Default),

in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, such amount as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms or, if applicable, determined in accordance with Condition 15.8 (Early Redemption of
Zero Coupon Notes) and

in the case of any other Notes such amount as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms
or, if no other amount is specified,

@ if "Par Redemption" is, in relation to Condition 18 (Events of Default) specified as
being applicable in respect of the Notes in the applicable Final Terms, the principal
amount of the Notes, together with accrued interest (if any); or

(b) if "Qualified Financial Institution Determination" is, in relation to Condition 18
(Events of Default) specified as being applicable in respect of the Notes in the
applicable Final Terms, an amount determined by the Determination Agent, acting in
good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, as at such date as is selected by
the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not
more than 15 Business Days prior to the date fixed for redemption of the Notes) to be
the amount that a Qualified Financial Institution would charge either to assume all of
the Issuer's payment and other obligations with respect to such Notes as if no such
Event of Default had occurred or to undertake obligations that would have the effect of
preserving the economic equivalent of any payment by the Issuer to the Noteholder
with respect to the Notes.
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Euroclear means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;
Euroclear France means Euroclear France, a subsidiary of Euroclear;

Euroclear France Account Holder means any authorised financial intermediary institution
entitled to hold accounts, directly or indirectly, on behalf of its customers with Euroclear
France, and includes Euroclear and the depositary bank for Clearstream;

Final Redemption Amount means, (i) in respect of Equity-Linked Redemption Notes,
Currency-Linked Redemption Notes, Inflation-Linked Redemption Notes of Futures Contract-
Linked Redemption Notes, an amount determined in accordance with the applicable provisions
of the Additional Terms and Conditions, and (ii) in respect of any other Note, its principal
amount or such other amount (which may be expressed as a percentage of the Calculation
Amount or an amount per Calculation Amount) as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

Fixed Coupon Amount means the amount, if any, specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Implementation of Financial Transaction Tax Event means that, on or after the Trade Date
of any Notes, due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including
without limitation any law or regulation implementing a system of financial transaction taxes
in any jurisdiction, including the European Union relating to any tax, payable in respect of the
transfer of, or issue or modification or redemption of, any financial instruments), the Issuer
determines (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) that either it or any
of its Affiliates would incur or has incurred a materially increased amount of tax, transfer tax,
duty, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions)
to (A) enter into, modify or unwind the Notes or any part thereof, or perform its obligations
under such Notes, including for the avoidance of doubt any obligation or exercise of any right
to deliver Shares or any other asset or (B) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain,
unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of
entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the relevant Notes or (C) realize,
recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), provided that the Issuer
has determined that the nature of the adoption of or any change in law or regulation is such that
it is applicable to investors generally when carrying out similar trading or hedging activities in
the relevant jurisdiction.

Interest Amount means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest
payable in respect of that Note for that Interest Period;

Interest Commencement Date means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may
be specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the applicable Final Terms;

Interest Determination Date means the date or dates, if any, specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms, provided that, (i) if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the relevant
Interest Determination Date shall (A) in the case of Equity-Linked Notes, be the next
succeeding Scheduled Trading Day or, if either “Common Scheduled Trading Days and
Common Disrupted Days” or “Common Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted
Days” is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the next succeeding Common
Scheduled Trading Day; (B) in the case of Fund-Linked Notes, be the next succeeding Fund
Business Day or, if either “Common Fund Business Days and Common Disrupted Days” or
“Common Fund Business Days and Individual Disrupted Days” is specified to be applicable in
the relevant Final Terms, the next succeeding Common Fund Business Day or (C) in the case
of Futures Contract-Linked Notes, be the next succeeding Scheduled Trading Day or, if either
“Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days” or “Common Scheduled
Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days” is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final
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(i)
(i)

Terms, the next succeeding Common Scheduled Trading Day and (ii) if any Interest
Determination Date is (x) in the case of Equity-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes or Futures
Contract-Linked Notes, a Disrupted Day, the provisions of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market
Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates), Condition 12.1 (Market Disruption,
Reference Dates and Averaging Dates) or Condition 13.1 (Market Disruption, Reference Dates
and Averaging Dates) (as the case may be) shall apply mutatis mutandis as if such Interest
Determination Date were a Reference Date; or (y) in the case of Inflation-Linked Notes, a day
on which a relevant Inflation Index is not published or otherwise, a day on which the level of a
relevant Inflation Index cannot be determined in accordance with Condition 11 (Provisions
Relating to Inflation-Linked Notes), such Interest Determination Date shall be subject to
adjustment in accordance with the provisions of such Condition 11 (Provisions Relating to
Inflation-Linked Notes);

Interest Payment Date means the date or dates specified as such in the applicable Final Terms
and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or

if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or
Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in
accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at
such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the
case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other
case);

Interest Period means, subject as otherwise provided in these Conditions, each period
beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date
and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date, or any other period specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with the relevant
Business Day Convention;

ISDA Definitions means, the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as amended and updated as at the date
of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the applicable
Final Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.;

Issue Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;
Margin means the rate, if any, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Margin 1 means the rate, if any, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms in connection
with the Reference Rate 1;

Margin 2 means the rate, if any, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms in connection
with the Reference Rate 2;

Maturity Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Maximum Notice Period means the number of days specified in the applicable Final Terms;
Minimum Notice Period means the number of days specified in the applicable Final Terms;
Morgan Stanley Notes means all Notes issued by Morgan Stanley;

MSBYV Notes means all Notes issued by MSBV;

MSFL Notes means all Notes issued by MSFL;
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(i)

(ii)

(ii)

MSIP Notes means all Notes issued by MSIP;

Optional Redemption Amount (Call) means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount, or,
if relevant, such other amount (which may be expressed as a percentage of the Calculation
Amount or an amount per Calculation Amount) as may be specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms;

Optional Redemption Amount (Put) means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount, or,
if relevant, such other amount (which may be expressed as a percentage of the Calculation
Amount or an amount per Calculation Amount) as may be specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms;

Optional Redemption Date (Call) means, in relation to any Series of Notes, the date, if any,
specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Optional Redemption Date (Put) means, in relation to any Series of Notes, the date, if any,
specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Participating Member State means a Member State of the European Community which
adopts the euro as its lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty;

Person means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture,
association, organization, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having
separate legal personality;

Principal Financial Centre means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre
for that currency provided, however, that:

in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the European
Communities as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a
calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and

in relation to Australian Dollars, it means Sydney and Melbourne and, in relation to New
Zealand Dollars, it means Wellington and Auckland;

Put Option Notice means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any
Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

Qualified Financial Institution means a financial institution organized under the laws of any
jurisdiction in the United States of America, the European Union or Japan, which, as at the date
the Determination Agent selects to determine the Early Redemption Amount, has outstanding
debt obligations with a stated maturity of one year or less from the date of issue of such
outstanding debt obligations, and such financial institution is rated either:

A2 or higher by Standard & Poor's Global Ratings or any successor, or any other comparable
rating then used by that rating agency, or

P-2 or higher by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or any successor, or any other comparable
rating then used by that rating agency,

provided that, if no Qualified Financial Institution is reasonably available, then the
Determination Agent shall, in good faith and acting in a commercially reasonable manner,
select a financial institution of reputable standing organized under the laws of any jurisdiction
in the United States of America, the European Union or Japan as a Qualified Financial
Institution;
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(A)

Rate Multiplier 1 means the Rate Multiplier, if any, as may be specified as such in the
applicable Final Terms in connection with the Reference Rate 1;

Rate Multiplier 2 means the Rate Multiplier, if any, as may be specified as such in the
applicable Final Terms in connection with the Reference Rate 2;

Rate of Interest means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest
payable in respect of the Notes specified in applicable Final Terms and calculated or determined
in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions (including such provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms);

Redemption Amount means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Optional
Redemption Amount (Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Redemption
Amount or such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in the
applicable Final Terms, or determined in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions
(including such applicable provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified
as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms);

Reference Banks means the banks specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if none
are specified, four major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the market that is most
closely connected with the Reference Rate or such other interest rate, swap rate, index,
benchmark or price source specified as a “Reference Rate” in the applicable Final Terms;

Reference Price means, in relation to any Series of Notes specified as being Zero Coupon
Notes, the price specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Reference Rate means, in relation to Floating Rate Notes, a floating rate of interest which may
be EURIBOR (Euro Interbank Offered Rate), LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) or such
other similar interbank rate (or CMS rate (Constant Maturity Swap)) as may be specified in the
applicable Final Terms;

Reference Rate 1 means the Reference Rate as may be specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Reference Rate 2 means the Reference Rate as may be specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Registration Agent means a person designated as such in the applicable Final Terms;
Regulatory Event means that, at any time on or after the Trade Date, as a result of:

(M an implementation or adoption of, or change in, any applicable law, regulation,
interpretation, action or response of a regulatory authority;

(i) the promulgation of, or any interpretation by any court, tribunal, government or
regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction (a Relevant Authority) of, any
relevant law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority); or

(ili)  the public or private statement or action by, or response of, any Relevant Authority or
any official or representative of any Relevant Authority acting in an official capacity,

there is a reasonable likelihood of it becoming:

unlawful, impossible or impracticable, for the Issuer and/or the Guarantor to maintain the Notes
and/or to maintain other instruments issued under the Programme and/or to perform its
obligations under the Notes; and/or
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(B)

necessary for the Issuer and/or the Guarantor to obtain a licence, authorisation or other
approval for the continuation or maintenance of the business relating to or supporting the Notes
or their hedging activities in relation to such Notes;

Relevant Benchmark means a Relevant Equity Index Benchmark, a Relevant FX Benchmark,
a Relevant Futures Contract Benchmark or a Relevant Rates Benchmark;

Relevant Clearing System means, as appropriate, Euroclear France, Euroclear, Clearstream,
and/or such other relevant clearing system, as the case may be, through which interests in Notes
are to be held and through an account at which the Notes are to be cleared, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms;

Relevant Date means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which
the payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been
received in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment by the Fiscal Agent on or
prior to such due date, the date on which (the full amount having been so received) notice to
that effect has been given to the Noteholders;

Relevant Rates Benchmark means, in respect of any Notes:

@ each Reference Rate (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that
is referred to in the Reference Rate);

(b) each Floating Rate Option (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source
that is referred to in the Floating Rate Option); or

(c) any other index, benchmark or other price source specified as a “Relevant Rates
Benchmark” in the applicable Final Terms.

Relevant Financial Centre means, in relation to any Series of Notes and the applicable
Reference Rate, the city specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Relevant Screen Page means the page, section or other part of a particular information service
(including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or such
other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other
information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the Person providing or sponsoring
the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the
Reference Rate;

Relevant Time means, in relation to any Floating Rate Notes, the time specified as such in the
applicable Final Terms;

Specified Currency means the currency or currencies specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Specified Denomination(s) or Par means, in relation to Notes of any Series, the denomination
of such Notes specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Specified Office has the meaning given to it in the Agency Agreement;
Specified Period means a period specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Spread Rate means the difference between (1) Reference Rate 1 for such Interest Period or
such relevant day, plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) Margin 1 (if any
is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to such Reference Rate 1), and multiplied
by Rate Multiplier 1 (if any is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to such
Reference Rate 1), minus (2) Reference Rate 2 for such Interest Period or such relevant day,
plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) Margin 2 (if any is specified in the
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(i)

(i)

2.2

applicable Final Terms in relation to such Reference Rate 2), and multiplied by Rate Multiplier
2 (if any is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to such Reference Rate 2).

Strike Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, provided that, in
the case of Equity-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes and Futures Contract-Linked Notes (i) if
any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day or a Fund Business Day (as applicable), the
relevant Strike Date shall (A) in the case of Equity-Linked Notes, be the next succeeding
Scheduled Trading Day or, if either “Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common
Disrupted Days” or “Common Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days” is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the next succeeding Common Scheduled
Trading Day; (B) in the case of Fund-Linked Notes, be the next succeeding Fund Business Day
or, if either “Common Fund Business Days and Common Disrupted Days” or “Common Fund
Business Days and Individual Disrupted Days” is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final
Terms, the next succeeding Common Fund Business Day; or (C) in the case of Futures Contract-
Linked Notes, be the next succeeding Scheduled Trading Day or, if either “Common Scheduled
Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days” or “Common Scheduled Trading Days and
Individual Disrupted Days” is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the next
succeeding Common Scheduled Trading Day, and (ii) if any Strike Date is a Disrupted Day,
the provisions of, as applicable, 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and
Averaging Dates), Condition 12.1 (Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates)
OR Condition 13.1 (Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates) shall apply
mutatis mutandis as if such Strike Date were a Reference Date, and otherwise subject to
adjustment in accordance with the Conditions;

Subsidiary means, in relation to any Person (the first Person) at any particular time, any other
Person (the second Person):

whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control, whether by
ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the governing
body of the second Person or otherwise; or

whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted
accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person;

TARGET2 means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on
19 November 2007;

TARGET Settlement Day means any day on which TARGET?2 is open for the settlement of
payments in euro;

Trade Date means in relation to any series of Notes, the date specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms;

Treaty means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended; and
Zero Coupon Note means a Note specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.
Interpretation: In these Conditions:

(a) any reference to a numbered "Condition™ shall be construed as a reference to the relevant
Condition contained in Part 1 (General Terms and Conditions) of these Conditions;

(b) if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes, references to interest are not applicable;
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(c) any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any
premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the nature of principal
payable pursuant to these Conditions;

(d) any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any other amount in the nature of
interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;

(e) references to Notes being "outstanding" means, in relation to the Notes of any Series, all
the Notes issued other than (a) those that have been redeemed in accordance with the
Conditions, (b) those in respect of which the date for redemption has occurred and the
redemption moneys (including all interest accrued in relation to such Notes up to the date
for such redemption and any interest payable after such date) have been duly paid (i) in
the case of Notes in bearer dematerialised form and in administered registered form, to
the relevant Euroclear France Account Holders on behalf of the Noteholder and (ii) in
the case of Notes in fully registered dematerialised form, to the account of the Noteholder
(c) those which have become void or in respect of which claims have become prescribed
and (d) those which have been repurchased and that are held or have been cancelled as
provided in the Conditions.; and

(f)  if an expression is stated in Condition 2.1 (Definitions) to have the meaning given or
specified in the applicable Final Terms, but the applicable Final Terms gives no such
meaning or specifies that such expression is "not applicable" then such expression is not
applicable to the Notes.

FORM, MINIMUM DENOMINATION AND TITLE
Notes will be issued in dematerialised form.

Title to Notes will be evidenced in accordance with article L. 211-3 of the Code monétaire et
financier by book entries (inscriptions en compte). No physical document of title (including
certificats représentatifs pursuant to article R. 211-7 of the Code monétaire et financier) will
be issued in respect of Notes.

Notes are issued, at the option of the Issuer, in either bearer dematerialised form (au porteur),
which will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear France which shall credit the accounts of
Euroclear France Account Holders, or in registered dematerialised form (nominatif) and, in
such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder in either administered registered form
(nominatif administré) inscribed in the books of a Euroclear France Account Holder or in fully
registered form (nominatif pur) inscribed in an account in the books of Euroclear France
maintained by the Issuer or by the Registration Agent acting on behalf of the Issuer.

The minimum Denomination at the Issue Date for each Note admitted to trading on a European
Economic Area exchange or an exchange in the United Kingdom and/or offered to the public
in an European Economic Area State or in the United Kingdom will be €1,000 (or, if the Notes
are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).

STATUS

Status of the Notes: The Notes constitute direct and general obligations of the Issuer which
rank pari passu among themselves and pari passu with all other outstanding unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, present and future, but, in the event of insolvency,
only to the extent permitted by laws relating to creditors' rights.

With respect to MSIP Notes only, pursuant to the exercise of the bail-in power by the U.K.
Regulatory Authority, the outstanding amount of Notes may be reduced (in whole or in part),
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4.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

54.1

5.4.2

5.4.3

9.5

5.5.1
5.5.2

converted into equity (in whole or in part) or cancelled and/or the maturity of the Notes or the
amount of interest or the date on which the interest becomes payable may be amended.

Status of Guarantee: The Guarantor's obligations under the Guarantee in respect of the Notes
issued by MSBV or MSFL constitute direct and general obligations of the Guarantor which
rank without preference among themselves and pari passu with all other outstanding unsecured
and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, present and future, but, in the event of
insolvency, only to the extent permitted by laws relating to creditors' rights.

FIXED RATE NOTE PROVISIONS

Application: This Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if
the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable.

Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate
of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. Each Note will cease to bear
interest from the due date for final redemption unless the Redemption Amount is improperly
withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this
Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is
the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received
by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is fifteen Business Days after
the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the
Notes up to such fifteenth Business Day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent
default in payment).

Fixed Coupon Amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest
Period which is a Regular Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes
are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in
respect of the relevant Specified Denomination.

Regular Interest Periods: If all of the Interest Payment Dates fall at regular intervals between
the Issue Date and the Maturity Date, then:

the Notes shall for the purposes of this Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) be Regular
Interest Period Notes;

the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls shall, for the
purposes of this Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions), be a Regular Date; and

each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next
succeeding Regular Date shall, for the purposes of this Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note
Provisions), be a Regular Period.

Irregular first or last Interest Periods: If the Notes would be Regular Interest Period Notes but
for the fact that either or both of:

the interval between the Issue Date and the first Interest Payment Date; and

the interval between the Maturity Date and the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date
is longer or shorter than a Regular Period, then the Notes shall nevertheless be deemed to be
Regular Interest Period Notes, provided, however, that if the interval between the Maturity

Date and the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date is longer or shorter than a Regular
Period, the day and month on which the Maturity Date falls shall not be a Regular Date. The
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5.6

5.7

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

5.8

5.9

amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any such longer or shorter period shall
be the Broken Amount.

Irregular Interest Amount: If the Notes are Regular Interest Period Notes, the amount of
interest payable in respect of each Note for any period which is not a Regular Period shall be
an amount per calculation amount calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation
Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting
figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards).
For this purpose a sub-unit means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest
amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and,
in the case of euro, means one cent.

Day Count Fraction: In respect of any period which is not a Regular Period, the relevant day
count fraction (the Day Count Fraction) shall be determined in accordance with the following
provisions:

if the Day Count Fraction is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being 30/360, the
relevant Day Count Fraction will be the number of days in the relevant period (calculated on
the basis of a year of 360 days consisting of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an
incomplete month, the actual number of days elapsed) divided by 360;

if the Day Count Fraction is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being Actual/Actual
(ICMA) and the relevant period falls during a Regular Period, the relevant Day Count Fraction
will be the number of days in the relevant period divided by the product of (A) the number of
days in the Regular Period in which the relevant period falls and (B) the number of Regular
Periods in any period of one year; and

if the Day Count Fraction is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being Actual/Actual
(ICMA\) and the relevant period begins in one Regular Period and ends in the next succeeding
Regular Period, interest will be calculated on the basis of the sum of:

@) the number of days in the relevant period falling within the first such Regular Period
divided by the product of (1) the number of days in the first such Regular Period and
(2) the number of Regular Periods in any period of one year; and

(b) the number of days in the relevant period falling within the second such Regular Period
divided by the product of (1) the number of days in the second such Regular Period and
(2) the number of Regular Periods in any period of one year.

Number of days: For the purposes of this Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions), unless the
Day Count Fraction is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being 30/360 (in which case
the provisions of Condition 5.7.1 above shall apply), the number of days in any period shall be
calculated on the basis of actual calendar days from and including the first day of the relevant
period to but excluding the last day of the relevant period.

Irregular Interest Periods: If the Notes are not Regular Interest Period Notes and interest is

required to be calculated for any period other than an Interest Period, interest shall be calculated
on such basis as is described in the applicable Final Terms.

- 108 -



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.3.1

6.3.2

6.3.3

6.3.4

FLOATING RATE NOTE, EQUITY-LINKED, CURRENCY-LINKED, INFLATION-
LINKED INTEREST, FUND-LINKED AND FUTURES CONTRACT-LINKED NOTE
PROVISIONS

Application: This Condition 6 (Floating Rate Note, Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-
Linked Interest, Fund-Linked and Futures Contract-Linked Note Provisions) is applicable to
the Notes only if one or more of the Floating Rate Note Provisions, the Equity-Linked,
Currency-Linked, Inflation-Linked, Fund-Linked or Futures Contract-Linked Interest Note
Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable.

Accrual of interest: The Floating Rate Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement
Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. Each Note will
cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless the Redemption Amount is
improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance
with this Condition 6 (Floating Rate Note, Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-Linked
Interest, Fund-Linked and Futures Contract-Linked Note Provisions) (as well after as before
judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such
Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day
which is fifteen Business Days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has
received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such fifteenth Day (except to the extent that
there is any subsequent default in payment). The Rate of Interest in respect of all or any Interest
Periods shall, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be zero.

Screen Rate Determination:  Subject to Condition 6.11 (Relevant Rates Benchmark
Discontinuance or Prohibition on Use:), if Screen Rate Determination is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined,
the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined by the
Calculation Agent on the following basis:

if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the
Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen
Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;

in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference
Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant
Interest Determination Date;

if, in the case of Condition 6.3.1 above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case
of Condition 6.3.2 above, fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the
Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, the Calculation Agent will:

@ request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the Reference Banks
to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on
the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre
interbank market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that
market at that time; and

(b) determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and

if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will
determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as
determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal Financial Centre
of the Specified Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local
time in the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on the first day of the relevant
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6.4

6.4.1

6.4.2

6.4.3

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

Interest Period for loans in the Specified Currency to leading European banks for a period equal
to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in
that market at that time,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or
(as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined, provided, however, that if the
Calculation Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in
accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest
applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate
(or as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect
of a preceding Interest Period.

ISDA Determination: Subject to Condition 6.11 (Relevant Rates Benchmark Discontinuance
or Prohibition on Use:), if ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as
the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest
applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant
ISDA Rate where "ISDA Rate" in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the
Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by the Calculation
Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as
Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement
incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the applicable
Final Terms;

the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the
applicable Final Terms; and

the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant Floating
Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency, the first
day of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-Linked Interest, Fund-Linked and Futures
Contract-Linked Note Provisions: If one or more of the Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked,
Inflation-Linked, Fund-Linked or Futures Contract-Linked Interest Note Provisions are
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, the interest payable in respect of
the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined in accordance with such applicable
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms. If more than one of the Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-
Linked Interest, Fund-Linked or Futures Contract-Linked Note Provisions are specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being applicable such Note shall constitute Hybrid Notes.

Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of
Interest is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be
greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified. For the avoidance of doubt,
in no event, will the relevant Interest Amount be less than zero.

Rate Multiplier: if the applicable Final Terms specify a Rate Multiplier (the Rate Multiplier)
for any Interest Period, then the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period shall be
multiplied by the relevant Rate Multiplier, subject always to the Minimum Rate of Interest
and/or Maximum Rate of Interest as described above.

Calculation of Interest Amount: In respect of Floating Rate Notes, the Calculation Agent will,
as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation
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6.9

6.10

6.11

to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Floating Rate
Note for such Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of
Interest for such Interest Period to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the
relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the
Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded
figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the
Calculation Amount. For this purpose a sub-unit means, in the case of any currency other than
euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such
currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount
determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s)
required to be determined by it under these Conditions, together with any relevant payment
date(s), to be notified to the Paying Agents and each listing authority, stock exchange and/or
guotation system (if any) by which the Notes have been admitted to listing, trading and/or
guotation as soon as practicable after such determination and in any event not later than 15
Business Days after such determination. Notice thereof shall also be given to the Noteholders
as soon as practicable after such determination and in any event not later than 15 Business Days
after such determination. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest
Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) in the event of an extension or shortening of
the relevant Interest Period and shall be required to notify the Noteholders, the Paying Agents
and each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes
have been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such
recalculation and in any event not more than 15 Business Days after such recalculation has been
made.

Notifications etc:  All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations,
guotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition
6 (Floating Rate Note, Equity-Linked, Currency-Linked, Inflation-Linked Interest, Fund-Linked
and Futures Contract-Linked Note Provisions) by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of
manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders and (subject
as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection
with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

Relevant Rates Benchmark Discontinuance or Prohibition on Use: Notwithstanding the terms
set forth elsewhere in these Conditions, if the Determination Agent determines that any of the
following events has occurred:

6.11.1 a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of
the Relevant Rates Benchmark announcing that it has ceased or will cease to provide
the Relevant Rates Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time
of statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to
provide the Relevant Rates Benchmark; or

6.11.2 a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of the Relevant Rates Benchmark, the central bank for the currency of
the Relevant Rates Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the
administrator of the Relevant Rates Benchmark, a resolution authority with jurisdiction
over the administrator of the Relevant Rates Benchmark or a court or an entity with
similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator of the Relevant Rates
Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Relevant Rates Benchmark has
ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Rates Benchmark permanently or
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6.11.3

6.11.4

indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no
successor administrator that will continue to provide the Relevant Rates Benchmark;

where the Relevant Rates Benchmark is a LIBOR, a public statement or publication of
information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Relevant Rates
Benchmark announcing that the Relevant Rates Benchmark is no longer representative;
or

unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, an Administrator/Benchmark Event
occurs in relation to a Relevant Rates Benchmark,

then the Determination Agent may use, as a substitute for the Relevant Rates Benchmark, and
for each future Interest Determination Date (or other rate fixing date), the alternative rates
benchmark determined in accordance with the following provisions:

(i)

(i)

if an alternative reference rate, index or benchmark is specified in the Final Terms for
this purpose (an Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate), such Alternative Pre-
nominated Reference Rate; or

if an Alternative Pre-nominated Reference Rate is not specified in the Final Terms, the
alternative reference rate, index or benchmark selected by the central bank, reserve
bank, monetary authority or any similar institution (including any committee or
working group thereof) in the jurisdiction of the applicable index currency that is
consistent with accepted market practice (the rate determined under sub-paragraph (i)
above or this sub-paragraph (ii), the Alternative Rate).

The Determination Agent may, after consultation with the Issuer, determine any
adjustments to the Alternative Rate or the Margin (which may include the addition of
an adjustment spread, which may be positive or negative, in order to reduce or
eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable, any transfer of economic value to or
from the Issuer as a result of the replacement of the Relevant Rates Benchmark with
the Alternative Rate), as well as the applicable Business Day Convention, Interest
Determination Dates (or any other rate fixing dates) and related provisions and
definitions of the Notes, in each case that are consistent with accepted market practice
for the use of such Alternative Rate for debt obligations such as the Notes.

If the Determination Agent determines, after consultation with the Issuer, that no such
Alternative Rate exists on the relevant date, it may, after consultation with the Issuer,
determine an alternative rate to be used as a substitute for the Relevant Rates
Benchmark (which shall be the “Alternative Rate” for the purposes of these
provisions), as well as any adjustments to the Margin (including any adjustment
spread), the Business Day Convention, the Interest Determination Dates (or any other
rate fixing dates) and related provisions and definitions in respect of the Notes, in each
case, that are consistent with accepted market practice for the use of such Alternative
Rate for debt obligations such as the Notes.

The Issuer will then provide a notice, in accordance with Condition 24 (Notices), to
Noteholders to inform them of the occurrence of any of events listed in Clauses 6.11.1
to 6.11.4 above, the Alternative Rate and any adjustment determinations which will
apply to the Notes. The notice shall also confirm the effective date of the Alternative
Rate and any adjustments.

Notwithstanding anything else in this Condition 6.11, if the Determination Agent
determines that the selection of a particular index, benchmark or other price as an
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6.12

6.13

“Alternative Rate” (taking into account any necessary adjustments that would need to
be made in accordance with this Condition 6.11) (1) is or would be unlawful under any
applicable law or regulation; or (2) would contravene any applicable licensing
requirements; or (3) would result in the Determination Agent, the Issuer or the
Calculation Agent being considered to be administering a benchmark, index or other
price source whose production, publication, methodology or governance would subject
the Determination Agent, the Issuer or the Calculation Agent to material additional
regulatory obligations which it is unwilling to undertake, then the Determination Agent
shall not select such index, benchmark or price source as the Alternative Rate.

If the Determination Agent is unable to identify an Alternative Rate and determine the
necessary adjustments to the terms of the Notes, then the Issuer may, in its reasonable
discretion, determine that the Notes shall be redeemed as of any later date. If the Issuer
so determines that the Notes shall be redeemed, then the Issuer shall give not less than
five Business Days' notice to the Noteholders to redeem the Notes and upon redemption
the Issuer will pay in respect of each Note an amount equal to either:

(A) If “Early Redemption Amount (Benchmark Trigger Event) - Fair Market Value
Less Costs” is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note,
on such date as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date
fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion attributable to that Notes
of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/ or any Affiliate of, or the loss realised
by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion; or

(B) If “Early Redemption Amount (Benchmark Trigger Event) - Fair Market
Value” is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on
such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion
(provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for
redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

The Issuer’s obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such
amount.

Spread Floating Rate

If the Spread Floating Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the Interest Rate in
respect of an Interest Period or any relevant day will be equal to the sum of the Margin and the
Spread Rate, subject always to the Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest
as described above.

Spread Floating Rate with Last Coupon

If the applicable Final Terms specify that Spread Floating Rate and Last Coupon are applicable
and on any Last Coupon Observation Date (as specified sa such in the applicable Final Terms)
the sum of the Coupon Amounts paid to the Noteholders is (i) greater than, (ii) greater than or
equal to, (iii) less than or (iv) less than or equal to, as specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the Last Coupon Barrier Value (expressed as a percentage) for such Interest Determination
Date, then the Issuer will on the immediately following Last Coupon Payment Date (as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) pay interest on the Notes in an amount equal to the
difference between (A) a percentage equal to the Last Coupon Barrier VValue and (B) the sum
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7.1

7.2

8.1

8.1.1

8.1.2

of the Coupon Amounts paid to the Noteholders, expressed as a percentage of the Calculation
Amount.

ZERO COUPON NOTE PROVISIONS

Application: This Condition 7 (Zero Coupon Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only
if the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being
applicable.

Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes: If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any
Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter
be an amount equal to the sum of:

7.2.1 the Reference Price; and

7.2.2 the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference
Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of
(i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by
or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is fifteen Business Days
after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in
respect of the Notes up to such fifteenth Business Days (except to the extent that there
is any subsequent default in payment).

EQUITY-LINKED, CURRENCY-LINKED, INFLATION-LINKED, FUND-LINKED
NOTES AND FUTURES CONTRACT-LINKED NOTES PROVISIONS

Morgan Stanley, MSIP, MSBV or MSFL may issue Notes:

the payment of interest which is linked to the shares of an entity (Single Share-Linked Interest
Notes) or a basket of shares (Share Basket-Linked Interest Notes) of entities not affiliated
with the Issuer and/or to a single index (Single Index-Linked Interest Notes) or indices of
shares (Index Basket-Linked Interest Notes) and/or interests in a single exchange traded fund
(Single ETF-Linked Interest Notes) or basket of exchange traded funds (ETF Basket-Linked
Interest Notes and together with Single Share-Linked Interest Notes, Share Basket-Linked
Interest Notes, Single Index-Linked Interest Notes, Index Basket-Linked Interest Notes and
Single ETF-Linked Interest Notes, Equity-Linked Interest Notes;

the payment of principal which, at maturity or upon the occurrence of an Automatic Early
Redemption Event (as defined in Condition 15.11 below), is linked to the shares of an entity
(Single Share-Linked Redemption Notes, and together with Single Share-Linked Interest
Notes, the Single Share Notes) or a basket of shares (Share Basket-Linked Redemption
Notes and along with Share Basket-Linked Interest Notes, Share Basket Notes) of entities not
affiliated with the Issuer and/or to a single index (Single Index-Linked Redemption Notes,
and together with Single Index-Linked Interest Notes, Single Index Notes) or indices of shares
(Index Basket-Linked Redemption Notes, and along with Index Basket-Linked Interest
Notes, Index Basket Notes) and/or interests in a single exchange traded fund (Single ETF-
Linked Redemption Notes, and together with Single ETF-Linked Interest Notes, Single ETF
Notes) or basket of exchange traded funds (ETF Basket-Linked Redemption Notes, and (i)
together with ETF Basket-Linked Interest Notes, ETF Basket Notes, and (ii) together with
Single Share-Linked Redemption Notes, Basket Share-Linked Redemption Notes, Single
Index-Linked Redemption Notes, Basket Index-Linked Redemption Notes and the Single ETF-
Linked Redemption Notes, Equity-Linked Redemption Notes). Equity-Linked Redemption
Notes and Equity-Linked Interest Notes shall together be referred to as Equity-Linked Notes;
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8.1.3

8.14

8.15

8.1.6

8.1.7

8.1.8

8.1.9

8.1.10

the payment of interest which is to be determined by reference to a single currency in
comparison with another currency (Single Currency-Linked Interest Notes) or a basket of
currencies in comparison with one or more other currencies (Currency Basket-Linked
Interest Notes and together with the Single Currency-Linked Interest Notes, the Currency-
Linked Interest Notes);

the payment of principal which, at maturity or upon the occurrence of an Automatic Early
Redemption Event (as defined in Condition 15.11 below), is to be determined by reference to
a single currency in comparison with another currency (Single Currency-Linked Redemption
Notes) or to a basket of currencies in comparison with one or more other currencies (Currency
Basket-Linked Redemption Notes, and together with the Single Currency-Linked
Redemption Notes, the Currency-Linked Redemption Notes). The Single-Currency-Linked
Interest Notes and Single Currency-Linked Redemption Notes shall together be referred to as
the Single Currency-Linked Notes. The Currency Basket-Linked Interest Notes and the
Currency Basket-Linked Redemption Notes shall together be referred to as the Currency
Basket-Linked Notes. The Currency-Linked Interest Notes and the Currency-Linked
Redemption Notes shall together be referred to as the Currency-Linked Notes;

the payment of interest which is linked to one or more inflation indices (Inflation-Linked
Interest Notes),

the payment of principal which, at maturity or upon the occurrence of an Automatic Early
Redemption Event (as defined in Condition 15.11 below), is linked to one or more inflation
indices (Inflation-Linked Redemption Notes, and together with Inflation-Linked Interest
Notes, Inflation-Linked Notes);

the payment of interest which is linked to interests in a single fund (Single Fund-Linked
Interest Notes) or in a basket of funds (Fund Basket-Linked Interest Notes, and together
with Single Fund-Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes;

the payment of principal which, at maturity or upon the occurrence of an Automatic Early
Redemption Event (as defined in Condition 15.11 below), is linked to interests in a single fund
(Single Fund-Linked Redemption Notes) or in a basket of funds (Fund Basket-Linked
Redemption Notes, and together with the Single Fund-Linked Redemption Notes, the Fund-
Linked Redemption Notes). The Single Fund-Linked Interest Notes and Single Fund-Linked
Redemption Notes shall together be referred to as the Single Fund-Linked Notes. The Fund
Basket-Linked Interest Notes and the Fund Basket-Linked Redemption Notes shall together be
referred to as the Fund Basket-Linked Notes. The Fund-Linked Interest Notes and the Fund-
Linked Redemption Notes shall together be referred to as the Fund-Linked Notes;

the payment of interest which is linked to a single futures contract (Single Futures Contract-
Linked Interest Notes) or in a basket of futures contracts (Futures Contract Basket-Linked
Interest Notes, and together with Single Futures Contract-Linked Interest Notes, Futures
Contract-Linked Interest Notes);

the payment of principal which, at maturity or upon the occurrence of an Automatic Early
Redemption Event (as defined in Condition 15.11 below), is linked to a single futures contract
(Single Futures Contract-Linked Redemption Notes) or in a basket of futures contracts
(Futures Contract Basket-Linked Redemption Notes, and together with the Single Futures
Contract-Linked Redemption Notes, the Futures Contract-Linked Redemption Notes). The
Single Futures Contract-Linked Interest Notes and Single Futures Contract-Linked Redemption
Notes shall together be referred to as the Single Futures Contract-Linked Notes. The Futures
Contract Basket-Linked Interest Notes and the Futures Contract Basket-Linked Redemption
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8.1.11

9.1

(a)

Notes shall together be referred to as the Futures Contract Basket-Linked Notes. The Futures
Contract-Linked Interest Notes and the Futures Contract-Linked Redemption Notes shall
together be referred to as the Futures Contract-Linked Notes;

if the payment of principal is specified in the applicable Final Terms as linked to several
underlyings amongst the underlyings specified in Conditions 8.1.2 and 8.1.4 above in which
case the relevant Note shall constitute a Hybrid Note; and

in each case, in accordance with the Conditions herein which are specified as applicable to
Equity-Linked Notes, Currency-Linked Notes, Inflation-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes or
Futures Contract-Linked Notes, as the case may be, and the detailed terms and conditions set
out in such provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in accordance with the elections made in the
applicable Final Terms.

PROVISIONS RELATING TO EQUITY-LINKED NOTES

This Condition 9 (Provisions Relating to Equity-Linked Notes) is applicable only in relation to
Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Single Share Notes, Share Basket Notes,
Single Index Notes, Index Basket Notes, Single ETF Notes or ETF Basket Notes.

Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates

If any Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day, then:

(i)  relevant Reference Date shall be the earlier of (i) the first succeeding Scheduled Trading
Day that is not in the determination of the Determination Agent a Disrupted Day and (ii)
the Reference Cut-Off Date (notwithstanding that such Scheduled Trading Day is a
Disrupted Day).

(i)  inthe case of an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or an ETF Basket Note (as the
case may be):

(A)  where "Individual Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if any Scheduled
Reference Date is a Disrupted Day in respect of any Basket Component, then:

(1) the Reference Date for each Basket Component in respect of which the
Scheduled Reference Date is not a Disrupted Day shall be the
Scheduled Reference Date for such Basket Component; and

(2) the Reference Date for any Basket Component in respect of which the
Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day (each an Affected
Basket Component) shall be the earlier of (A) the first Scheduled
Trading Day following the relevant Scheduled Reference Date that is
not a Disrupted Day in respect of such Affected Basket Component;
and (B) the Reference Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component (notwithstanding that such day may not be a Scheduled
Trading Day).

(B) where "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if the Determination
Agent determines that any Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day in
respect of any Basket Component, then the Reference Date for each Basket
Component shall be the earlier of (i) the first Common Scheduled Trading Day
following the relevant Scheduled Reference Date that is not a Disrupted Day
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(b)

©)

with respect to any Basket Component; and (ii) the Reference Cut-Off Date
(notwithstanding that such day may not be a Common Scheduled Trading Day).

where "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if the Determination
Agent determines that any Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day in
respect of any Basket Component, then:

@)

)

the Reference Date for each Basket Component in respect of which the
Scheduled Reference Date is not a Disrupted Day shall be the
Scheduled Reference Date for such Basket Component; and

the Reference Date for each Basket Component in respect of which the
Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day (each an Affected
Basket Component) shall be the earlier of (A) the first Scheduled
Trading Day following the relevant Scheduled Reference Date that is
not a Disrupted Day in respect of such Affected Basket Component;
and (B) the Reference Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component (notwithstanding that such day may not be a Common
Scheduled Trading Day or a Scheduled Trading Day).

(iii)  If, in respect of any Single Index Note, Single Share Note, Single ETF Note, Index Basket
Note, Share Basket Note or ETF Basket Note (as the case may be), a Reference Date falls
on the relevant Reference Cut-Off Date pursuant to this Condition 9.1(a)(iii):

the Determination Agent shall determine:

(A)

(B)

in respect of a Single Index Note, the level of such Index or the value of such
Share or ETF Interest (as the case may be) as at the Determination Time on
such Reference Cut-Off Date; or

if such Reference Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day:

M)

)

in respect of Single Index Notes and Index Basket Notes, the
Determination Agent shall determine, in its reasonable discretion, the
level of such Index as of the Determination Time on the Reference Cut-
Off Date in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating
the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day
using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Determination
Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day of each security (or other
property) comprised in that Index (or, if an event giving rise to a
Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security on such
Reference Cut-Off Date, its estimate of the value for the relevant
security as of the Determination Time on such Reference Cut-Off Date,
acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner); and

Single Share Notes, Single ETF Notes, Underlying Share Basket Notes
and ETF Basket Notes (as the case may be), the Determination Agent
shall determine, in its reasonable discretion, its estimate of the value
for such Underlying Share or ETF Interest (as the case may be) as of
the Determination Time on such Reference Cut-Off Date, acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner.

If Averaging Dates are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, then,
notwithstanding any other provisions of these Conditions, the following provisions will apply
to the valuation of the relevant Index, Underlying Share, ETF Interest, Basket of Indices, Basket
of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests in relation to the relevant Reference Date:
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(i)

If an Averaging Date is, in respect of a Single Index Note, a Single Share Note or a Single
ETF Note, a Scheduled Averaging Date is determined by the Determination Agent to be
a Disrupted Day, then if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is:

(A)

(B)

(©)

Omission, then such date will be deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date
in respect of such Reference Date for the purposes of determining the Relevant
Underlying Value, as applicable provided that, if through the operation of this
provision no Averaging Date would occur with respect to the relevant
Reference Date, then Condition 9.1(a)(i) will apply for purposes of determining
the Relevant Underlying Value on the final Averaging Date in respect of that
Reference Date as if such final Averaging Date were a Reference Date that was
a Disrupted Day;

Postponement, then Condition 9.1(a)(i) will apply for the purposes of
determining the Relevant Underlying Value on that date as if such date were a
Reference Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to
such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that
already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date in respect of the Reference
Date; or

Modified Postponement, then the Averaging Date shall be the earlier of (1) the
first Valid Date following the Scheduled Averaging Date and (Il) the
Averaging Cut-Off Date, irrespective of whether it falls on a day that already
is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date.

If, in respect of an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or an ETF Basket Note, a
Scheduled Averaging Date in respect of a Reference Date is determined by the
Determination Agent to be a Disrupted Day in respect of any Basket Component, then:

(A)

where "Individual Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms:
(1) if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Omission":

€)) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) such date shall not be an Averaging Date in respect of such
Reference Date for any Basket Component in respect of which
the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each such
Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component),
provided that if through the operation of this provision there
would not be any Averaging Date in respect of such Reference
Date for the Affected Basket Component, then the sole
Averaging Date for such Affected Basket Component shall be
the earlier of (1) the first Scheduled Trading Day following the
final Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a Disrupted Day in
respect of each such Affected Basket Component and (1) the
Averaging Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component;

(2) if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Postponement™:
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@ the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each
such Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component)
shall be the earlier of (I) the first Scheduled Trading Day
following the Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a
Disrupted Day in respect of such Affected Basket Component
and (I1) the Averaging Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component. Any day (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
the Averaging Cut-Off Date) determined to be an Averaging
Date as a result of the operation of this Condition
9.1(b)(ii)(A)(2)(b) shall be an Averaging Date, irrespective of
whether it falls on a day that already is or is deemed to be an
Averaging Date; or

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Modified Postponement"":

(@) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each
such Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component)
shall be the earlier of (I) the first Valid Date following the
Scheduled Averaging Date in respect of such Affected Basket
Component and (1) the Averaging Cut-Off Date for such
Affected Basket Component, irrespective of whether it falls
on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date;

(B) where "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms:

M)

)

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Omission", such date will be
deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date in respect of any Basket
Component for the purposes of determining the Relevant Underlying
Value, as applicable provided that, if through the operation of this
provision there would be no Averaging Date in respect of such
Reference Date, then the sole Averaging Date for each Basket
Component shall be the earlier of (A) the first Common Scheduled
Trading Day following the Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a
Disrupted Day for any Basket Component and (B) the Averaging Cut-
Off Date (notwithstanding the fact that such Averaging Cut-Off Date
may not be a Common Scheduled Trading Day);

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Postponement”, then the
Averaging Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first Common Scheduled
Trading Day following the Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a
Disrupted Day in respect of any Basket Component and (B) the
Averaging Cut-Off Date (notwithstanding the fact that such Averaging
Cut-Off Date may not be a Common Scheduled Trading Day). Any
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@)

day (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Averaging Cut-Off
Date) determined to be an Averaging Date as a result of the operation
of this Condition 9.1(b)(ii)(B)(2) shall be an Averaging Date,
irrespective of whether it falls on a day that already is or is deemed to
be an Averaging Date; or

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Modified Postponement", then
the Averaging Date for each Basket Component shall be the earlier of
(A) the first Common Valid Date following the Scheduled Averaging
Date and (I1) the Averaging Cut-Off Date (notwithstanding the fact that
such Averaging Cut-Off Date may not be a Common Scheduled
Trading Day), irrespective of whether it falls on a day that already is or
is deemed to be an Averaging Date;

where "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days" is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms:

@)

)

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Omission":

€)) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) such date shall not be an Averaging Date in respect of such
Reference Date for any Basket Component in respect of which
the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each such
Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component),
provided that if through the operation of this provision there
would not be any Averaging Date in respect of such Reference
Date for the Affected Basket Component, then the sole
Averaging Date for such Affected Basket Component shall be
the earlier of (1) the first Scheduled Trading Day following the
final Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a Disrupted Day in
respect of such Affected Basket Component and (Il) the
Averaging Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket Component
(notwithstanding the fact that such day may not be a Common
Scheduled Trading Day);

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Postponement":

(@) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each
such Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component)
shall be the earlier of (I) the first Scheduled Trading Day
following the Scheduled Averaging Date that is not a
Disrupted Day in respect of such Affected Basket Component
and (I1) the Averaging Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component (notwithstanding the fact that such day not be a
Common Scheduled Trading Day). Any day (including, for
the avoidance of doubt, the Averaging Cut-Off Date)
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(iv)

®)

determined to be an Averaging Date as a result of the operation
of this Condition 9.1(b)(ii)(C)(2)(b) shall be an Averaging
Date, irrespective of whether it falls on a day that already is or
is deemed to be an Averaging Date; or

if, in relation to Averaging Date Disruption, the consequence
specified in the relevant Final Terms is "Modified Postponement":

(@) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day
shall be the Scheduled Averaging Date; and

(b) the Averaging Date for each Basket Component in respect of
which the Scheduled Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day (each
such Basket Component, an Affected Basket Component)
shall be the earlier of (I) the first Valid Date (that is a
Scheduled Trading Day) following the Scheduled Averaging
Date in respect of such Affected Basket Component and (1)
the Averaging Cut-Off Date for such Affected Basket
Component, irrespective of whether it falls on a day that
already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date;

If, in respect of any Single Index Note, Single Underlying Share Note, Single ETF Note,
Index Basket Note, Share Basket Note or ETF Basket Note (as the case may be), an
Averaging Date falls on the relevant Averaging Cut-Off Date pursuant to this Condition
9.1(b)(iii):

(A)

(B)

(as the case may be), the Determination Agent shall determine the level of such
Index or the value of such Share or ETF Interest (as the case may be) as at the
Determination Time on such Averaging Cut-Off Date; or

if such Averaging Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day:

@)

2

Determination Agent shall determine, in its reasonable discretion, the
level of such Index as of the Determination Time on such date in
accordance with the formula for and method of calculating such Index
last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using
the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Determination Time on
such Averaging Cut-Off Date of each security comprised in that Index
(or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect
of the relevant security on such Averaging Cut-Off Date, its estimate
of the value for the relevant security as of the Determination Time on
such Averaging Cut-Off Date, acting in good faith and a commercially
reasonable manner); and

in respect of Single Share Notes, Single ETF Notes, Share Basket
Notes and ETF Basket Notes (as the case may be), the Determination
Agent shall determine, in its discretion, its estimate of the value for
such Share or ETF Interest (as the case may be) as of the Determination
Time on such Averaging Cut-Off Date, acting in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner.

If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Reference Date occur after that Reference Date
as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Interest Payment
Date, Maturity Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date or (ii) the occurrence of an
Extraordinary Event, an Extraordinary ETF Event, an Index Adjustment Event, a
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9.2

Potential Adjustment Event or an Additional Disruption Event shall be determined by
reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Reference Date.

Adjustments to Indices:

This Condition 9.2 (Adjustments to Indices) is applicable only in relation to Notes specified in the
relevant Final Terms as being Single Index Notes or Index Basket Notes.

(@)

(b)

Successor Index:

If a relevant Index is (a) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor, but is calculated
and announced by a successor sponsor acceptable to the Determination Agent acting in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner or (b) replaced by a Successor Index using, in
the determination of the Determination Agent (such determination to be at the Determination
Agent's reasonable discretion), the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of
calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each case that index (the Successor
Index) will be deemed to be the Index.

Index Cancellation or Administrator/ Benchmark Event Date:

If on or prior to any Reference Date either (1) the Index Sponsor permanently cancels the Index

and no Successor Index exists (an Index Cancellation) or (2) the applicable Final Terms

specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are applicable and an Administrator/ Benchmark

Event and an Administrator/ Benchmark Event Date occurs in respect of such Index, then:

(i) If the applicable Final Terms specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are
applicable and if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has been specified in relation to
such Index in the applicable Final Terms, then:

(A) the Determination Agent shall attempt to determine an Adjustment Payment;
(B) if the Determination Agent determines an Adjustment Payment,

(aa) it shall notify the Issuer of the Adjustment Payment and if the
Adjustment Payment is an amount that the Noteholder would (but for
Condition 9.2(b)(i)(B)(cc)(b)) be required to pay to the Issuer in
respect of each Note, request the Issuer to notify the Determination
Agent whether it intends to redeem the Notes pursuant to Condition
9.2(d). If the Issuer does not intend to redeem the Notes pursuant to
Condition 9.2(d) then the following provisions of this Condition
9.2(b)(i) shall apply;

(bb)  the terms of the Notes shall be amended so that references to the Index
are replaced by references to the Alternative Pre-nominated Index;

(cc) the Conditions shall be adjusted to implement the Adjustment Payment
as follows:
a. if the Adjustment Payment is an amount that the Issuer is
required to pay in respect of each Note, the Determination
Agent shall adjust the Conditions to provide for the payment
of the Adjustment Payment on the immediately succeeding
Interest Payment Date or if there is no such immediately
succeeding Interest Payment Date, on the Maturity Date or
other date when the Notes are redeemed in full; or
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b. if the Adjustment Payment is an amount that the Noteholder
would (but for this Condition9.2(b)(i)(B)(cc)(b)) be required
to pay to the Issuer in respect of each Note, the Determination
Agent shall adjust the Conditions to provide for the reduction
of the amounts due by the Issuer until the aggregate amount of
such reductions is equal to the Adjustment Payment, (subject,
in the determination of the Determination Agent, to any
minimum redemption amount of the Notes which the
Determination Agent determines is required pursuant to any
applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation,
any tax law) and the rules of each listing authority, stock
exchange and/or quotation system by which the Notes have
then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation);

(dd)  the Determination Agent shall make such other adjustments to the
Conditions as it determines necessary or appropriate in order to
account for the effect of the replacement of the Index with the
Alternative Pre-nominated Index and/or to preserve as nearly as
practicable the economic equivalence of the Notes before and after the
replacement of the Index with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index;
and

(ee) the Determination Agent shall notify the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent
of any replacement of the Index by the Alternative Pre-nominated
Index, the Adjustment Payment and any other adjustments to the
Conditions. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders
of the replacement of the Index by the Alternative Pre-nominated
Index, the Adjustment Payment and any other adjustments to the
Conditions in accordance with Condition 24.8 (Notices), giving
summary details of the adjustment, provided that any failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of the foregoing.

© If the Determination Agent is unable to determine an Adjustment Payment then
Condition 9.2(d) shall apply.

(i)  If the applicable Final Terms do not specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are
applicable or, if the Final Terms specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are
applicable but do not specify an Alternative Pre-nominated Index in relation to the
Relevant Equity Benchmark, then Condition 9.2(d) shall apply.

Index Modification and Index Disruption:

If (i) on or prior to any Reference Date or Averaging Date, a relevant Index Sponsor announces
that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating that Index or
in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that
formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent securities and
capitalisation and other routine events) (an Index Modification) or (ii) on any Reference Date
or Averaging Date, the Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index (provided
that, the Determination Agent may, in its reasonable discretion, determine that, in respect of a
Multi-exchange Index, such failure to calculate and announce such Index shall instead be a
Disrupted Day in respect of such Index) (an Index Disruption ), then the Determination Agent
shall determine if such Index Modification or Index Disruption has a material effect on the
Notes and, if so, subject to Condition 9.2(d), shall calculate in its reasonable discretion the
Relevant Underlying Value using, in lieu of a published level for that Index, the level for that
Index as at that Reference Date or, as the case may be, that Averaging Date as determined by
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the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion in accordance with the formula for and
method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to that change, failure or cancellation, but
using only those securities that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index
Adjustment Event.

Redemption for Index Adjustment Event:

If:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

an Index Cancellation occurs and the Final Terms do not specify that the Benchmark
Trigger Provisions are applicable;

an Index Cancellation or an Administrator/Benchmark Event Date occurs, the Final
Terms specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are applicable but do not
specify an Alternative Pre-nominated Index;

an Index Cancellation or an Administrator/ Benchmark Event Date occurs, the Final
Terms specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are applicable and specify an
Alternative Pre-nominated Index but the Determination Agent is unable to determine
the Adjustment Payment;

an Index Cancellation or an Administrator/ Benchmark Event Date occurs, the Final
Terms specify that the Benchmark Trigger Provisions are applicable and specify an
Alternative Pre-nominated Index and the Determination Agent determines that the
Adjustment Payment would be an amount that the Noteholder would (but for
Condition 9.2(b)(i)(B)(cc)(b)) be required to pay to the Issuer in respect of each Note;
or

an Index Modification or an Index Disruption occurs and it (a) would be unlawful at
any time under any applicable law or regulation or (b) would contravene any
applicable licensing requirements, in each case for the Determination Agent to
calculate the Relevant Underlying Value in accordance with Condition 9.2(c),

then the Issuer may, at any time thereafter and in its reasonable discretion, determine that the
Notes shall be redeemed as of any later date. If the Issuer so determines that the Notes shall be
redeemed, then the Issuer shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to the Noteholders
to redeem the Notes and upon redemption the Issuer will pay in respect of each Note an amount
equal to either:

0]

(i)

if "Early Redemption Amount (Index Cancellation) — Fair Market Value Less
Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on such day
as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such
day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the
proportion attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any
Affiliate of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion; or

if "Early Redemption Amount (Index Cancellation) — Fair Market Value" is
specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on such day as is selected
by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not
more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by the
Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion.

The Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such
amount.
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9.3

(@)

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent
may make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion,
considers appropriate, if any, to the formula and other provisions for determining the
Final Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount or the Relevant Underlying Value (as
defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions) set out in these Conditions and such
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable
in the applicable Final Terms and any other variable relevant to the settlement or
payment terms of the Notes, which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date
as the Determination Agent shall determine. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to
the Noteholders of any such change or adjustment, in accordance with Condition 24.68
(Notices), giving summary details of the relevant change or adjustment, provided that
any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such change or
adjustment.

Correction of Index Levels:

If the level of an Index published by the Index Sponsor and which is utilised by the
Determination Agent for any calculation or determination (the Original Determination) under
the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction (the Corrected Value) is published by
the Index Sponsor by such time (the Correction Cut Off Time) as may be specified in the
relevant Final Terms (or, if none is so specified, within one Settlement Cycle after the original
publication and prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date,
Early Redemption Date or Maturity Date), then the Determination Agent will notify the Issuer
and the Fiscal Agent of the Corrected Value as soon as reasonably practicable and shall
determine the relevant value (the Replacement Determination) using the Corrected Value. If
the result of the Replacement Determination is different from the result of the Original
Determination, to the extent that it determines to be necessary and practicable, the
Determination Agent may, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, adjust
any relevant terms accordingly. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of any
such adjustment, giving summary details of the adjustment in accordance with Condition 24.8
(Notices), provided that any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such
adjustment.

Adjustments affecting Underlying Shares and ETF Interests:

This Condition 9.3 (Adjustments affecting Underlying Shares and ETF Interests) is applicable
only in relation to Single Share Notes, Single ETF Notes, Share Basket Notes and ETF Basket
Notes.

Adjustments for Potential Adjustment Events:

Following the declaration by the Underlying Issuer, the relevant ETF or an ETF Service
Provider of the terms of a Potential Adjustment Event, the Determination Agent will determine
whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the
theoretical value of the relevant Underlying Shares or ETF Interests and, if so, will (i) make
such adjustment as it, in its reasonable discretion, considers appropriate, if any, to the formula
or other provisions for determining the Final Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount and/or
the Relevant Underlying Value set out in these Conditions or such provisions of the Additional
Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the
number of Underlying Shares or ETF Interests to which each Note relates, the number of
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests comprised in a Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests
and/or any other adjustment and, in any case, to any other variable relevant to the payment or
other terms of the relevant Notes as the Determination Agent determines, in its reasonable
discretion, to be appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect (provided that
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no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends,
stock loan rate, or liquidity relative to such Shares or ETF Interests) and (ii) determine, in its
reasonable discretion, the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). The Fiscal Agent shall
provide notice to the Noteholders of any such adjustment in accordance with Condition 24.8
(Notices) giving summary details of the adjustment, provided that any failure to give such notice
shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

(b) Correction of Underlying Share and ETF Interest Prices:

If any price published on the Exchange and which is utilised by the Determination Agent for
any calculation or determination (the Original Determination) under the Notes is subsequently
corrected and the correction (the Corrected Value) is published by the Exchange by such time
(the Correction Cut Off Time) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms (or, if none is
so specified, within one Settlement Cycle after the original publication and prior to the relevant
Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Early Redemption Date or Maturity
Date), then the Determination Agent will notify the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent of the Corrected
Value as soon as reasonably practicable and shall determine the relevant value (the
Replacement Determination) using the Corrected Value. If the result of the Replacement
Determination is different from the result of the Original Determination, to the extent that it
determines to be necessary and practicable, the Determination Agent may, acting in good faith
and a commercially reasonable manner, adjust any relevant terms accordingly. The Fiscal
Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of any such adjustment in accordance with
Condition 24.8 (Notices) giving summary details of the adjustment, provided that any failure
to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

Extraordinary Events:

This Condition 9.4 (Extraordinary Events) is applicable only in relation to Notes specified in the
relevant Final Terms as being Single Share Notes, Single ETF Notes, Share Basket Notes or ETF Basket
Notes.

@) Merger Event or Tender Offer:
(i)  Following the occurrence of any Merger Event or Tender Offer, the Issuer will, in its
reasonable discretion, determine whether the relevant Notes shall continue or shall be
redeemed early.

(it)  If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent
may make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion,
considers appropriate, if any, to the formula or other provisions for determining the Final
Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount and/or the Relevant Underlying Value set out
in these Conditions or such provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions as are
specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the number of Underlying
Shares or ETF Interests to which each Note relates, the number of Underlying Shares or
ETF Interests comprised in a Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests (as the case
may be) and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the payment terms of the relevant
Notes and/or any other adjustment (including, without limitation, in relation to Share
Basket Notes or ETF Basket Notes, the cancellation of terms applicable in respect of
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests affected by the relevant Merger Event or Tender
Offer) which adjustment shall be effective on such date as the Determination Agent shall
determine. The relevant adjustments may include, without limitation, adjustments to
account for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant
to the Shares or to the Notes. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of
any such adjustment in accordance with Condition 24.8 (Notices) giving summary details
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(iv)

of the adjustment, provided that any failure to give such notice shall not affect the
validity of any such adjustment.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer
shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to the Noteholders to redeem the Notes
and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of (in
the case of a Merger Event) the Merger Event Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value
Less Costs or the Merger Event Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value (each as defined
below), as applicable, or of (in the case of a Tender Offer) the Tender Offer Settlement
Amount — Fair Market Value Less Costs or the Tender Offer Settlement Amount — Fair
Market Value (each as defined below), as applicable.

For the purposes hereof

Merger Date means the closing date of a Merger Event or, where a closing date cannot
be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as
determined by the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion;

Merger Event means, in respect of any relevant Underlying Shares or ETF Interests,
as determined by the Determination Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable
manner, any: (i) reclassification or change of such Underlying Shares or ETF Interests
that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests outstanding to another entity or person, (ii)
consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying
Issuer or ETF with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation,
amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which such Underlying Issuer or
ETF is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change
of all such Underlying Shares or ETF Interests outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender
offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to
purchase or otherwise obtain 90 per cent. of the outstanding Underlying Shares or ETF
Interests of the Underlying Issuer or ETF that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable
commitment to transfer all such Underlying Shares or ETF Interests (other than such
Underlying Shares or ETF owned or controlled by such other entity or person), or (iv)
consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying
Issuer or its subsidiaries or ETF or its sub-funds with or into another entity in which
the Underlying Issuer or ETF is the continuing entity and which does not result in a
reclassification or change of all such Underlying Shares or ETF Interests outstanding
but results in the outstanding Underlying Shares or ETF Interests (other than
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests owned or controlled by such other entity)
immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the
outstanding Underlying Shares or ETF Interests immediately following such event (a
Reverse Merger), in each case if the Merger Date is on or before the final date for
determining the Relevant Underlying Value in respect of the relevant Underlying
Shares or ETF Interests.

Merger Event Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value means in respect of each
Note, an amount equal to the fair market value of such Note, on such day as is selected
by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not
more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by
the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion.

Merger Event Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value Less Costs means in respect
of each Note, an amount equal to the fair market value of such Note, on such day as is
selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such
day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the
proportion attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any
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Affiliate of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

Tender Offer means, in respect of any Underlying Shares or ETF Interests, as
determined by the Determination Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner,
a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by
any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise
obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 9
per cent. and less than 90 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Underlying
Issuer or ETF, as determined by the Determination Agent, based upon the making of
filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the
Determination Agent deems relevant.

Tender Offer Date means, in respect of a Tender Offer, the date on which voting
shares in the amount of the applicable percentage threshold are actually purchased or
otherwise obtained, as determined by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion.

Tender Offer Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value means, in respect of each
Note, an amount equal to the fair market value of such Note, on such day as is selected
by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not
more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by
the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion.

Tender Offer Settlement Amount — Fair Market Value Less Costs means, in respect
of each Note, an amount equal to the fair market value of such Note, on such day as is
selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such
day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the
proportion attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any
Affiliate of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

(b) Nationalisation, Insolvency and Delisting:
0] If in the determination of the Determination Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable
manner:

(A) all the Underlying Shares or ETF Interests or all or substantially all the assets
of an Underlying Issuer, ETF or ETF Service Provider are nationalised,
expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental
agency, authority, entity or instrumentality thereof (Nationalisation); or

(B) by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency,
dissolution or winding-up of, or any analogous proceeding affecting, an
Underlying Issuer, ETF or ETF Service Provider, (1) all the Underlying Shares
or ETF Interests of that Underlying Issuer, ETF or ETF Service Provider are
required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (2)
holders of the Underlying Shares or ETF Interests of that Underlying Issuer,
ETF or ETF Service Provider become legally prohibited from transferring
them (Insolvency); or

© the Exchange announces that pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, the
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests cease (or will cease) to be listed, traded or
publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or
Tender Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an
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exchange or quotation system located in the same country as the Exchange (or,
where the Exchange is within the European Union, in any Member State of the
European Union) (Delisting),

then the Issuer will, in its reasonable discretion, determine whether or not the Notes

shall continue.

(i) If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent
may make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion,
considers appropriate, if any, to the formula or other provisions for determining the
Final Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount and/or the Relevant Underlying Value
set out in these Conditions or such provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the number of
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests to which each Note relates, the number of
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests comprised in a Basket of Shares or a Basket of ETF
Interests (as the case may be) and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the
payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment (including without
limitation, in relation to Share Basket Notes or ETF Basket Notes, the cancellation of
terms applicable in respect of Underlying Shares or ETF Interests affected by the
relevant Extraordinary Event) which change or adjustment shall be effective on such
date as the Determination Agent shall determine. The relevant adjustments may
include, without limitation, adjustments to account for changes in volatility, expected
dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Notes. The Fiscal
Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of any such adjustment in accordance
with Condition 24.8 (Notices) giving summary details of the adjustment, provided that
any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

(iii) If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer
shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes. The Issuer's
obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of, in respect of each
Note, an amount equal to either:

(A) if "Early Redemption Amount (Nationalisation, Insolvency and Delisting)
— Fair Market Value Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair
market value of such Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination
Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15
days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion
attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate
of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion; or

(B) if "Early Redemption Amount (Nationalisation, Insolvency and Delisting)
— Fair Market Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of
such Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before
the date fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination
Agent in its reasonable discretion.

9.5 Extraordinary ETF Events

This Condition 9.5 (Extraordinary ETF Events) is applicable only in relation to Single ETF Notes or
ETF Basket Notes.

(@) Following the occurrence of any Extraordinary ETF Event, the Issuer will, in its
reasonable discretion, determine whether the relevant Notes shall continue or shall be
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redeemed early. The Determination Agent shall not have any obligation to monitor the
occurrence of an Extraordinary ETF Event not shall it have any obligation to make a
determination that an Extraordinary ETF Event has occurred and is continuing.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent

may:

0] substitute any Affected ETF Interest with the Successor ETF Interest relating
to such Affected ETF interest, provided that if no Successor ETF Interest has
been identified in the manner set forth below within 10 Business Days of the
Extraordinary ETF Event Notice Date (as defined below), then sub-paragraph
(ii) below shall apply; and/or

(i) make such adjustment as the Determination Agent considers, in its reasonable
discretion, appropriate, if any, to the formula or other provisions for
determining the Final Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount and/or the
Relevant Underlying Value set out in these Conditions or such provisions of
the Additional Terms and Conditions as specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the number of ETF Interests to which each Note relates,
the number of ETF Interests comprised in a Basket of ETF Interests, the amount
and, in any case, any other variable relevant to payment terms of the relevant
Notes and/or any other adjustment (including, without limitation, in relation to
ETF Basket Notes, the cancellation of terms applicable in respect of ETF
Interests affected by the relevant Extraordinary Fund Event) to account for the
economic effect on the Notes of such Extraordinary ETF Event (including
adjustments to account for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan
rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Notes), which may, but need
not, be determined by reference to the adjustments(s) made in respect of such
Extraordinary ETF Event by an options exchange to options on the relevant
Shares traded on such options exchange, which adjustment shall be effective
on such date as the Determination Agent shall determine.

Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of (a) any Successor ETF Interest
identified in accordance with sub-paragraph (i) above and (b) any adjustment made in
accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) above, in each case, in accordance with Condition
24.8 (Notices), giving summary details of the adjustment, if applicable, provided that
any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer
shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to the Noteholders to redeem the
Notes and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon
payment of an amount equal to either:

Q) if "Early Redemption Amount (Extraordinary ETF Event) — Fair Market
Value Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of
such Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before
the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion attributable to
that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate of, or the loss
realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion; or

(i) if "Early Redemption Amount (Extraordinary ETF Event) — Fair Market
Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on
such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion
(provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for
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redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

The Issuer shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the
Fiscal Agent of the Determination Agent's determination of the occurrence of an
Extraordinary ETF Event (the date of such notice, the Extraordinary ETF Event
Notice Date).

For the purposes hereof:

Extraordinary ETF Event shall mean, with respect to an ETF or ETF Service Provider
(as the case may be), the occurrence of any of the following events, as determined by
the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

there exists any litigation against the ETF or an ETF Service Provider which
could materially affect the value of the ETF Interests or on the rights or
remedies of any investor therein as determined by the Determination Agent, in
its reasonable discretion;

an allegation of criminal or fraudulent activity is made in respect of the ETF,
or any ETF Service Provider, or any employee of any such entity, or the
Determination Agent reasonably determines that any such criminal or
fraudulent activity has occurred, or any investigative, judicial, administrative
or other civil or criminal proceedings is commenced or is threatened against the
ETF, any ETF Service Provider or any key personnel of such entities if such
allegation, determination, suspicion or proceedings could materially affect the
value of the ETF Interests or the rights or remedies of any investor in such ETF
Interests as determined by the Determination Agent, in its reasonable
discretion;

(A) an ETF Service Provider ceases to act in such capacity in relation to the ETF
(including by way of Merger Event or Tender Offer) and is not immediately
replaced in such capacity by a successor acceptable to the Determination Agent;
and/or (B) any event occurs which causes, or will with the passage of time (in
the opinion of the Determination Agent) cause, the failure of the ETF and/or any
ETF Service Provider to meet or maintain any obligation or undertaking under
the ETF Documents which failure is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact
on the value of the ETF Interests or on the rights or remedies of any investor
therein;

a material modification of or deviation from any of the investment objectives,
investment restrictions, investment process or investment guidelines of the ETF
(howsoever described, including the underlying type of assets in which the ETF
invests), from those set out in the ETF Documents, or any announcement
regarding a potential modification or deviation, except where such modification
or deviation is of a formal, minor or technical nature;

a material modification, cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), or
any announcement regarding a potential future material modification,
cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), of the type of assets (A) in
which the ETF invests, (B) the ETF purports to track, or (C) the ETF
accepts/provides for purposes of creation/redemption baskets;

a material modification, or any announcement regarding a potential future
material modification, of the ETF (including but not limited to a material
modification of the ETF Documents or to the ETF’s liquidity terms) other than a
modification or event which does not affect the ETF Interests or the ETF or any

-131 -



portfolio of assets to which the ETF Interest relates (either alone or in common
with other ETF Interests issued by the ETF);

(vii) the ETF ceases to be an undertaking for collective investment under the
legislation of its relevant jurisdiction, provided that on the relevant Issue Date,
the ETF was such an undertaking and any such cessation would have a material
adverse effect on any investor in such ETF Interests as determined by the
Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion;

(viii)  (A) any relevant activities of or in relation to the ETF or any ETF Service
Provider are or become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited in whole or in
part as a result of compliance with any present or future law, regulation,
judgment, order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or
judicial authority or power, or in the interpretation thereof, in any applicable
jurisdiction (including, but not limited to, any cancellation, suspension or
revocation of the registration or approval of the ETF by any governmental, legal
or regulatory entity with authority over the ETF), (B) a relevant authorisation or
licence is revoked, lapses or is under review by a competent authority in respect
of the ETF or the ETF Service Provider or new conditions are imposed, or
existing conditions varied, with respect to any such authorisation or licence, (C)
the ETF is required by a competent authority to redeem any ETF Interests, (D)
any hedge provider is required by a competent authority or any other relevant
entity to dispose of or compulsorily redeem any ETF Interests held in connection
with any hedging arrangements relating to the Notes and/or (E) any change in
the legal, tax, accounting or regulatory treatment of the ETF or any ETF Service
Provider that is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact on the value of the
ETF Interests or other activities or undertakings of the ETF or on the rights or
remedies of any investor therein; or

(ix)  the value of any ETF Interest held by the Issuer and its Affiliates is greater than
10 per cent. of the aggregate net asset value of the relevant ETF (whether or not
all of such holding results from hedging transactions entered into in connection
with the Notes) and including, where the excess holding results from a reduction
in the aggregate net asset value of the relevant ETF; and

For these purposes, Successor ETF Interest means, in respect of an Affected ETF Interest, (1)
if specified in the applicable Final Terms, any Eligible ETF Interest; (2) if no Eligible ETF
Interest is specified, the successor ETF Interest as determined by the Determination Agent,
using commercially reasonable efforts, taking into account any factors which the Determination
Agent determines to be relevant, including (but not limited to) the existence of other ETFs that
are linked to the same underlying index or asset as the Affected ETF Interest, liquidity of the
proposed successor ETF Interest, the prevailing market conditions at the time the Determination
Agent makes its determination and the Issuer's hedging arrangements in respect of the relevant
Notes; or (3) if the Determination Agent determines that it is unable to determine a suitable
successor ETF Interest, the Determination Agent may determine that the relevant Notes, where
the Affected ETF Interest will be linked to the relevant underlying index (the Related
Underlying Index) and such Related Underlying Index shall be the Successor ETF Interest and
the provisions applicable to Index-Linked Notes will apply to the relevant Notes with such
adjustments as the Determination Agent determines to be appropriate.

9.6 Additional Disruption Events:
@ Following the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will, in its

reasonable discretion, determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue or be
redeemed early.
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If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent
may make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion,
considers appropriate, if any, to the formula or other provisions for determining the
Final Redemption Amount, any Interest Amount and/or the Relevant Underlying Value
set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Underlying Shares or ETF Interests
to which each Note relates, the number of Underlying Shares or ETF Interest comprised
in a Basket, the amount and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the payment
terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment (including without limitation,
in relation to Share Basket Notes, Index Basket Notes or ETF Basket Notes, the
cancellation of terms applicable in respect of any Underlying Shares, Index or ETF
Interest, as the case may be, affected by the relevant Additional Disruption Event), to
account for the economic effect on the Notes of such Additional Disruption Event
(including adjustments to account for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock
loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Notes), which change or adjustment
shall be effective on such date as the Determination Agent shall determine. The Fiscal
Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of any such adjustment in accordance
with Condition 24.8 (Notices), giving summary details of the adjustment, provided that
any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer
shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes and the Issuer's
obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of each
Note of an amount equal to either:

(1) if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair
Market Value Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market
value of such Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days
before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion
attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate
of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion.

(i) if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair
Market Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such
Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date
fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion.

The Issuer shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the
Fiscal Agent and the Determination Agent of the occurrence of an Additional
Disruption Event.

For the purposes hereof:

Additional Disruption Event means with respect to any Series of Notes any or all of
(i) a Change in Law, (ii) Hedging Disruption, (iii) Increased Cost of Hedging and (iv)
Loss of Stock Borrow, as have been specified in the applicable Final Terms as an
applicable Additional Disruption Event with respect to such Notes.

Definitions applicable to Equity-Linked Notes:

In relation to Equity-Linked Notes, the following expressions have the meanings set out below:
Adjustment Payment means, in respect of any Note, the payment (if any) determined by the
Determination Agent as is required in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable,
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any transfer of economic value to or from the Issuer as a result of the replacement of the Index by the
Pre-nominated Alternative Index. The Determination Agent may determine that the Adjustment
Payment is zero;

Affected ETF Interest means, at any time, any ETF Interest in respect of which the Determination
Agent has determined that an Extraordinary ETF Event has occurred;

Averaging Cut-Off Date means, in the case where Notes relate to an Index, Share or ETF Interest or a
Basket of Indices, Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests and in respect of a Scheduled Averaging
Date for the purposes of Condition 9.1(b) (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and
Averaging Dates):

@) if "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days" in respect of a Basket of
Indices, Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests is specified to be applicable in the Final
Terms, the eighth Common Scheduled Trading Day following such Scheduled Averaging Date;
or

(b) in any other case, the eighth Scheduled Trading Day following such Scheduled Averaging Date;
Averaging Date means, in respect of each Reference Date, either:

@) in the case of a Single Index Note, a Single Share Note or an Single ETF Note (as the case may
be); or (b) an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or an ETF Basket Note (as the case may
be) where the applicable Final Terms provides that "Individual Scheduled Trading Days and
Individual Disrupted Days" shall be applicable, each date specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms, or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled
Trading Day for such (or the relevant) Index, Share or ETF Interest or Basket Component (as
the case may be); or

(b) in the case of an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or an ETF Basket Note, where the
applicable Final Terms provides that either "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common
Disrupted Days" or "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Individual Disrupted Days" shall
be applicable, each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if any such date is
not a Common Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Common Scheduled Trading Day
for such Basket of Indices, Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests (as the case may be),

provided that if any such day is a Disrupted Day, the Averaging Date shall be determined in accordance
with the provisions of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging
Dates);

Basket means in relation to any Share Basket Notes, the Underlying Shares specified in the applicable
Final Terms as comprising the Basket, in relation to Index Basket Notes, the Indices specified in the
applicable Final Terms as comprising the Basket and in relation to any ETF Basket Notes, the ETF
Interests specified in the applicable Final Terms as comprising the Basket, in each case in the relative
proportions specified in such Final Terms;

Basket Component means, in relation to a particular Series of Share Basket Notes, Index Basket Notes
or ETF Basket Notes, each Underlying Share, Index or ETF Interest comprised in the relevant Basket
of Shares, Indices or ETF Interests, as applicable;

Basket of ETF Interests means, in relation to a particular Series, a basket comprising the ETF Interests
specified in the applicable Final Terms in the relative proportions or number of ETF Interests specified
in the such Final Terms;

Basket of Indices means, in relation to a particular Series, a basket comprising the Indices specified in
the applicable Final Terms in the relative proportions specified in such Final Terms;
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Basket of Shares means, in relation to a particular Series, a basket comprising Underlying Shares of
each Underlying Issuer specified in the applicable Final Terms in the relative proportions or number of
Underlying Shares of each Underlying Issuer specified in such Final Terms;

Change in Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any
applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation
of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent
jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the
Issuer determines that (x), in the case of Single Share Notes, Single ETF Notes, Share Basket Notes or
ETF Basket Notes, it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of any relevant Underlying Shares
or ETF Interests (as the case may be), or (y) it will incur a materially increased cost in performing its
obligations with respect to the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability,
decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position);

Common Scheduled Trading Day means, in respect of an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or
an ETF Basket Note (as the case may be), each day which is a Scheduled Trading Day for all the Basket
Components;

Common Valid Date means, in respect of an Index Basket Note, a Share Basket Note or an ETF Basket
Note (as the case may be), a Common Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day for any Basket
Component and on which another Averaging Date does not or is deemed not to occur;

Component means in relation to an Index, any security which comprises such Index;

Determination Date means, in relation to any determination, each date or dates, if any, specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms, provided that (i) if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day
and/or (ii) if any Determination Date is a Disrupted Day, the relevant Determination Date shall be
determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption,
Reference Dates and Averaging Dates), which shall apply mutatis mutandis as if such Determination
Date were a Reference Date;

Determination Time means the time specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if no such time
is specified, (a) save with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, the Scheduled Closing Time on the
relevant Exchange in relation to each Index, Underlying Share or ETF Interest to be valued. If the
relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Determination Time is
after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Determination Time shall be such
actual closing time; and (b) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, (i) for the purposes of
determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred: (x) in respect of any Component, the
Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange in respect of such Component and (y) in respect of any option
contracts or futures contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the Related Exchange; and (ii) in all
other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published
by the Index Sponsor;

Disrupted Day means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day
on which a relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular
trading session or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred, and (b) with respect to any
Multi-exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the
level of the Index; (ii) the Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session
or (iii) a Market Disruption Event has occurred,;

Early Closure means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, the closure on any Exchange
Business Day of the relevant Exchange (or in the case of a Single Index Note or Index Basket Note, any
relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant
Index) or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time
is announced by such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the
actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such
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Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or
Related Exchange system for execution at the Determination Time on such Exchange Business Day and
(b) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the
Exchange in respect of any Component or the Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time
unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be)
at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such
Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) on such Exchange Business Day; and (ii) the
submission deadline for orders to be entered into such Exchange or Related Exchange system for
execution at the relevant Determination Time on such Exchange Business Day;

Eligible ETF Interest means, in respect of any Affected ETF Interest, the interest specified as such in
the applicable Final Terms;

ETF means (in respect of an ETF Interest) any exchange traded fund specified in the applicable Final
Terms as an ETF,;

ETF Documents means with respect to any ETF Interest, the offering document of the relevant ETF,
the constitutive and governing documents, subscription agreements and any other agreement or
document specifying the terms and conditions of such ETF Interest and any additional documents
specified in the applicable Final Terms, each as amended from time to time;

ETF Interest means the share or other interest or unit of holding (including, without limitation, any
debt security) issued to or held by an investor in an ETF, as identified in the applicable Final Terms;

ETF Service Provider means, in respect of any ETF, any person who is appointed to provide services,
directly or indirectly, in respect of such ETF, whether or not specified in the ETF Documents, including
any advisor, manager, administrator, operator, management company, depository, custodian, sub-
custodian, prime broker, administrator, trustee, registrar, transfer agent, domiciliary agent, sponsor or
general partner or any other person specified in the applicable Final Terms;

Exchange means:

@) (i) in respect of an Index relating to Single Index Notes or Index Basket Notes other than a
Multi-exchange Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Index in
the applicable Final Terms or, if none is specified, the principal exchange or quotation system
for trading in such Index, as determined by the Determination Agent, any successor to such
exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading
in the shares underlying such Index has temporarily relocated, provided that the Determination
Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the shares underlying such
Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange,
and (ii) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, and in respect of each Component, the
principal stock exchange on which such Component is principally traded, as determined by the
Determination Agent;

(b) in respect of an Underlying Share relating to Single Share Notes or Share Basket Notes, each
exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Underlying Share in the applicable
Final Terms or, if none is specified, the principal exchange or quotation system for trading in
such Underlying Share, as determined by the Determination Agent, any successor to such
Exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading
in the Underlying Share has temporarily relocated, provided that the Determination Agent has
determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such Underlying Share on such
temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange; and

(c) in respect of an ETF Interest relating to Single ETF Notes or ETF Basket Notes, each exchange
or quotation system specified as such for such ETF Interest in the applicable Final Terms or, if
none is specified, the principal exchange or quotation system for trading in such ETF Interest,
as determined by the Determination Agent, any successor to such Exchange or quotation system
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or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the ETF Interest has
temporarily relocated, provided that the Determination Agent has determined that there is
comparable liquidity relative to such ETF Interest on such temporary substitute exchange or
quotation system as on the original Exchange.

Exchange Business Day means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, any Scheduled
Trading Day on which each Exchange and Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective
regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its
Scheduled Closing Time and (b) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day
on which (i) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is open
for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding any Exchange or the Related Exchange
closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time;

Exchange Disruption means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, any event (other than
an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Determination Agent) the ability of
market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, the Underlying
Shares or ETF Interests on the Exchange (or in the case of Single Index Notes or Index Basket Notes,
on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the
relevant Index), or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts
relating to the Underlying Shares, the relevant Index or the ETF Interests (as the case may be) on any
relevant Related Exchange and (b) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, any event (other than an
Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Determination Agent) the ability of market
participants in general to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, (i) any Component on the
Exchange in respect of such Component, or (ii) futures or options contracts relating to the Index on the
Related Exchange;

Extraordinary Dividend means the dividend per Underlying Share or ETF Interest, or portion thereof,
characterised as an Extraordinary Dividend as determined by the Determination Agent;

Extraordinary ETF Event has the meaning given in Condition 9.5(e);
Extraordinary Event means a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting;

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer is unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to
(A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or
asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its obligations under the
Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transactions or asset(s);

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer would incur a materially increased (as compared with
circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage
commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any
transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its
obligations with respect to the Notes or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such
transaction(s) or asset(s) provided that any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely
due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of
Hedging;

Index means any index specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, subject to Condition 9.2
(Adjustments to Indices), it being specified that no index is composed by the Issuer or by any legal
entity belonging to the same group;

Index Adjustment Event means, in respect of an Index, an Administrator/Benchmark Event, an Index
Cancellation, an Index Disruption or an Index Modification;

Index Sponsor means, in respect of an Index, the corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible for
setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and methods of calculation and adjustments, if any,
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related to the relevant Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the relevant
Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day;

Loss of Stock Borrow means that the Issuer is unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to
borrow (or maintain a borrowing of) the Underlying Shares or the ETF Interests with respect to the
Notes in an amount which the Issuer deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing
its obligations with respect to the Notes (not to exceed the number of shares underlying the Notes) at a
rate determined by the Issuer;

Market Disruption Event means (a) in respect of an Underlying Share, an Index other than a
Multi-exchange Index or an ETF Interest, the occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption, (ii)
an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Determination Agent determines is material, at any
time during the one-hour period that ends at the relevant Determination Time, or (iii) an Early Closure.
For the purpose of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in respect of an Index at any
time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a security included in the Index at any time, then
the relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of the Index shall be based on a
comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall
level of the Index, in each case immediately before the Market Disruption Event occurred; and (b) with
respect to any Multi-exchange Index either (i)(A) the occurrence or existence, in respect of any
Component, of (1) a Trading Disruption, (2) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the
Determination Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that ends at the
relevant Determination Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component is principally traded,
OR (3) an Early Closure; AND (B) the aggregate of all Components in respect of which a Trading
Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists comprises 20 per cent. or more
of the level of the Index; OR (ii) the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts
relating to the Index, of: (A) a Trading Disruption, (B) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case
the Determination Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that ends at the
relevant Determination Time in respect of the Related Exchange; or (C) an Early Closure;

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in respect of a Component
at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of such Component at that time, then the
relevant percentage contribution of that Component to the level of the Index shall be based on a
comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that Component to (y) the overall
level of the Index, in each case using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor
as part of the market opening data;

Multi-exchange Index means any Index specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

Observation Date means, in relation to any determination, the date or dates, if any, specified as such
in the applicable Final Terms, provided that (i) if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day and/or
(ii) if any Observation Date is a Disrupted Day, the relevant Observation Date shall be determined in
accordance with the provisions of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and
Averaging Dates), which shall apply mutatis mutandis as if such Observation Date were a Reference
Date;

Potential Adjustment Event means, in respect of Single Share Notes, Single ETF Note, Share Basket
Notes or ETF Basket Notes:

(a) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of an Underlying Share or ETF Interest (unless
resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of Underlying Shares or ETF
Interests to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue;

(b) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of relevant Underlying Shares or ETF
Interests of (A) such Underlying Shares or ETF Interests, or (B) other share capital or securities
granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Underlying
Issuer or ETF equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such an Underlying
Shares or ETF Interests, or (C) share capital or other securities of another issuer acquired or
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owned (directly or indirectly) by the Underlying Issuer or ETF as a result of a spin-off or other
similar transaction, or (D) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any
case for payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as
determined by the Determination Agent;

(c) an Extraordinary Dividend,;
(d) a call by the Underlying Issuer in respect of relevant Underlying Shares that are not fully paid;

(e) a repurchase by an Underlying Issuer or ETF (as the case may be) or any of its subsidiaries of
Underlying Shares or ETF Interests, whether out of profits or capital and whether the
consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise;

0) in respect of an Underlying Issuer, an event that results in any shareholder rights being
distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital
stock of the Underlying Issuer pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or arrangement directed
against hostile takeovers that provides, upon the occurrence of certain events, for a distribution
of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value,
as determined by the Determination Agent, provided that any adjustment effected as a result
of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such rights; or

(9) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the
relevant Underlying Shares or ETF Interests.

Reference Cut-Off Date means, in the case where Notes relate to an Index, Share or ETF Interest or a
Basket of Indices, Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests and in respect of a Scheduled Reference
Date for the purposes of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging
Dates):

@ if "Common Scheduled Trading Days and Common Disrupted Days" in respect of a Basket of
Indices, Basket of Shares or Basket of ETF Interests is specified to be applicable in the Final
Terms, the eighth Common Scheduled Trading Day following such Scheduled Reference Date;
or

(b) in any other case, the eighth Scheduled Trading Day following such Scheduled Reference Date;

Reference Date means, for the purposes of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption, Reference
Dates and Averaging Dates), each Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, or otherwise,
any date construed to be a Reference Date in accordance with the Conditions;

Related Exchange, in respect of an Index relating to Single Index Notes or Index Basket Notes, an
Underlying Share relating to Single Share Notes or Share Basket Notes or an ETF Interest relating to
Single ETF Notes or ETF Basket Notes, means the Exchange specified as the Relevant Exchange in the
applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange
or quotation system to which trading in futures and options contracts relating to such Index, Underlying
Shares or ETF Interest has temporarily relocated (provided that the Determination Agent has
determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such
Index, Underlying Shares or ETF Interests on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system
as on the original Related Exchange) or, if none is specified, each exchange or quotation system where
trading has a material effect (as determined by the Determination Agent) on the overall market for
futures or options contracts relating to such Index, Underlying Shares or ETF Interests, as the case may
be;

Relevant Equity Index Benchmark means the Index;

Relevant Underlying Value has the meaning given to it in such provisions of the Additional Terms
and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms;
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Scheduled Averaging Date means an original date (following any adjustment (if applicable) pursuant
to paragraph (a) or (b) in the definition of "Averaging Date") that, but for such day being a Disrupted
Day, would have been an Averaging Date;

Scheduled Closing Time means in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a Scheduled
Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related Exchange on such
Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after-hours or any other trading outside of regular trading
session hours;

Scheduled Reference Date means, for the purposes of Condition 9.1 (Valuation, Market Disruption,
Reference Dates and Averaging Dates), any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing
a Disrupted Day, would have been a Reference Date;

Scheduled Trading Day means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, any day on which
each Exchange and each Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective
regular trading session, and (b) with respect to any Multi-exchange Index, any day on which (i) the
Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is scheduled
to be open for trading for its regular trading session;

Settlement Cycle means, in respect of an Underlying Share, Index or ETF Interest, the period of
Settlement Cycle Days following a trade in such Underlying Share, the securities underlying such Index
or ETF Interest, as the case may be, on the Exchange in which settlement will customarily occur
according to the rules of such exchange (or, in respect of any Multi- exchange Index, the longest such
period) and for this purpose Settlement Cycle Day means, in relation to a clearing system any day on
which such clearing system is (or but for the occurrence of a Settlement Disruption Event would have
been) open for acceptance and executions of settlement instructions;

Trading Disruption means (a) except with respect to a Multi-exchange Index, any suspension of or
limitation imposed on trading by the Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason
of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the Exchange, Related Exchange or otherwise (i)
relating to the Underlying Share or ETF Interest on the Exchange, or, in the case of a Single Index Note
or Index Basket Note, on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or
more of the level of the relevant Index or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Underlying
Share, the relevant Index or Indices or the ETF Interest on any relevant Related Exchange, and (b) with
respect to any Multi-exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the
Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding
limits permitted by the Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to any Component on
the Exchange in respect of such Component; or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index
on the Related Exchange;

Underlying Issuer means the entity that is the issuer of the Underlying Share specified in the applicable
Final Terms;

Underlying Share means, in relation to a particular Series of Notes, a share specified as such in the
applicable Final Terms (with the exception of a share of the Issuer or any entity belonging to its group),
or, in the case of a Share Basket Note, a share forming part of a basket of shares to which such Note
relates;

Valid Date means a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another
Averaging Date in respect of the Reference Date does not, or is not deemed to, occur; and

Valuation Date means each date specified as such or specified as an Observation Date, Interest
Determination Date, Determination Date or Strike Date in the applicable Final Terms, provided
that if any such date is (i) not a Scheduled Trading Day and/or (ii) a Disrupted Day, the relevant
Valuation Date shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition 9.1 (Valuation,
Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates).
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10.

10.1

10.2

PROVISIONS RELATING TO CURRENCY-LINKED NOTES

This Condition 10 (Provisions relating to Currency-Linked Notes) is applicable only in relation to Notes
specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Currency-Linked Notes.

Valuation Date, Interest Determination Date, Observation Date, Determination Date

In these Conditions:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

Valuation Date means, in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked Notes, the date(s) specified
as such in the applicable Final Terms, and each Observation Date, Determination Date or
Interest Determination Date, if applicable provided that where any such date is not a Currency
Business Day then the Valuation Date shall be the first preceding day that is a Currency
Business Day;

Interest Determination Date means, in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked Notes, the
date(s) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or, if no such date is specified, subject
to Condition 10.2 (Averaging), the Interest Determination Date will be the date falling two
Currency Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date provided that where any such date
is not a Currency Business Day then the Interest Determination Date shall be the first preceding
day that is a Currency Business Day;

Observation Date means, in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked Notes, the date(s)
specified as such, provided that where any such date is not a Currency Business Day then the
Observation Date shall be the first preceding day that is a Currency Business Day;

Determination Date means, in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked Notes, the date(s)
specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or, if no such date is specified, subject to
Condition 10.2 (Averaging), the Determination Date will be the date falling two Currency
Business Days prior to the Maturity Date provided that where any such date is not a Currency
Business Day then the Determination Date shall be the first preceding day that is a Currency
Business Day;

Relevant Date means each Valuation Date, Interest Determination Date and Observation Date;
and

Relevant Underlying Value has the meaning given to it in such applicable provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms.

Averaging

If Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms with respect to a Relevant Date, then
notwithstanding any other provisions of the Conditions, the following provisions will apply to the
determination of the Relevant Underlying Value in relation to a Relevant Date:

(@)

(b)

Averaging Date means, in respect of a Relevant Date, each date specified as such or otherwise
determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms, provided that if any such date is not a
Currency Business Day, such date shall be the first preceding day that is a Currency Business
Day.

For purposes of determining the Relevant Underlying Value in relation to a Relevant Date, the

Relevant Underlying Value will be determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of
the Additional Terms and Conditions as are specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
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(©)

Terms on each Averaging Date (or, if different, the day on which rates for each Averaging Date
would, in the ordinary course, be published or announced by the relevant price source).

In the case where the Determination Agent determines that it is impossible to obtain the
Relevant Underlying Value on an Averaging Date (or, if different, the day on which rates for
that Averaging Date would, in the ordinary course, be published or announced by the relevant
price source), such Averaging Date will be deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date for
purposes of determining the Relevant Underlying Value. If through the operation of this
Condition 10.2, there would not be an Averaging Date with respect to the Relevant Date, the
provisions of Conditions 10.3 (Currency Disruption Events) and 10.4 (Currency Disruption
Fallbacks) shall apply for purposes of determining the Relevant Underlying Value on the final
Averaging Date with respect to that Relevant Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation
Date on which a Price Source Disruption had occurred.

10.3  Currency Disruption Events

()

(b)

(©)

If so specified in the Final Terms relating to any Series of Notes, the following shall constitute
Currency Disruption Events for the purposes of such Series:

(1) Price Source Disruption, which means it becomes impossible, as determined by the
Determination Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner, to determine the
Settlement Rate on the Valuation Date (or, if different, the day on which rates for that
Valuation Date would, in the ordinary course, be published or announced by the
applicable price source in accordance with the relevant price source);

(i) Additional Price Source Disruption, which means, in relation to the determination of
the Relevant Underlying Value on any Relevant Date, (A) the relevant exchange rate
is not displayed on the Reference Source or any successor page for such Relevant Date;
(B) such Relevant Date is any Unscheduled Holiday; or (C) the Determination Agent
determined in good faith that the exchange rate so displayed on the Reference Source
is manifestly incorrect; and

(iii)  Price Materiality Event, which means the Primary Rate differs from the Secondary
Rate by at least the Price Materiality Percentage.

If the applicable Final Terms specify that any Currency Disruption Event shall be applicable to
such Series, then, where the Determination Agent determines, acting in a commercially
reasonable manner, that such Currency Disruption Event occurs or has occurred and is
continuing in respect of such Series:

(M in the case of Price Source Disruption, on the day that is the Relevant Date in respect
of such Series (or, if different, the day on which rates for that Relevant Date would, in
the ordinary course, be published or announced by the relevant price source); and

(i) in the case of any other Currency Disruption Event, on such other Relevant Date in
respect of which such Currency Disruption Event is specified as applying in the
applicable Final Terms,

then the Relevant Underlying Value for such Series will be determined in accordance with the
terms of the Currency Disruption Fallback first applicable pursuant to Condition 10.4
(Currency Disruption Fallbacks), which shall be subject to Condition 10.3(c) below.

If the Series of Notes is a single Currency-Linked Note, the provisions of Condition 10.3(a)
and (b) shall apply.
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(d)

If the Series of Notes is a Currency Basket-Linked Note, and the Determination Agent
determines that a Currency Disruption Event has occurred on any Valuation Date or Relevant
Date in respect of any Settlement Rate (which for the purposes of Conditions 10.3 and 10.4
shall mean the Settlement Rate in respect of each Currency Pair), then:

0] for each Settlement Rate for which the Determination Agent determines that a Currency
Disruption Event has not occurred, the Settlement Rate shall be determined in
accordance with the Conditions; and

(i) for each Settlement Rate for which the Determination Agent determines that a Currency
Disruption Event has occurred, the Determination Agent shall determine the Settlement
Rate in accordance with the applicable Currency Disruption Fallback in accordance
with Condition 10.4 and the applicable Final Terms.

10.4  Currency Disruption Fallbacks

(a)

(b)

10.5

(@)

If so specified in the Final Terms relating to any Series of Notes, the following shall constitute
"Currency Disruption Fallbacks" for the purposes of such Series, and the applicable Final
Terms shall specify which Currency Disruption Fallback(s) shall apply to such Series, to which
Currency Disruption Event each such Currency Disruption Fallback shall apply and, where
more than one Currency Disruption Fallback may apply to a Currency Disruption Event, the
order in which such Currency Disruption Fallback(s) shall apply to such Currency Disruption
Event.

(1 Determination Agent Determination of Settlement Rate means that the
Determination Agent will determine, in its reasonable discretion, the Settlement Rate
(or a method for determining the Settlement Rate), taking into consideration all
available information that it deems relevant including (but not limited to), in the case
of Currency Basket-Linked Notes, the relevant rate for each unaffected Currency Pair
which was determined on the relevant Valuation Date; and

(i) Fallback Reference Price means that the Determination Agent will determine, in its
reasonable discretion, the Settlement Rate for such Series on the relevant Valuation
Date (or, if different, the day on which rates for that VValuation Date would, in the
ordinary course, be published or announced) pursuant to the Settlement Rate Option
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Where more than one Currency Disruption Event occurs or exists or is deemed to occur or exist,
then, unless the relevant Final Terms has specified which Currency Disruption Fallback shall
apply in such circumstances, the Determination Agent shall determine, in its reasonable
discretion, which Currency Disruption Fallback shall apply.

Administrator/Benchmark Events
If an Administrator/ Benchmark Event and an Administrator/Benchmark Event Date occurs:

Q) the Currency Disruption Fallbacks specified in the applicable Final Terms to apply with
respect to Administrator/Benchmark Event will apply, or if none are specified, the
Currency Disruption Fallbacks specified in the applicable Final Terms to apply with
respect to a Price Source Disruption shall be deemed to apply in accordance with
Condition 11.4 provided that if the Relevant FX Benchmark is not the Settlement Rate
then references to the "Settlement Rate" in the applicable Currency Disruption
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(b)

10.6

(@)

(b)

Fallbacks and related definitions and provisions of these Conditions shall be deemed
to be references to the Relevant FX Benchmark;

(i) if it (i) is or would be unlawful at any time under any applicable law or regulation or
(ii) would contravene any applicable licensing requirements, for the Issuer or the
Determination Agent to perform the actions prescribed in an applicable Currency
Disruption Fallback (or it would be unlawful or would contravene those licensing
requirements were a determination to be made at such time), the next applicable
Currency Disruption Fallback will apply; and

(iii) if the Issuer determines that the last applicable Currency Disruption Fallback does not
provide a Settlement Rate (including due to the applicability of paragraph (ii) above in
relation to the last applicable Currency Disruption Fallback), then the Issuer shall give
not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes and the Issuer's obligations
under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of each Note of an
amount equal to either:

(A) if "Early Redemption Amount (Administrator/Benchmark Event) - Fair Market
Value Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such
Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date
fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion attributable to that Note
of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate of, or the loss realised
by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion; or

(B) if "Early Redemption Amount (Administrator/Benchmark Event) - Fair Market
Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on
such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion
(provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for
redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

The Determination Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify
the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent of the occurrence of an Administrator/ Benchmark Event Date
and of any action taken as a consequence. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice to the
Noteholders of any Administrator / Benchmark Event Date and of any action taken as a
consequence in accordance with Condition 24.8 (Notices), provided that any failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of the foregoing.

Additional Disruption Events

Following the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will, in its reasonable
discretion, determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue or be redeemed early.

If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent may
make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion, considers
appropriate, if any, to any variable relevant to the redemption, settlement, or payment terms of
the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective
on such date as the Determination Agent shall determine. The Fiscal Agent shall provide notice
to the Noteholders of any such adjustment, giving summary details of the adjustment in
accordance with Condition 24.8 (Notices), provided that any failure to give such notice shall
not affect the validity of any such adjustment.
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10.7

10.8

(c) If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer shall
give not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes and the Issuer's obligations
under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of each Note of an amount
equal to either:

(M if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair Market Value
Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on such
day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided
that such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note),
less the proportion attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or
any Affiliate of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding
any related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

(i) if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair Market
Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on such day
as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion (provided that
such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), as
calculated by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion.

(d) The Issuer shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the Fiscal
Agent and the Determination Agent of the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event.

(e) For the purposes hereof:
Additional Disruption Event means, with respect to any Series of Currency-Linked Notes,
Change in Law, Hedging Disruption, and / or Increased Cost of Hedging as are applicable as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Change to a Relevant FX Benchmark

If the definition, methodology or formula for a Relevant FX Benchmark, or other means of calculating
the Relevant FX Benchmark, is changed (irrespective of the materiality of any such change or changes),
then, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, references to that Relevant FX
Benchmark shall be to the Relevant FX Benchmark as changed.

Definitions applicable to Currency-Linked Notes
In relation to Currency-Linked Notes, the following expressions have the meanings set out below:

Change in Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any
applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation
of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent
jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the
Issuer determines that (x) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of Hedge Positions or (y) it
will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations with respect to the Notes (including,
without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on
its tax position);

Currency Business Day means, for the purposes of:

Q) the definition of Valuation Date in Condition 10.1 (Valuation Date, Interest Determination
Date, Observation Date, Determination Date), in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked
Notes: (1) a day on which commercial banks are (or but for the occurrence of a Currency
Disruption Event, would have been) open for business (including dealings in foreign exchange
in accordance with the market practice of the foreign exchange market) in the Principal
Financial Centre(s) of the Reference Currency or (2) where the currency to be valued is euro, a
day that is a TARGET Settlement Day and a Business Day; and
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(i) for any other purpose, in respect of any Series of Currency-Linked Notes: (1) a day on which
commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange in
accordance with the market practice of the foreign exchange market) in the Principal Financial
Centre(s) of the Reference Currency and (2) where one of the Currency Pair is euro, a day that
isa TARGET Settlement Day;

Currency Pair means the Reference Currency and the Settlement Currency;

Currency-Reference Dealers is a Settlement Rate Option which means that the Spot Rate for a Rate
Calculation Date will be determined on the basis of quotations provided by Reference Dealers on that
Rate Calculation Date of that day's Specified Rate, expressed as the amount of Reference Currency per
one unit of Settlement Currency for settlement on the Maturity Date (or other relevant date for payment
under the Notes). The Determination Agent will request each of the Reference Dealers to provide a
firm quotation of its Specified Rate for a transaction where the amount of Reference Currency equals
the Specified Amount. If four quotations are provided, the rate for a Rate Calculation Date will be the
arithmetic mean of the Specified Rates, without regard to the Specified Rates having the highest and
lowest value. If exactly three quotations are provided, the rate for a Rate Calculation Date will be the
Specified Rate provided by the Reference Dealer that remains after disregarding the Specified Rates
having the highest and lowest values. For this purpose, if more than one quotation has the same highest
value or lowest value, then the Specified Rate of one of such quotations shall be disregarded. If exactly
two quotations are provided, the rate for a Rate Calculation Date will be the arithmetic mean of the
Specified Rates. If only one quotation is provided, the rate for a Rate Calculation Date will be the
Specified Rate quoted by that Reference Dealer. The quotations used to determine the Spot Rate for a
Rate Calculation Date will be determined in each case at the Specified Time on that Rate Calculation
Date;

Hedge Positions means any purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or
contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or
(iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) by a party in order to hedge, individually
or on a portfolio basis, the Notes;

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer is unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to
(A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or
asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its obligations under the
Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transactions or asset(s);

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer would incur a materially increased (as compared with
circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage
commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any
transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its
obligations with respect to the Notes or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such
transaction(s) or asset(s) provided that any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely
due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of
Hedging;

Price Materiality Percentage means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Primary Rate means the rate determined using the Settlement Rate Option specified for such purpose
in the applicable Final Terms;

Rate Calculation Date means any Valuation Date or Averaging Date (as defined in Conditions 10.1
(Valuation Date, Interest Determination Date, Observation Date, Determination Date) and 10.2
(Averaging), respectively);

Reference Currency means the currency or currencies specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Reference Currency Jurisdiction means the jurisdiction specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms;

Reference Dealers means the reference dealers specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;
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Reference Source means the source (such as a Reuters screen page or Bloomberg page) specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms;

Relevant FX Benchmark means, in respect of any Notes:
() the Settlement Rate;

(i) the Settlement Rate Option;
(iii)  the Primary Rate and the Secondary Rate; and

(iv) any other index, benchmark, rate or price source which is referenced in the Notes and which is
a measure constituting an index (or combination of indices) under any law or regulation
applicable to the Notes and identified as a "Relevant FX Benchmark" in the applicable Final
Terms.

To the extent that a Fallback Reference Price is used, it shall be a "Relevant FX Benchmark" from the
day on which it is used.

Secondary Rate means the rate determined using the Settlement Rate Option specified for such purpose
in the applicable Final Terms;

Settlement Currency means the currency specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Settlement Rate means the rate as determined by the Determination Agent, in its reasonable absolute
discretion, in accordance with the applicable Final Terms and, where applicable shall be determined in
accordance with Condition 11.2 (Averaging);

Settlement Rate Option means, for the purposes of calculating the Settlement Rate, the Settlement
Rate Option specified in the applicable Final Terms (or which is applicable pursuant to Condition 10.4
(Currency Disruption Fallbacks));

Specified Amount means the amount of Reference Currency specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms;

Specified Rate means any of the following rates, as specified in the relevant Final Terms: (i) the
Reference Currency bid exchange rate, (ii) the Reference Currency offer exchange rate, (iii) the average
of the Reference Currency bid and offer exchange rates, (iv) the Settlement Currency bid exchange rate,
(v) the Settlement Currency offer exchange rate, (vi) the average of the Settlement Currency bid and
offer exchange rates, (vii) the official fixing rate or (viii) any other exchange rate specified in the
relevant Final Terms. If no such rate is specified, the Specified Rate will be deemed to be the average
of the Reference Currency bid and offer rate;

Specified Time means, in respect of any series of Notes and the determination of the Spot Rate, the
time specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if no such time is specified, the time chosen by
the Determination Agent;

Spot Rate means for any Valuation Date, the relevant currency exchange rate determined in accordance
with the applicable Settlement Rate Option and, if a Settlement Rate Option is not applicable, the
currency exchange rate at the time at which such rate is to be determined for foreign exchange
transactions in the Currency Pair for value on the Maturity Date (or other relevant date for payment
under the Notes), as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the
Determination Agent; and

Unscheduled Holiday means that a day is not a Currency Business Day and that the market was not
aware of such fact (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available
information) until a time later than 9:00 a.m. local time in the Principal Financial Centre(s) of the
Reference Currency two Currency Business Days prior to such day.

11. PROVISIONS RELATING TO INFLATION-LINKED NOTES

- 147 -



This Condition 11 (Provisions Relating to Inflation-Linked Notes) is applicable only in relation to Notes
specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Inflation Linked Notes. The definitions set out in
Condition 9.7 (Definitions applicable to Equity-Linked Notes) will also apply in relation to a Series of
Inflation Linked Notes unless the context otherwise requires, or such term is defined otherwise herein,
and for the purposes of this clause, the definition of Index under Condition 9.7 shall be deemed to
include an Inflation Index.

11.1  Delay of Publication

If any level of an Inflation Index for a Reference Month which is relevant to the calculation of a payment
under the Notes (a Relevant Level) has not been published or announced by the day that is five Business
Days prior to the next Specified Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Maturity
Date or other relevant payment date under the Notes or other relevant payment date as may be specified
in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the Notes, the Determination Agent shall determine a
Substitute Inflation Index Level (in place of such Relevant Level) in a commercially reasonable manner
in its reasonable discretion. If a Relevant Level is published or announced at any time after the day that
is five Business Days prior to the next Specified Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption
Date, Maturity Date or other relevant payment date as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms
in relation to the Notes, such Relevant Level will not be used in any calculations. The Substitute
Inflation Index Level so determined pursuant to this Condition 11.1 (Delay of Publication), will be the
definitive level for that Reference Month.

11.2  Cessation of Publication

If a level for the Inflation Index has not been published or announced for two consecutive months or
the Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the
Inflation Index then the Determination Agent shall determine a Successor Index (in lieu of any
previously applicable Inflation Index) for the purposes of the Notes by using the following
methodology:

11.2.1 If at any time a Successor Inflation Index has been designated by the Determination Agent
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, such Successor Inflation Index
shall be designated a "Successor Inflation Index" for the purposes of all subsequent
Specified Interest Payment Dates or other relevant payment date as may be specified in the
applicable Final Terms in relation to the Notes, notwithstanding that any other Successor
Inflation Index may previously have been determined under Conditions 11.2.2, 11.2.3 or
11.2.4 below; or

11.2.2 If a Successor Inflation Index has not been determined under Condition 11.2.1 above and
a notice has been given or an announcement has been made by the Inflation Index Sponsor,
specifying that the Inflation Index will be superseded by a replacement index specified by
the Inflation Index Sponsor, and the Determination Agent determines that such
replacement index is calculated using the same or substantially similar formula or method
of calculation as used in the calculation of the previously applicable Inflation Index, such
replacement index shall be the Inflation Index for purposes of the Notes from the date that
such replacement index comes into effect; or

11.2.3 If a Successor Inflation Index has not been determined under Condition 11.2.1 or Condition
11.2.2 above, the Determination Agent shall ask five leading independent dealers to state
what the replacement Index for the Inflation Index should be. If between four and five
responses are received, and of those four or five responses, three or more leading
independent dealers state the same Inflation Index, this Index will be deemed the
"Successor Inflation Index". If three responses are received, and two or more leading
independent dealers state the same Inflation Index, this Inflation Index will be deemed the
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114

115

"Successor Inflation Index™. If fewer than three responses are received, the Determination
Agent will proceed to Condition 11.2.4 below; or

11.24 If no Successor Inflation Index has been deemed under Conditions 11.2.1,11.2.2 or 11.2.3
above by the fifth Business Day prior to the next Affected Payment Date the Determination
Agent will determine an appropriate alternative index for such Affected Payment Date,
and such index will be deemed a "Successor Inflation Index"; or

11.2.5 If the Determination Agent determines that there is no appropriate alternative index, the
Issuer shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes and the
Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of
each Note of an amount equal to either:

() if "Early Redemption Amount (Inflation Index Cessation) - Fair Market Value
Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note,
on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date
fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion attributable to that Note
of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate of, or the loss realised
by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any related hedging
arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion; or

(i) if "Early Redemption Amount (Inflation Index Cessation) - Fair Market VValue™
is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such Note, on such day
as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable discretion
(provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date fixed for
redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

Rebasing of the Inflation Index

If the Determination Agent determines that an Inflation Index has been or will be rebased at any time,
the Inflation Index as so rebased (the Rebased Index) will be used for purposes of determining the
level of such Index from the date of such rebasing; provided, however, that the Calculation Agent shall
make such adjustments as are made by the Determination Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Related Bond, if any, to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect
the same rate of inflation as the Inflation Index before it was rebased. If there is no Related Bond, the
Determination Agent shall make adjustments to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased
Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Inflation Index before it was rebased. Any such
rebasing shall not affect any prior payments made under the Notes.

Material Modification Prior to Payment Date

If, on or prior to the day that is five Business Days before an Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early
Redemption Date, Maturity Date or other relevant payment date in relation to the Notes, an Inflation
Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change to an Inflation Index then the
Determination Agent shall make any such adjustments to the Inflation Index consistent with
adjustments made to the Related Bond, or, if there is no Related Bond, only those adjustments necessary
for the modified Inflation Index to continue as the Inflation Index.

Manifest Error in Publication

If, within thirty days of publication and prior to the redemption of the Notes or payments in respect of
any relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Maturity Date or other relevant
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11.7

payment date in relation to the Notes, the Determination Agent determines that the Inflation Index
Sponsor has corrected the level of the Inflation Index to remedy a manifest error in its original
publication, the Determination Agent will notify the holders of the Notes in accordance with Condition
24 (Notices) of (i) that correction, (ii) the adjusted amount that is then payable under the Notes as a
result of that correction and (iii) take such other action as it may deem necessary to give effect to such
correction, provided that any amount payable pursuant to sub-paragraph (ii) above shall be paid (with
no interest accruing thereon) (a) in connection with an Inflation Index Sponsor's correction to remedy
a manifest error in the level of an Inflation Index for a Reference Month for which the Interest Payment
Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Maturity Date or other relevant payment date in relation to
the Notes has occurred, within 15 Business Days after notice of such amount payable by the
Determination Agent, (b) in connection with an Inflation Index Sponsor's correction to remedy a
manifest error in the level of an Inflation Index for a Reference Month for which the Interest Payment
Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Maturity Date or other relevant payment date in relation to
the Notes has not occurred, as an adjustment to the payment obligation on the next Specified Interest
Payment Date or (c) if there is no further Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date,
Maturity Date or other relevant payment date in relation to the Notes, within 15 Business Days after
notice of such amount payable by the Determination Agent.

Index Level Adjustment Correction

In relation to any Inflation Index, as specified in the Final Terms, either (i) the first publication or
announcement of the level of the Inflation Index (disregarding estimates) by the relevant Inflation Index
Sponsor for any Reference Month shall be final and conclusive and, subject to this Condition 11, later
revisions to the level of the Inflation Index for such Reference Month will not be used in any
calculations; or (ii) the first publication or announcement of a level of the Inflation Index (disregarding
estimates) published by the relevant Index Sponsor or, if revised, any subsequent revision of such level
for a Reference Month shall be final and conclusive for such Reference Month, provided that such
revisions are published or announced up to and including the day that is two Business Days prior to any
relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or any other payment in respect of the Notes. The Issuer
shall give notice to Noteholders of Inflation Linked Notes of any valid revision in accordance with
Condition 24 (Notices) within 15 Business Days of the publication or announcement of such revision.

Additional Disruption Events:

@ Following the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will, in its
reasonable discretion, determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue or be
redeemed early.

(b) If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Determination Agent
may make such adjustment as the Determination Agent, in its reasonable discretion,
considers appropriate, if any, to any variable relevant to the redemption or payment
terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment
shall be effective on such date as the Determination Agent shall determine. The Fiscal
Agent shall provide notice to the Noteholders of any such adjustment in accordance
with Condition 24 (Notices), giving summary details of the adjustment, provided that
any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of any such adjustment.

(c) If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed early, then the Issuer
shall give not less than five Business Days' notice to redeem the Notes and the Issuer's
obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of each
Note of an amount equal to
(1) if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair

Market Value Less Costs" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market
value of such Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in
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its reasonable discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days
before the date fixed for redemption of the Note), less the proportion
attributable to that Note of the reasonable cost to the Issuer and/or any Affiliate
of, or the loss realised by the Issuer and/or any Affiliate on, unwinding any
related hedging arrangements, all as calculated by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion; or

(i) if "Early Redemption Amount (Additional Disruption Event) — Fair
Market Value" is specified in the Final Terms, the fair market value of such
Note, on such day as is selected by the Determination Agent in its reasonable
discretion (provided that such day is not more than 15 days before the date
fixed for redemption of the Note), as calculated by the Determination Agent in
its reasonable discretion.

(d) The Issuer shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the
Determination Agent of the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event.

Definitions Applicable to Inflation-Linked Notes

In relation to Inflation Linked Notes, the following expressions have the meanings set out below:
Additional Disruption Event means, with respect to any Series of Inflation-Linked Notes, such
Change in Law, Hedging Disruption or Increased Cost of Hedging as specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms.

Affected Payment Date means each Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date,
Maturity Date or other relevant payment date as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms in
relation to the Notes in respect of which an Inflation Index has not been published or announced;

Change in Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any
applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation
of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent
jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the
Issuer determines that (x) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of Hedge Positions or (y) it
will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations with respect to the Notes (including,
without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on
its tax position);

Fallback Bond means an inflation linked bond selected by the Determination Agent and issued by the
government of a country to whose level of inflation the Inflation Index relates and which pays a coupon
or redemption amount which is calculated by reference to the Inflation Index, with a maturity date which
falls on (a) the same date as the Maturity Date, or (b) if no such bond as described in (a) can be
determined, the next longest maturity after the Maturity Date, or (c) if no such bond as described in
either (a) or (b) can be determined, the next shortest maturity before the Maturity Date. If the Inflation
Index relates to the level of inflation across the European Monetary Union, the Determination Agent
will select an inflation-linked bond that is a debt obligation of one of the governments (but not any
government agency) of France, Italy, Germany or Spain and which pays a coupon or redemption amount
which is calculated by reference to the level of inflation in the European Monetary Union. In each case,
the Determination Agent will select the Fallback Bond from those inflation-linked bonds issued on or
before the Settlement Date and, if there is more than one inflation-linked bond maturing on the same
date, the Fallback Bond shall be selected by the Determination Agent from those bonds. If the Fallback
Bond redeems the Determination Agent will select a new Fallback Bond on the same basis, but selected
from all eligible bonds in issue at the time the original Fallback Bond redeems (including any bond for
which the redeemed bond is exchanged);

Hedge Positions means any purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or
contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or
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(iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) by a party in order to hedge, individually
or on a portfolio basis, the Notes;

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer is unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to
(A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or
asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its obligations under the
Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transactions or asset(s);

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer would incur a materially increased (as compared with
circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage
commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any
transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the risk of entering into and performing its
obligations with respect to the Notes or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such
transaction(s) or asset(s) provided that any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due
to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of
Hedging;

Inflation Index means any index specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

Inflation Index Sponsor means, in respect of an Inflation Index, the entity specified as such in the
relevant Final Terms or, if no entity is specified, the entity that publishes or announces (directly or
through an agent) the level of the relevant Inflation Index;

Reference Month means the calendar month for which the level of the relevant Inflation Index was
reported, regardless of when this information is published or announced, and, where such Reference
Month is relevant to determine the Relevant Underlying Value (as defined in the Additional Terms and
Conditions) on any Interest Determination Date, Barrier Observation Date (as defined in the Additional
Terms and Conditions) or Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Determination Date (as
defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions), means the Reference Month specified in respect of
each such date. If the period for which the Inflation Index level was reported is a period other than a
month, the Reference Month will be the period for which the Inflation Index level was reported;

Related Bond means the bond specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no bond is so specified, the
Fallback Bond. If the Related Bond is "Fallback Bond", then for any Related Bond determination under
these Conditions, the Determination Agent shall use the Fallback Bond (as that is defined in this
Condition 11.7 (Additional Disruption Events) herein). If no bond is specified in the applicable Final
Terms as the Related Bond and "Fallback Bond: Not applicable" is specified in the applicable Final
Terms there will be no Related Bond. If a bond is selected as the Related Bond in the applicable Final
Terms, and that bond redeems or matures before the relevant Maturity Date, unless "Fallback Bond:
Not applicable" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Determination Agent shall use the
Fallback Bond for any Related Bond determination;

Substitute Inflation Index Level means an Inflation Index level, determined by the Determination
Agent pursuant to the provisions of Condition 11.1 (Delay of Publication), in respect of an Affected
Payment Date; and

Successor Inflation Index has the meaning specified in Condition 11.2 (Cessation of Publication).
PROVISIONS RELATING TO FUND-LINKED NOTES

This Condition 12 (Provisions relating to Fund-Linked Notes) shall apply only to Notes specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being Single Fund-Linked Notes or Fund Basket-Linked Notes.

121 Market Disruption, Reference Dates and Averaging Dates

-152 -



(a)

(b)

The Determination Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify
the Issuer of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence or
continuance of a Disrupted Day, would have been a Reference Date.

If any Reference Date is a Disrupted Day, then:

in the case of Single Fund Notes, the relevant Reference Date shall be the next succeeding
Fund Business Day that is not in the determination of the Determination Agent a
Disrupted Day, unless no Fund Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day has occurred
prior to the last Fund Business Day of one Cut-off Period following the Scheduled
Reference Date. In that case, the last Fund Business Day of such Cut-off Period shall